
   

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

DISTRICT OF HUDSON’S HOPE 
AGENDA 
Council Chambers 
Monday, January 25, 2021 
 

1. Call to Order: 

2. Delegations: 

     

3. Notice of New Business: 
Mayor’s List 
Councillors Additions: 
CAO’s Additions: 
 

4. Adoption of Agenda by Consensus: 
 

5. Declaration of Conflict of Interest: 

  

6. Adoption of Minutes: 
 M1 January 11, 2021 Regular Council Meeting Minutes Page 1 
    

7. Business Arising from the Minutes:  

     

8.  Public Hearing: 
 

   

9. Staff Reports   
 SR1 

SR2 

 
SR3 

SR4 

SR5 

SR6 

SR7 

SR8 

SR9 

 

 

2020 Peace River Agreement – Annual Progress Report 

2021 Peace River Agreement – Annual Development 
Report 
 
Official Community Plan – Background Report 
 
CRVIS Grant Application 
 
Administration Monthly Report – January 2021 
 
Corporate Monthly Report – January 2021 
 
Public Works Monthly Report – January 2021 
 
Protective Services – January 2021 
 
Special Projects Monthly Report – January 2021 

 Page 6 

Page 9 
 
 
Page 29 
 
Page 73 
 
Page 75 
 
Page 77 
 
Page 79 
 
Page 84 
 
Page 85 
 



District of Hudson’s Hope January 25, 2021 
Council Meeting Agenda  Page 2 
 

 

 

10. Committee Meeting Reports: 

11. Bylaws   

12. Correspondence:  

 C1 

C2 

C3 
 
 
C4 
 

C5 
 
C6 
 

C7 
 
 

City of North Vancouver – Anticoagulant Rodenticides 
 
City of Nelson – Vaccination Priority 

NOVA Gas – Notice of Application:  Old Alaska 
Highway No. 2 Receipt Meter Station 

Prince Rupert Gas Transmission Project – Notification 
Letter - Permit Extension Application 

Northern Health – Illicit Benzodiazapines 
 
North Central Local Government Management 
Association – NAV Aeronautical Studies 
 
Peace Energy – Solar Energy 

 Page 86 

Page 87 

Page 89 
 

Page 98 
 

Page 107 
 
Page 109 
 

Page 112 
 

13. Reports by Mayor & Council on Meetings and Liaison Responsibilities: 

     

14. Old Business: 
 

15. New Business:   

     

16. Public Inquiries:  

    

17. In-Camera Session  

 ICS1 Notice of Closed Session  Page 113 
 

18. Adjournment  



 .s 
SR   

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
January 11, 2021 

6:00 P.M. 
Council Chambers 

Present: Mayor Dave Heiberg 
Councillor Mattias Gibbs 
Councillor Pat Markin 
Councillor Kelly Miller 
Councillor Valerie Paice 
Councillor Travous Quibell 

Absent: Councillor Leigh Summer (with notice) 

Staff: Chief Administrative Officer, Mokles Rahman 
Corporate Officer, Jeanette McDougall 
Director, Protective Services, Brad Milton 

1. CALL TO ORDER
The meeting was called to order at 6:00 p.m. with Mayor Heiberg presiding.

2. DELEGATIONS

3. NOTICE OF NEW BUSINESS

Mayor’s Additions: CR1 North Peace Airport Society 
CR2 Peace River Regional District 

– Fibre Connectivity Working Group
CR3 Rural Roads Task Force 

Councillor’s Additions: 
CAO Additions: 

4. ADOPTION OF AGENDA BY CONSENSUS AS AMENDED

5. DECLARATION OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST

6. ADOPTION OF MINUTES

M1 DECEMBER 14, 2020 REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES

Corrections / Revisions 
1. Delegations - “ego” should be “eg.”
2. SR1 - 2021 Winter Carnival:  Councillor Summer voted in opposition
3. C3 – COVID-19 Resilience Infrastructure Stream – add after “response” “to Helen

Gilbert, Board Chair, School District #60”
4. CR1 – Rural Roads Task Force – add “Therefore the participating Task Force

members are exploring alternate methods to fund the Task Force consultant for
2021.

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 1 of 113

M1



District of Hudson's Hope Monday, January 11, 2021 
Council Meeting Minutes Page 2 of 5 

RESOLUTION NO. 001 /21 
M/S Councillors Paice / Quibell 
THAT the minutes of the December 14, 2020 Regular Council Meeting be adopted 
as amended. 
CARRIED 

7. BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES

8. PUBLIC HEARING

9. STAFF REPORTS

SR1 DIRECTOR OF PROTECTIVE SERVICES
The Mayor introduced Brad Milton, the new Director of Protective Services, and 
welcomed him to Hudson’s Hope. 

RESOLUTION NO. 002/21 
M/S Councillors Markin / Gibbs 
THAT Council appoint Brad Milton as an Officer of the District of Hudson’s Hope as 
per Bylaw No. 903, 2019; and 

THAT Council notify the Office of the Fire Commission that Brad Milton is appointed 
to exercise the powers of a Local Assistant to the Fire Commissioner with the 
District of Hudson’s Hope. 
CARRIED 

SR2 LETTER OF SUPPORT – HUDSON’S HOPE HEALTH CARE & 
HOUSING SOCIETY 

RESOLUTION NO. 003/21 
M/S Councillors Paice / Miller 
THAT Council approve issuing a letter of support to BC Housing in support of a 
Building BC Community Housing Fund grant application which is being prepared by 
Urban Matters on behalf of the Hudson’s Hope Health Care and Housing Society to 
develop a business case in support of a plan to build approximately 20 new units of 
affordable seniors housing in Hudson’s Hope. 
CARRIED 

SR3 HUDSON’S HOPE SIGN – PEACE VIEW PULLOUT, HIGHAY 29 

RESOLUTION NO. 004/2021 
M/S Councillors Quibell / Markin 
THAT Council refer to Staff to research costs associated with replacing the current 
Hudson’s Hope sign at the Peace View Pullout on Highway 29 for inclusion in the 
2021 Operations Budget discussions. 
CARRIED 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 2 of 113



District of Hudson's Hope Monday, January 11, 2021 
Council Meeting Minutes Page 3 of 5 

SR4 BUDGET WORKSHOP 2021 

RESOLUTION NO. 005/2021 
M/S Councillors Gibbs / Quibell 
THAT Council attend a half-day Budget Workshop on February 13, 2021 at the 
Hudson’s Hope Community Hall to review the draft Operating and Capital budget for 
2021. 
CARRIED 

SR5 BC HYDRO – LED STREET LIGHTS PROJECT 
The Chief Administrative Officer provided a verbal update, noting that 163 lights 
were to have been replaced, with 159 actually replaced and the remaining 4 (2 of 
which are located at Public Works Shop and 2 at Beryl Prairie Subdivision) require 
different equipment for installation due to their height.    

10. COMMITTEE MEETING REPORTS

11. BYLAWS

12. CORRESPONDENCE

C1 2021 WINTER CARNIVAL EXPENSES AND DONATION REQUESTS 
Received for Information. 

C2 NORTH CENTRAL LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION 
– 2021 VIRTUAL AGM & CONVENTION
Received for Information.

C3 NORTHERN HEALTH – COMMUNITY UPDATE BULLETIN 
Received for Information. 

13. REPORTS BY MAYOR & COUNCIL ON MEETINGS AND LIAISON RESPONSIBILITIES

CR1 NORTH PEACE AIRPORT SOCIETY 
The Mayor provided an update as follows:  2020 YTD aeronautical revenue loss is 
51%;  2020 YTD non-aeronautical revenue loss is 53%;  2021 Airport Services are 
predicting a 33% increase for 2021 and a three-year recovery is projected;  a new 
generator is needed and will cost approximately $700,000, with the possibility of 
50% funding through the Federal Government; and the Airport has a 30-year lease 
that ends in 2027.  

CR2 FIBRE CONNECTIVITY WORKING GROUP 
The Mayor provided an update as follows:  objectives and key stakeholders have 
been identified;  pilot projects to include Tom’s Lake and Prespatou;  possible grant 
funding from both the Federal and Provincial governments are being researched to 
pay or to help offset costs of providing the service into the various communities. 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 3 of 113



District of Hudson's Hope Monday, January 11, 2021 
Council Meeting Minutes Page 4 of 5 

CR3 RURAL ROADS TASK FORCE 
The Mayor provided an update as follows:  funding for the Rural Roads Task Force 
will no longer be provided through the Peace River Regional District’s Economic 
Development function, therefore the District of Taylor has agreed to take on the 
responsibility of managing the administration of the 2021 consultant contract. 

14. OLD BUSINESS

15. NEW BUSINESS

16. PUBLIC INQUIRIES

17. NOTICE OF CLOSED MEETING

RESOLUTION NO. 006/21
M/S Councillors Miller / Gibbs
THAT Council move to a Closed Meeting for the purpose of discussing the following items:

• Community Charter Section 97 (1) (b):

(b) all minutes of Council meetings, other than a meeting or part of a meeting that is
closed to the public
 Closed Meeting Minutes – December 14, 2021

• Community Charter Section 90 (1) (c):

(c) labour or other employee relations

 Mandatory Vaccinations

• Community Charter Section 90 (1) (j) and (k):

(j) information that is prohibited, or information that if it were presented in a document
would be prohibited, from disclosure under section 21 of the Freedom of
Information and Protection of Privacy Act; and

(k) negotiations and related discussions respecting the proposed provision of a
municipal service that are at their preliminary stages and that, in the view of the
Council, could reasonably be expected to harm the interests of the municipality if
they were held in public

 Arena Concession Stand

• Community Charter Section 90 (1) (k):

(k) negotiations and related discussions respecting the proposed provision of a
municipal service that are at their preliminary stages and that, in the view of the
Council, could reasonably be expected to harm the interests of the municipality if
they were held in public

 Development Variance Permit – R. Travis

CARRIED 
Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 4 of 113



District of Hudson's Hope Monday, January 11, 2021 
Council Meeting Minutes Page 5 of 5 

18. ADJOURNMENT
Mayor Heiberg declared the meeting adjourned at 7:07 pm.

DIARY Diarized 
Conventions/Conferences/Holidays 
Commercial Water Rate Increase-annual budget 
Consideration 08/04/19 
Pool Year End Report 2020 04/01/20 

Certified Correct: 

_______________________ _______________________________ 
Dave Heiberg, Mayor  Jeanette McDougall, Corporate Officer 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 5 of 113



Page 1 of 2 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 

RECOMMENDATION: 

1. That Council approve the 2020 Annual Progress Report (APR) under the Peace River
Agreement for the District of Hudson’s Hope.

2. That Administration forward the approved Annual Progress Report to the Province.

BACKGROUND: 

At the September 14, 2020, Council Meeting, Council approved the second five-year plan on 
how Peace River Agreement (formerly known as Fair Share) funds would be allocated within the 
District.  The first agreement was from 2016 – 2020 and the agreement approved in September 
runs from 2021 – 2025.  The five-year agreements are ‘high-level’ agreements.   

In addition to these, each year, the District must prepare and submit a detailed Annual 
Development Plan (ADP) for the upcoming year and then by January 31st of the following year, 
prepare and submit an Annual Progress Report (APR) that details how the District actually spent 
the funds it said it was going to use in the ADP.  The report presented to Council today for 
consideration is a report on how funds allocated by the Province for 2020 were actually spent. 

DISCUSSION: 

The intent of reporting back to the Province shows that the District is using the grant funding 
provided by the Province to enhance our community as a service center for industry and its 
workers/families.  This goes back to the ‘philosophy’ of the PRA funding that industry occurs in 
the rural areas and uses the services of the municipalities, but the municipalities cannot access 
the industrial tax base to support those industries. 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS: 

The 2020 estimated funding was used to prepare the Annual Development Plan (ADP) for the 
District amounted to $732,000. The actual amount received was $700,284 and the amount spent 
was $844,936.  The difference was funded through other sources including reserves. 

In 2019, Hudson’s Hope received $732,616 in PRA funding.  The decrease of $32,332 from 
2019 to 2020 is related to the funding formula which includes population as a factor.  Given that 
the population of Hudson’s Hope remains quite static compared to other municipalities in the 
region, it can be anticipated the amount of funding that Hudson’s Hope will receive over the 
coming five-years will continue to decrease if population continues to grow in other signatory 
municipalities. 

RFD#:       CC-2021-01 Date:   January 8, 2021 
Meeting#: CM0125 Originator: Chris Cvik, Special Projects 

RFD TITLE:    2020 Peace River Agreement – Annual Progress Report 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 6 of 113

SR1



Page 2 of 2 

For planning purposes, the $700,284 amount received for 2020 is assumed to be the annual 
amount that the District will receive over the 2021-2025 reporting cycle.  Thus, the total amount 
of PRA funding the District is expected to receive over the 2021 – 2025 Reporting Cycle is 
approximately $3,501,420.  

ALTERNATIVES: 

1. That Council provide further comments to the document prior to submission to the
Province.

Attachment:  

1. Copy of 2020 Annual Progress Report.

Prepared by: 

________________________ 
Chris Cvik, Special Projects. 

Reviewed by: 

_________________________________ 
Mokles Rahman, CAO 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 7 of 113



Annual Progress Report 2020] 

Estimated Amount Actual Is 

Spending Item from L TDP Cost Category Cost Type from Prior Year Amount for Variance Variance Reason For Variance 

ADP Prior Year > 20"/4 

Spending Item Number 1 Road Systems Upgrade Capital Investment 

Spending Item Number 2 DPW Public Works Buildings Capital Investment 

Spending Item Number 3 Sewage Treatment Expansion Capital Investment 240,000 306,275 66,275 Yes See Note #1 

Spending Item Number 4 Subdivision Development Capital Investment 

Spending Item Number 5 Public Works Equipment Purchases capital Investment 275,000 361,364 86,364 Yes See Note #2 

Spending Item Number 6 Water Treatment Upgrades Operational Activity 187,000 220,855 33,855 No See Note �3 

Spending Item Number 7 Recreation Facility Improvements capital Investment 30,000 30,000 No Amount put into reserve for new Community Hall 

Spending Item Number 8 Forest Fire Warning Siren System Capital Investment . 

Spending Item Number 9 Solar Array Installation Capital Investment 

Spending Item Number 10 Safety Officer Operational Activity 

Total 732,000 918,494 186,494 

Additional Comments 
Note: #1 - Beattie Street Lift Sation upgrade project was tendered in 2019 and re-tendered in 2020. The 2019 PRA allocation was carriered over into 2020 to be combined with the 

I 
Note 1: The ADM/or Local Government reserves the right to 

2020 allocation. The 2020 tender came back very favourable and the 2019 carry forward was not needed to complete the project and was used for other capital projects included request additiona! information regarding cost projections and 

re-paving 1.13 km of Reschke Road in the Lynx Creek subdivision at a cost of $413,093 + GST (Phase I of a Ill Phase re-paving program). Note #2 - The cost of the Plow Truck is actual payments'" th1s document. 

$252,092.07 + GST. The truck was ordered in 2020 and will be delivered and paid for by the end of the first quarter of 2021. Two pick-up trucks were ordered in 2020. The first is a 
2020 GMC 1.500 at a cost of $42,513.76 + GST. It was delivered in 2020. The second truck is a 2021 GMC 2500 at a cost of $43,565.98 +GST. It was ordered in 2020 and will be 
delivered and paid for in 2021. The cost of the lawn tractor was $23,192. The rest of the funding came from the capital equipment reserve. Note#3 - The cost for replacement of 
seven (7) hydrants and three (3) valves was $220,855 + GST. 

f hereby certify that this Annual Progress Report (Report) materially represents the estimated and actual policy, operating, and capitol 
expenditures over the term of this Report, a�resented in accordance with the requirements of the Peace River Agreement 

Financial Officer of the Local Government as defined under Selti�n 149 of the Community Charter or 237 of the Local Government Act -::s-Offi� \ g I Date � 

Note 2: Section 15/d) of the Peace River Agreement requires an 
APR for the Previous two calendar years. However, if there was 
no change to the previous APR, the local government does not 
need to resubmit for that year. However, if there was o change 
to the APR, the local government must submit and updated APR 
for thot year in addition to the current APR. 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 8 of 113



REQUEST FOR DECISION 

RFD#: CC-2021-02 Date: January 8, 2021 
Meeting#: CM012521 Originator: Chris Cvik, Special Projects 

RFD TITLE: 2021 Peace River Agreement - Annual Development Plan 

RECOMMENDATION: 

1. That Council approve the 2021 Annual Development Plan (ADP) under the Peace River
Agreement for the District of Hudson's Hope.

2. That Administration forward the approved 2021 Annual Development Plan to the
Province.

BACKGROUND: 

At the September 14, 2020, Council Meeting, Council approved the second five-year plan on 
how Peace River Agreement (formerly known as Fair Share) funds would be allocated within the 
District. The first agreement was from 2016 - 2020 and the agreement approved in September 
runs from 2021 - 2025. The five-year agreements are 'high-level' agreements. 

In addition to these, each year, the District must prepare and submit a detailed Annual 
Development Plan (ADP) for the upcoming year on how it intends to spends the PRA grant 
funding. The ADP is due by January 31st for the year. Then, by January 31st of the following 
year, the District must prepare and submit an Annual Progress Report (APR) that details how 
the District actually spent the funds it said it was going to use in the ADP. 

DISCUSSION: 

The intent of reporting back to the Province shows that the District is using the grant funding 
provided by the Province to enhance our community as a service center for industry and its 
workers/families. This goes back to the 'philosophy' of the PRA funding that industry occurs in 
the rural areas and uses the services of the municipalities, but the municipalities cannot access 
the industrial tax base to support those industries. 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS: 

The 2021 Annual Development Plan is based on receiving $700,000 from the province. The 
District has Capital Projects planned that exceed the total amount of funding, so it is important 
that the documentation from the District shows how the funds are to be used. 

As stated to Council previously, in 2000, the District received $700,284 in PRA funding whereas 
it received $732,616 in 2019. The decrease of $32,332 from 2019 to 2020 is related to the 
funding formula which includes population as a factor. Given that the population of Hudson's 
Hope remains quite static compared to other municipalities in the region, it can be anticipated 

Page 1 of 2 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 9 of 113

SR2



the amount of funding that Hudson's Hope will receive over the coming five-years will continue 
to decrease if population continues to grow in other signatory municipalities. 

For planning purposes, the $700,284 amount received for 2020 is assumed to be the annual 
amount that the District will receive over the 2021-2025 reporting cycle. Thus, the total amount 
of PRA funding the District is expected to receive over the 2021 - 2025 Reporting Cycle is 
approximately $3,501,420. 

ALTERNATIVES: 

1. That Council provide further comments to the document prior to submission to the
Province.

Attachment: 

1. Copy of 2021 Annual Development Plan (detailed).
2. Copy 2021 - 2025 Long Term Development Plan (high-level).

Prepared by: 

Chris Cvik, Special Projects. 

Reviewed by: 

Mokles Rahman, CAO 

Page 2 of 2 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 10 of 113



Long-term Development Plan for the Local Government of: I District of Hudson's Ho� 

Date Adopted by the Local Gov: I SeQt. 14, 2020· Resolution #151/20 

For Calendar Years 2021 to .___20_2 _s _ _.l(E.G. 2016-20; 2021-25; 2026-30; & 2031-35) 

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 

General Government and Development 

Planning 
Operations and Maintenance 
Capital 
Total - - - -

Transportation and Transit 

Planning 
-

Operations and Maintenance 
Capital 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 
Total 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000 
Water 

Planning 
Operations and Maintenance 
Capital 50,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100 000 
Total 50,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 
Sewer 

Planning 
Operations and Maintenance 
Capital 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 
Total 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 
Solid Waste Management & Recycling 

Planning 
Operations and Maintenance 
Capital 

- --

Total - - - - -

Protective Services 

Planning 
Operations and Maintenance = 

� � 

Capital 
Total - . - . -

Parks, Recreation, and Culture - Facilities 

Planning 
Operations and Maintenance 
Capital 90,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 
Total 90,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 
Other - Equipment and Machinery 

Planning 
-

Operations and Maintenance 
Capital 210,000 210,000 210,000 210,000 210,000 
Total 210,000 210,000 210,000 210,000 210,000 

TOTAL 

Planning - . - . . 

Operations and Maintenance - - - - . 

Capital 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 
Total 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 700,000 

I hereby certify that this Long-term Development Plan (Plan) is a materially reasonable estimate of expected planning, operating, and capital expenditures over the five-year 

term specified in this Plan, and is presented in accordance with the requirements of the Peace River Agreement. 

Date 

Financial Officer of the Local Government as defined under Section 149 of the Community Charter or 237 of the Local Government Act 

TOTAL 

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,250,000 
1,250,000 

-

450,000 
450,000 

-

-

500,000 
500,000 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

250,000 
250,000 

-

1,050,000 
1,050,000 

-

. 

3,500,000 
3,500,000 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 11 of 113



Annual Development Plan for the Local Government of: I District of Hudson's Hope - 2021 ADP 

Date Adopted by the Local Gov: 
Note: The ADM for Local Government reserves the right to 

r---==----====--===---iJ request additional information regarding cost projections in this

document. This could include project budget. And cost items in 

in financial plans, master plans, or other local govt documents. 

Summary Information 

Item 

General Government & Development --- Planning 
General Government & Development --- Operations, Service & Maintenance 
General Government & Development --- Capital 
General Government & Development--- TOTAL 

Item 

Transportation and Transit --- Planning 
Transportation and Transit --- Operations, Service & Maintenance 
Transportation and Transit --- Capital 
Total 

Item 

Water --- Planning 

Water --- Operations, Service & Maintenance 

Water --- Capital 

Total 

Item 

Sewer --- Planning 

Sewer --- Operations, Service & Maintenance 

Sewer --- Capital 

Total 

Item 

Solid Waste Management & Recycling --- Planning 

Solid Waste Management & Recycling --- Operations, Service & Maintenance 

Solid Waste Management & Recycling --- Capital 

Total 

Item 

Protective Services --- Planning 

Protective Services --- Operations, Service & Maintenance 

Protective Services --- Capital 

Total 

Item 

Parks, Recreation and Culture --- Planning 
Parks, Recreation and Culture --- Operations, Service & Maintenance 
Parks, Recreation and Culture --- Capital 
Total 
Item 

Other --- Planning 
Other --- Operations, Service & Maintenance 
Other --- Capital 
Total 

Item 

TOTAL--- Planning 
TOTAL --- Operations, Service & Maintenance 
TOTAL--- Capital 
TOTAL 

Annual Cost 

-

-

210,000 

210,000 

Annual Cost 

-
250,000 
250,000 

Annual Cost 

-

-

50,000 

50,000 

Annual Cost 

-

-

100,000 

100,000 

Annual Cost 

-

-

-
-

Annual Cost 

-
-
-

-
Annual Cost 

90,000 
90,000 

Annual Cost 

-
-

-
-

Annual Cost 

-

-

==========================---

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 12 of 113



General Government & Development --- Planning 

General Description of Planning Item Annual Cost 

TOTAL -

Detailed Description of Planning Items 

Describe how this Planning will enhance your community as a service center for industry and its workers/families 

I 

General Government & Development --- Operations, Service & Maintenance 

General Description of Operations, Service, and Maintenance Program Annual Cost 

TOTAL -

Detailed Description of Operations, Service, and Maintenance Program 

Describe how the above programs will enhance your community as a center for industry & its workers/families 

I 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 13 of 113



General Government & Development --- Capital 

General Description of Capital Project Annual Cost 

Public Works and Protective Services Fleet Replacment 

1. Grader 210,000 
- -

- -

TOTAL 210,000 

Detailed Description of Capital Spending Item 

Purchase a new grader to maintain District Streets (snow clearing in the winter, and road maintenance in the spring and summer). 

NOTE: Council may opt to provide with the purchase of another Plow Truck. One was purchased in 2020, but the Fleet 

Replacement plan calls for the replacement of a second plow/ sanding truck in 2021. 

Describe how this Capital will enhance your community as a service center for industry and its workers/families 

Having safe roads that are properly maintained is an expectation of residents and business in a community. 

----------==-===-==-==---=---=-==-==========-====:=== -==== ---'�-=======

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 14 of 113



Transportation and Transit --- Planning 

General Description of Planning Item Annual Cost 

TOTAL -

Detailed Description of Planning Items 

Describe how this Planning will enhance your community as a service center for industry and its workers/families 

Transportation and Transit --- Operations, Service & Maintenance 

General Description of Operations, Service, and Maintenance Program Annual Cost 
-- -

-

TOTAL -

Detailed Description of Operations, Service, and Maintenance Program 

I 

Describe how the above programs will enhance your community as a center for industry & its workers/families 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 15 of 113



Transportation and Transit --- Capital 

General Description of Capital Project Annual Cost 

Lynx Creek Road rebuild and re-paving 
-

250,000 

-

TOTAL 250,000 

Detailed Description of Capital Spending Item 

Phase I of the Lynx Creek re-paving was started in 2020. Approx. 1.13 kilometres of Reschke Road was rebuilt and paved at a cost 

of $413,093. In 2021, the remaining approximately 220 m of Reschke Road and 812 metres of Lesage Road are scheduled to be 

rebuilt and re-paved at a cost of $408,000. 

Describe how this Capital will enhance your community as a service center for industry and its workers/families 

Good quality roads allow residents and industry to safely travel within the community. 

=================-=--::,-=---=-====== 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 16 of 113



Water --- Planning 

General Description of Planning Item Annual Cost 

..I 

TOTAL -

Detailed Description of Planning Items 

Describe how this Planning will enhance your community as a service center for industry and its workers/families 

Water --- Operations, Service & Maintenance 

General Description of Operations, Service, and Maintenance Program Annual Cost 

� -
- - =- -

=
-

-

TOTAL -

Detailed Description of Operations, Service, and Maintenance Program 

Describe how the above programs will enhance your community as a center for industry & its workers/families 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 17 of 113



Water --- Capital 

General Description of Capital Project Annual Cost 

Water Quality Improvements at the Water Reservoir 50,000 

-

TOTAL 50,000 

Detailed Description of Capital Spending Item 

The installation of water mixer (s) and Chlorine Booster (s) at the Water Reservoir will improve the quality of water. There are 2 

cells in the reservoir. The estimated cost of the project is $75,000. 

Describe how this Capital will enhance your community as a service center for industry and its workers/families 

Good quality drinking water is critical infrastructure for the health of the community (i.e., residents and businesses that live and 

operate here). 

- --------========================

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 18 of 113



Sewer --- Planning 

General Description of Planning Item Annual Cost 

TOTAL 

Detailed Description of Planning Items 

Describe how this Planning will enhance your community as a service center for industry and its workers/families 

Sewer --- Operations, Service & Maintenance 

General Description of Operations, Service, and Maintenance Program Annual Cost 
-

TOTAL 

Detailed Description of Operations, Service, and Maintenance Program 

Describe how the above programs will enhance your community as a center for industry & its workers/families 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 19 of 113



Sewer --- Capital 

General Description of Capital Project Annual Cost 

MacDougall Street Sanitary and Watermain Replacement 

-

TOTAL 

Detailed Description of Capital Spending Item 

- -

100,000 

100,000 

Full rehabilitation of MacDougall Street from Dudley Dr intersection to Paquette Ave intersection involving replacement of sanitary 

sewer and watermain including road and associated infrastructure. The estimated cost of the project is $625,000. 

I 

Describe how this Capital will enhance your community as a service center for industry and its workers/families 

Properly maintained sanitary and watermain systems is criticial to attracting and retaining residents and businesses. 

I 

====- ___ :_===---- -----

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 20 of 113



I 
'! 

Solid Waste Management & Recycling --- Planning 

General Description of Planning Item Annual Cost 

TOTAL 

Detailed Description of Planning Items 

Describe how this Planning will enhance your community as a service center for industry and its workers/families 

Solid Waste Management & Recycling --- Operations, Service & Maintenance 

General Description of Operations, Service, and Maintenance Program Annual Cost 

� � 

TOTAL 

Detailed Description of Operations, Servi'ce, and Maintenance Program 

Describe how the above programs will enhance your community as a center for industry & its workers/families 

-

-

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 21 of 113



Solid Waste Management & Recycling --- Capital 

General Description of Capital Project 
-

- - -

TOTAL 

Detailed Description of Capital Spending Item 

Describe how this Capital will enhance your community as a service center for industry and its workers/families 

I 

======-=,-=-= ----- -

Annual Cost 

-

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 22 of 113



Protective Services --- Planning 

General Description of Planning Item Annual Cost 

TOTAL 

Detailed Description of Planning Items 

Describe how this Planning will enhance your community as a service center for industry and its workers/families 

Protective Services --- Operations, Service & Maintenance 

� � 

TOTAL 

General Description of Operations, Service, and Maintenance Program 

� 

Detailed Description of Operations, Service, and Maintenance Program 

-

Describe how the above programs will enhance your community as a center for industry & its workers/families 

Annual Cost 

-

-

I 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 23 of 113



Protective Services --- Capital 

General Description of Capital Project Annual Cost 

- -

TOTAL -

Detailed Description of Capital Spending Item 

Describe how this Capital will enhance your community as a service center for industry and its workers/families 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 24 of 113



Parks, Recreation and Culture --- Planning 

General Description of Planning Item Annual Cost 

TOTAL 

Detailed Description of Planning Items 

Describe how this Planning will enhance your community as a service center for industry and its workers/families 

Parks, Recreation and Culture --- Operations, Service & Maintenance 

General Description of Operations, Service, and Maintenance Program Annual Cost 

TOTAL 

Detailed Description of Operations, Service, and Maintenance Program 

Describe how the above programs will enhance your community as a center for industry & its workers/families 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 25 of 113



Parks, Recreation and Culture --- Capital 

General Description of Capital Project Annual Cost 

Project #1: Arena Condenser Replacement. The cost is expected to be approximately $75,000. 40,000 

Project #2: Replacement of toilets and or washroom facilities in campgrounds 20,000 

Project #3: ATV Campground - installation of washroom facilities, picnic tables, fire pits 30,000 

TOTAL 90,000 

Detailed Description of Capital Spending Item 

Project #1: Condenser for the arena is undersized. New condenser to be purchased and installed at the Arena (Cost $75,000). 

Existing arena condenser will be reallocated and used at the Curling Arena (Cost $25,000). Project #2: The District maintains four 

camgrounds. Outdoor toilets and washroom facilities need updating and/or replaced. Project #3: With respect to the ATV 

Campground, the District is awaiting a response on the License of Occupation renewal for the Dinosaur Lake site. If approved for a 

further 10 years, work would commence in 2021 on an new ATV Camground for the District. 

Describe how this Capital will enhance your community as a service center for industry and its workers/families 

Project #1: The condenser upgrade will facilitate timely starting of the Arena which would attract more families to use the Arena. 

Project #2: Having clean modern restroom facilities for visitors enhances the community profile and strengthens the economic base 

as more visitors typically means more local traffic in the stores and restaurants. 

I 

=--=-=-�-�-=-=-======--- ====-- ------ -

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 26 of 113



Other --- Planning 

General Description of Planning Item Annual Cost 

TOTAL 

Detailed Description of Planning Items 

Describe how this Planning will enhance your community as a service center for industry and its workers/families 

Other --- Operations, Service & Maintenance 

General Description of Operations, Service, and Maintenance Program 

= 
-= 

TOTAL 

- -

-= 

-

= 
= 

= 

Detailed Description of Operations, Service, and Maintenance Program 

-

Describe how the above programs will enhance your community as a center for industry & its workers/families 

Annual Cost 

-

-

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 27 of 113



Other --- Capital 

General Description of Capital Project Annual Cost 

-

TOTAL 

Detailed Description of Capital Spending Item 

II 

II 

Describe how this Capital will enhance your community as a service center for industry and its workers/families 

II 

-- -- ----------

--------====--------====-==--======-==-=-=-=-==-=- --
==========-========== 

-

I hereby certify that this Annual Development Plan (Plan) is a materially reasonable estimate of the expected policy, operating, and capital expenditures over the 

one-year term specified in this Plan, and is presented in accordance the requirements of the Peace River Agreement and the terms of the Long-Term 

Development Plan. 

Financial Officer of the Local Government as defined under Section 149 of the Community Charter or 237 of the 

Loco/ Government Act 

Dote 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 28 of 113



Page 1 of 2 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 

RECOMMENDATION: 

1. That Council receive the District of Hudson’s Hope Official Community Plan
Background Report for information and discussion on the timing of any update to the
Official Community Plan.

BACKGROUND: 

At the September 14, 2020, Council Meeting, the following resolution was approved. 

SR6 OFFICIAL COMMUNITY PLAN (OCP) REVIEW – BACKGROUND REPORT 

RESOLUTION NO. 157/20 
M/S Councillors Summer / Gibbs 
1. THAT Council waive the Purchasing Policy and direct award a contract to Urban

Systems for an amount not to exceed $21,000 + taxes for the preparation of a
background report on a review of the District’s Official Community Plan.

2. THAT Council authorize the Mayor and CAO to sign the contract.
CARRIED

As Council is aware, the Official Community Plan (OCP) is a document that sets out high-level 
vision and policies for our community. The OCP is the primary tool that guides the future 
development of the community and serves as the foundation for all policies, regulations, and 
decisions about land use and development. Municipalities are authorized to create and adopt 
the Official Community Plan through the Local Government Act.  Typically, OCP’s are updated 
every 5 to 10 years, but their long-term vision means they set a course for many decades.  The 
current OCP – Bylaw No. 822, 213, is seven years old and was adopted in June 2013. 

The purpose of the background report by Urban Systems was to review the District’s Official 
Community Plan in the context of the many amendments, legislative changes, shift in desires of 
the community, and identify what areas the District should be considering if and when it 
contemplates an update to the OCP. The background work will help focus the efforts to update 
the OCP, thereby having a more focused scope when the work is undertaken. 

DISCUSSION: 

There are thirteen recommendations that are outlined on Page 37 and 38 of the Background 
Report the District may want to focus on during any update.  While the author believes that an 
update is the logical next step, the discussion question for Council is around timing of when the 
update or re-fresh should occur. 

RFD#:       CC-2021-03 Date:   January 8, 2021 
Meeting#: CM012521 Originator: Chris Cvik, Special Projects 

RFD TITLE:    DOHH Official Community Plan (OCP) Background Report 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 29 of 113

SR3



Page 2 of 2 

Timing of OCP Update. 
As public engagement is an important part of any OCP re-fresh, undertaking the work in 2021 
may not be a good idea for the following reasons: 

1. COVID – It is unknown whether public gatherings will be allowed at all during 2021 and
undertaking public engagement within COVID restrictions may be difficult and not as
effective.

2. Staffing – Depending on other priorities and projects identified through the budget
process, staff capacity may be an issue.

If the work is not undertaken in 2021, delaying it to 2022 does not look at better as the next 
municipal election is scheduled for October 15, 2022. As an OCP update is a significant event 
for a community, it is not recommended to undertake the update in the year of an election. 
Council could budget the work in 2022 to commence after the election in November/December 
with the bulk of work being for undertaken in 2023 or else budget for it entirely in 2023.  This 
would allow the new Council to fully participate in the process if the new Council identifies the 
update as priority.   

This Council will need to determine whether the recommendations identified in the report require 
the work be started sooner than 2022 or 2023.    

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS: 

A high-level cost estimate to have external technical support involved to update the OCP ranges 
from $43,000 to $60,000 depending on the requested level of involvement by the consultant with 
the communications and public engagement elements of the project.   

ALTERNATIVES: 
1. That Council direct Administration to include funding in the 2021 budget to undertake an

update of the OCP in 2021.

Attachment:  
1. District of Hudson’s Hope Official Community Plan Background Report.

Prepared by: 

________________________ 
Chris Cvik, Special Projects. 

Reviewed by: 

_________________________________ 
Mokles Rahman, CAO 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 30 of 113



Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 31 of 113



i 

DISTRICT OF HUDSON’S HOPE 

OFFICIAL COMMUNITY PLAN BACKGROUND REPORT 

DRAFT Report 

Client: District of Hudson’s Hope 

Attention: 
Mokles Rahman – Chief Administrative Officer 

Prepared by: Urban Systems Ltd. 
10808 100th Street 
Fort St. John, BC V1J 2R4 
Phone: (250) 785-9697 

Draft issued: December 2020 

Final issued: 

Project No.: 0664.0051.01 

This report was prepared by Urban Systems Ltd. for the District of Hudson’s Hope. The material 
reflects Urban Systems Ltd.’s best judgement in light of the information available to it at the time of 
preparation. Any use which a third party makes of this report, or any reliance on or decisions to be 
made based on it, are the responsibility of such third parties. Urban Systems Ltd. accepts no 
responsibility for damages, if any, suffered by any third party as a result of decisions made or actions 
based on this report. 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 32 of 113



ii 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Table of Contents ................................................................................................................................ ii 

List of Tables....................................................................................................................................... iii 

List of Figures ..................................................................................................................................... iii 

1.0 Introduction ............................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1 Project Background .................................................................................................................................... 1 

1.2 Purpose of an Official Community Plan ...................................................................................................... 1 

1.3 Background Report Outline ........................................................................................................................ 1 

2.0 Community Context .................................................................................................................. 2 

2.1 History ......................................................................................................................................................... 2 

2.2 Climate ........................................................................................................................................................ 2 

2.3 Regional Context ........................................................................................................................................ 2 

2.4 Summary..................................................................................................................................................... 2 

2.5 Labour Force and Income ........................................................................................................................... 3 

2.6 Demographics ............................................................................................................................................. 7 

2.7 Housing Inventory and Projected Needs .................................................................................................... 9 

2.8 Summary...................................................................................................................................................12 

3.0 Official Community Plan Review and Recommendations .................................................... 14 

3.1 Structure ...................................................................................................................................................14 

3.2 Existing Goals ...........................................................................................................................................15 

3.3 Considerations for the Future OCP ..........................................................................................................17 

3.4 Summary...................................................................................................................................................24 

4.0 Document and Legislation Review ........................................................................................ 25 

4.1 Legislative Changes and Implications ......................................................................................................25 

4.2 Relevant Plans and Documents ...............................................................................................................28 

4.3 Summary...................................................................................................................................................35 

5.0 Conclusion .............................................................................................................................. 37 

5.1 Recommendations ....................................................................................................................................37 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 33 of 113



iii 

LIST OF TABLES 

Table 2-1- Projected Households Growth, 2016-2025 .............................................................................................12 

Table 4-1: Amendments to Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 822, 2013 .............................................................15 

Table 4-2: Existing OCP Goals .................................................................................................................................16 

Table 3-1: ALR Applications 2013 - 2020 .................................................................................................................27 

Table 3-2: Integrated Community Sustainability Plan Priorities and Strategies .......................................................28 

LIST OF FIGURES 

Figure 2-1: Labour Force by Industry, 2016 ............................................................................................................... 5 

Figure 2-2: Median Before-Tax Private Household Income, 2006 - 2016 .................................................................. 6 

Figure 2-3: Unemployment Rate ................................................................................................................................ 6 

Figure 2-4: Population by Age Group ......................................................................................................................... 7 

Figure 2-5: District of Hudson's Hope Historical and Projected Population ............................................................... 8 

Figure 2-6: District of Hudson's Hope Projected Population ...................................................................................... 8 

Figure 2-7: Housing Stock by Tenure ......................................................................................................................... 9 

Figure 2-8: Housing Stock by Structure Type ..........................................................................................................10 

Figure 2-9: Housing Stock by Period of Construction ..............................................................................................10 

Figure 2-10: Recent Changes in Housing Stock – Building Permits ........................................................................11 

Figure 2-11: Recent Changed in Housing Stock – Demolition .................................................................................11 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 34 of 113



1 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 PROJECT BACKGROUND 
The District of Hudson’s Hope (District) is planning to undertake an update of its Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Bylaw No. 822 within the next year. The current OCP was adopted in 2013, and there have been many changes 

in the District since this time, including the ongoing construction of Site C, which will have a lasting impact on the 

Hudson’s Hope community.  

The purpose of this document is to serve as a background report to help inform and guide the direction of the 

2021 OCP update. The information and recommendations provided in this report were developed by reviewing the 

2013 OCP bylaw and evaluating how the information within it relates to the current community context in 

Hudson’s Hope, including population and demographic data and information contained in other District planning 

documents. By examining current community context and trends and evaluating what has changed in the 

community since the adoption of the 2013 OCP, the scope of the 2021 update can be refined and focused. 

1.2 PURPOSE OF AN OFFICIAL COMMUNITY PLAN 
An Official Community Plan is a policy document used by local governments to inform land use decisions and 

community planning. It is the primary policy document used to guide land use planning and development and is 

prepared and adopted according to requirements set out in Section 473 of the Local Government Act (LGA).  

An OCP sets out a community’s long-term vision and provides a framework for future development. Community 

goals are identified and supported through associated objectives and policy statements. While a Zoning Bylaw 

regulates existing land uses in a community, an OCP is intended to inform long-range planning decisions and 

show how a community plans to grow and develop over time.  

After the adoption of an OCP, all bylaws enacted and works undertaken by a local government must be consistent 

with the direction provided in the OCP, unless an OCP amendment is completed. 

1.3 BACKGROUND REPORT OUTLINE 
The background report is organized into the following sections: 

Section 1.0 – introduces the background report and purpose of an Official Community Plan 

Section 2.0 – provides contextual community and climate information and reviews and analyses a range of 

historical and current demographic, employment, and housing data 

Section 3.0 – reviews the goals, policies, priorities and mapping in the current OCP 

Section 4.0 – provides an overview of legislative requirements and a review of existing documents and plans 

Section 5.0 – provides a high-level summary of the findings of the Background Report and provides 

recommendations to consider for next steps during the Hudson’s Hope OCP update 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 35 of 113



2 

2.0 COMMUNITY CONTEXT 

2.1 HISTORY 
Hudson’s Hope is a rural community located on the banks of the Peace River in British Columbia. It was first 

established as a fur trading post in 1805 and is the third oldest European community in British Columbia. The 

community is located within Treaty 8 territory and is in close proximity to both the Saulteau and West Moberly 

First Nations communities. 

The WAC Bennett Dam and GM Shrum Generating Station – one of the world’s largest earthen dams – is situated 

just outside of the community. The Peace Canyon Dam is located approximately 6 kilometres southwest of 

Hudson’s Hope and once completed, the Site C Clean Energy Project will become the third hydroelectric 

generating station on the Peace River in close proximity to the community. The Site C project has had, and is 

continuing to have, extensive impacts on the community of Hudson’s Hope, most recently through the 

construction of a shoreline protection berm that is requiring the District to alter its current water supply system. 

2.2 CLIMATE 
Hudson’s Hope is located in the Boreal Plains Ecozone and is part of the Interior Plains Region, which lies 

between the Cordillera and the Great Canadian Shield. Average daily temperatures range from -15.3°C in 

January to 22.2°C in July. The average annual variation in temperature is 28.8°C. 

There is an annual average snowfall of 177cm and an annual average precipitation as rain of 307mm. April is on 

average the driest month, with precipitation reaching a peak average of 79mm in July. 

The District acknowledges that climate change is occurring and has taken proactive steps to address it through 

the development of a Community Energy Plan and Solar Energy Initiative. Over 500 kilowatts of grid-tied solar 

photovoltaics (PV) power several municipal facilities, and many residents have also invested in solar power.  

2.3 REGIONAL CONTEXT 
The District of Hudson’s Hope is a member of the Peace River Regional District (PRRD) and located within 

Electoral Areas E & B. As rural development occurring outside of the District’s boundaries has a large impact on 

the local economy, it is important to ensure that the District and PRRD work together to ensure consistency, 

minimize conflict, and manage development in a cohesive way. 

The District collaborates with the PRRD on regional planning projects, most recently in a regional Housing Needs 

Report project. The findings from the Hudson’s Hope Housing Needs Report will be incorporated into the updated 

OCP according to The Local Government Act Part 14, Division 22. 

2.4 SUMMARY 
Hudson’s Hope is a unique community in a resource-rich area of northeast BC. While many changes have 

occurred since the adoption of the 2013 OCP, there many historical and ongoing factors still at play. Current and 

historical local data can help inform how a community develops and evolves and large resource projects, while 

climate change, and regional projects are all contextual factors that also have the ability to impact the population 

and economy of Hudson’s Hope. As such, they should all be taken into account during the 2021 OCP update.  

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 36 of 113



3 

2.5 LABOUR FORCE AND INCOME 
Hudson’s Hope is located in a highly productive area of the province – a region responsible for much of BC’s grain 

and hydroelectricity production, as well as gas from the Montney Shale. Many temporary workers employed in the 

oil and gas sector as well as by the Site C Clean Energy Project reside in Hudson’s Hope for the duration of their 

project work. Of the permanent Hudson’s Hope population, people are primarily employed in the utility; 

construction; agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting; accommodation and food services; and public 

administration sectors.  

As a resource- and tourism-based municipality, proposed infrastructure projects can have a large impact on the 

community of Hudson’s Hope. The presence of metallurgical coal – a valuable resource used in steelmaking – 

could lead to more industry activity in the future when market conditions are favourable.  

2.5.1 MAJOR INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS 

2.5.1.1 Proposed Projects 

The 2013 OCP included job projections based on several proposed infrastructure projects. Based on the most 

recent information available, few, if any of these proposed projects will be proceeding forward in the foreseeable 

future. The following list provides updates – where available – about some of the proposed coal, wind and gas 

projects that were mentioned in the 2013 OCP. As it is not anticipated that many of them will be moving forward in 

the near future, it is not recommended that the projected job numbers associated with each project be used for job 

projections in the updated OCP. It is important that these potential job numbers are kept in mind however, as the 

global economy has a great deal of influence even on a small community such as Hudson’s Hope, and the 

community has worked hard to set itself up to benefit from increased job opportunities when they do arise. 

The Canadian Kailuan Dehua (CKD) Gething Coal Mine 

The Gething Coal Mine is a proposed underground mine that would be located 30 kilometres west of Hudson’s 

Hope. Once in peak operation, the mine will employ in excess of 1000 workers and have a 40-year working life. 

There is no timeline available regarding when this project would become operational or when it will move forward 

towards construction. 

Cardero Resource Corporation Carbon Creek Coal Mine 

Cardero Coal Ltd. proposes developing and operating an open pit metallurgical coal mine approximately 40 

kilometres west of Hudson’s Hope. This project is expected to employ 300 workers during mine construction and 

600 to 800 during operation. There are no further updates about the project available at this time. 

Centrepoint Resources Cinnebar Peaks Coal Mine 

It is estimated that this project – which is currently in the license application stage – will employ 600 workers. No 

further updates on project progress are available. 

Jameson Resources Ltd. – Dunlevy project 

This proposed project is located north and west of Hudson’s Hope, overlying the northwest extension of the 

Peace River Coal Fields district. The project is currently on hold as Jameson Resources Ltd. is focused on its 

Crown Mountain project in the Elk Valley coal field. 

TC Energy – Prince Rupert Gas Transmission 

The Prince Rupert Gas Transmission is a proposed 900km natural gas pipeline that would extend from Hudson’s 

Hope to Lelu Island near Prince Rupert. TC Energy estimates that this project will create approximately 2000 jobs. 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 37 of 113



4 

However, in 2017 TC Energy was notified that Pacific NorthWest LNG would not be proceeding with their 

proposed LNG project near Prince Rupert, and the gas transmission pipeline project has been placed on hold as 

a result. 

Northland Power BC Wind Inc. 

Northland Power BC Wind Inc. is currently assessing the feasibility and competitiveness of a wind site in 

Hudson’s Hope in anticipation of a Call for Power from BC Hydro. 

2.5.1.2 Ongoing Projects 

TC Energy North Montney Mainline 

The North Montney Mainline (NMML) is a 206 km pipeline that was phased into service in 2020. TC Energy has 

ongoing commitments with local First Nations regarding the employment and training of qualified contractors. The 

Kobes Meter Station is a component of the project that is slated for future construction. 

Site C Clean Energy Project 

The Site C Clean Energy project has been under construction since 2015 and is slated to be completed in 2025. 

Once operational it will provide 1,100 megawatts of capacity and produce 5,100 gigawatt hours of electricity each 

year. It is estimated that the project will create approximately 13,000 person years of direct employment during 

construction. Construction activities were scaled back in spring of 2020 due to the global COVID-19 pandemic but 

had largely resumed in June 2020. A total of 3,908 workers from British Columbia were employed in July 2020, 

with 863 of these workers being from the Peace River Regional District.  

Of the communities in the region, the District of Hudson’s Hope is the most impacted by the construction of the 

Site C dam. Due to berm and reservoir construction the District will need to alter its current water supply system. 

Of the 30 kilometres of Highway 29 that need to be realigned, 10 km are within the District. The District is 

continuing to work with BC Hydro to mitigate and minimize the impacts of this project on the community.  

2.5.1.3 Indirect Jobs 

The addition of resource and mining sector jobs due to upcoming and ongoing projects can be anticipated to 

create indirect and induced jobs in the local economy. Indirect employment is created through spending 

associated with the direct employment, while induced employment is the employment that results due to new 

workers spending money in the community.  

The proposed indirect and induced job numbers in the 2013 OCP were calculated using regional data from the 

“Fort St. John – Hudson’s Hope Area” outlined in BC Stats Local Area Economic Dependencies data from 2006. 

As many of the projects used in the current OCP estimates are not moving forward, it is not advised to use them 

in calculations in the OCP update. 

2.5.1.4 Temporary Jobs (Shadow Population) 

It is difficult to understand the true impact of the shadow population in Hudson’s Hope and in the PRRD due to the 

lack of reliable and accurate data on the number of non-permanent workers.  

While there can be potential for significant job creation and employment opportunities, a shadow population in 

Hudson’s Hope can affect economic, social, environmental, demographic, and cultural factors. In many cases, the 

presence of work camps creates an increased need for community health services and social services as well as 

an increase in crime and safety concerns due to the non-permanent nature of the population. 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 38 of 113



5 

2.5.2 LABOUR FORCE BY INDUSTRY 

In 2016, the top five industries employing Hudson’s Hope residents included utilities (20%), construction (18%), 

agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting (11%), accommodation and food services (9%), and public administration 

(9%). 

Figure 2-1: Labour Force by Industry, 2016 

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 39 of 113



6 

2.5.3 MEDIAN INCOME AND LABOUR FORCE PARTICIPATION 

Between 2006 and 2016, median before-tax private household income grew by 13% in Hudson’s Hope, compared 

to 24% across the PRRD. Hudson’s Hope also has a lower median incomes than the PRRD, with the 2016 

median income in Hudson’s Hope being $71,987 as compared to the PRRD median income of $94,046. 

Figure 2-2: Median Before-Tax Private Household Income, 2006 - 2016 

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing 

Between 2006 and 2016, Hudson’s Hope saw a decrease in the labour force participation rate from 67% to 57%. 

The unemployment rate in Hudson’s Hope fluctuated between 5.5% and 14.1% over the same period. 

Comparatively, the PRRD participation rate also decreased from 76% to 73% and the unemployment rate 

increased from 5.5% to 12.1%, which may be related to the 2014-2015 downturn in the oil and gas industry. 

Figure 2-3: Unemployment Rate 

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Custom Data Organization for BC Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing 

$63,737
$71,987$73,309

$94,046

$0

$10,000

$20,000

$30,000

$40,000

$50,000

$60,000

$70,000

$80,000

$90,000

$100,000

2006 2016

Hudson's Hope PRRD

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

9.0

10.0

2006 Census 2011 Census 2016 Census

U
n
e
m

p
lo

ym
e
n
t 

R
a
te

 (
%

)

Year

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 40 of 113



7 

2.6 DEMOGRAPHICS 

2.6.1 EXISTING POPULATION 

The population of Hudson’s Hope decreased by 4.2% between the 2006 and 2011 census periods, dropping from 

1,013 to 970 residents. The number of residents increased by 4.6% between the 2011 and 2016 census periods, 

with a total of 1,015 residents being recorded in 2016. In general, Hudson’s Hope population trends tend to 

remain fairly static, but in recent years, the community has seen families choosing to return to the community, 

and/or to relocate there for the quality of life afforded them. 

From 2006 to 2016, the median age in Hudson’s Hope increased from 42.7 to 46.6. During this same timeframe 

the median age in the PRRD remained relatively constant, decreasing from 34.2 in 2006 to 34.1 in 2016. The age 

distribution in Hudson’s Hope shows that there are larger proportions of population between the ages of 45 to 84 

years and smaller proportions of those aged 64 and younger than the PRRD and British Columbia as a whole. It is 

projected that between 2020 and 2025, the 0 to 14, 15 to 19, and 25 to 64 years age categories will experience a 

decline in population, and the median age is expected to increase slightly to 47.7 by 2025. 

Figure 2-4: Population by Age Group 

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Census Profiles 2006, 2011, 2016 

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

9%

10%

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
T

o
ta

l

Age Group (Years)

Hudson's Hope PRRD BC

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 41 of 113



8 

2.6.2 POPULATION PROJECTIONS 

Between 2001 and 2011, the population of Hudson’s Hope decreased slightly from 1,039 to 970, before 

increasing to 1,015 in 2016. From 2016 to 2025, the population is expected to remain relatively stable, with a 

slight decline to approximately 1,009 individuals.  

Figure 2-5: District of Hudson's Hope Historical and Projected Population 

Source: Derived from Statistics Canada Census Program and Hudson’s Hope Population Projections 

Figure 2-6: District of Hudson's Hope Projected Population 

2016 2020 2025 
Change 

from 2016 
to 2020 

Change 
from 2020 

to 2025 

Population Projections 1,015 1,011 1,009 -4 -2

Source: Derived from Statistics Canada Census Program and Hudson’s Hope Population Projections 

2.6.3 AGE-FRIENDLY CONSIDERATIONS 

Age-friendly design refers to design that adapts structures and services to be accessible and inclusive of older 

people with varying needs and capacities1. While it focuses by definition on older people, age-friendly design is 

beneficial for people of all ages and abilities as it works to remove barriers often present in standard infrastructure 

and service provision. 

As the median age in Hudson’s Hope is expected to increase and a large proportion of the population is aged 64 

and older, it will be important to consider age-friendly development in the OCP update and future planning 

documents. Through conversations with the District it is understood that some of the priorities for age-friendly 

development are seniors housing, affordable transitional housing, and improved pedestrian connections and 

walkability. 

1 Global age-Friendly Cities: A Guide, World Health Organization, 2007, p. 1 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

Historical Projected

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 42 of 113



9 

2.7 HOUSING INVENTORY AND PROJECTED NEEDS 
Much of the following information will be presented in more detail in the final Hudson’s Hope Housing Needs 

Report. It is provided here for reference and context. 

2.7.1 HOUSING INVENTORY 

The proportion of owner and renter households in Hudson’s Hope has fluctuated over the past three Census 

periods. These fluctuations could be the result of the cyclical nature of industry-based economy and may reflect 

changes in the temporary population during larger projects. 

Figure 2-7: Housing Stock by Tenure 

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Census Profiles 2006, 2016, NHS Profile 2011 

79%

22%

73%

27%

79%

21%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

Owner Renter

2016 2011 2006

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 43 of 113



10 

The dominate form of housing in Hudson’s Hope are single-detached dwellings. The District also has a high 
portion of movable dwellings.  

Figure 2-8: Housing Stock by Structure Type 

Source: Statistics Canada Census Program, Census Profiles 2016 

Much of the housing stock in the District was constructed between the years of 1961-1980, with almost half of 

them requiring minor repairs in 2016. An older housing stock often requires additional investment from 

homeowners and rental property owners to ensure dwelling units are maintained. 

Figure 2-9: Housing Stock by Period of Construction 

Source: Statistics Canada, 2016 Census of Population, Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 98-400-X2016227 

69%

4%

2%

24%

Single-detached house Apartment (5+ storeys) Semi-detached house Row house

Apartment (flat or duplex) Apartment (<5 storeys) Other single-attached Movable dwelling

8%

56%

23%

12%

1960 or before 1961 to 1980 1981 to 2000 2001 to 2016

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 44 of 113



11 

Between 2011 and 2020, the District issued nine building permits for the construction/placement of modular 

homes, seven permits for the construction of log homes, 10 permits for single family homes, 12 permits for 

duplexes/townhouses/apartments, and two permits for industrial/commercial properties 

Based on the information provided, the District has not issued any permits for the construction of single-family 

homes since 2016 (in 2018 a permit was issued for the construction of a demonstration house). Anecdotal 

information indicated that the applicant in 2016 acted as their own general contractor, an option that is not 

available to the majority of people looking to renovate or construct a home. Due to its remote location, there is 

also a significant cost premium associated with construction and renovation in Hudson’s Hope as compared to 

nearby communities such as Fort St. John and Dawson Creek. 

Figure 2-10: Recent Changes in Housing Stock – Building Permits 

Building Permits 

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Garage/Deck/Workshop 4 6 6 4 2 3 4 2 2 3 

Addition/Renovation 6 4 5 3 7 2 5 4 2 5 

New 
Construction/Placement 
- Modular Home

0 1 2 1 0 1 1 0 2 1 

New Construction - Log 
Home 

0 4 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 

New Construction - 
Single Family 

0 1 4 2 1 2 0 0 0 0 

New Construction - 
Duplex/Townhouse/Apt 

4 2 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 

New Construction - 
Industrial/Commercial 

1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 15 18 19 16 10 9 11 6 6 9 

Source: District of Hudson’s Hope, 2020 

Figure 2-11: Recent Changed in Housing Stock – Demolition 

Demolition Permits

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Garage/Deck/Workshop 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Full Building/Unknown 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 2 9 

Total 1 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 2 10 

Source: District of Hudson’s Hope, 2020 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 45 of 113



12 

2.7.2 PROJECTED LAND AND HOUSING NEEDS 

The information in this section will be presented and analyzed in more detail in the Housing Needs Report. It is 

included here for reference. The Housing Needs Report will also contain policy recommendations that will need to 

be incorporated into the OCP as per the Local Government Act Part 14 Division 22. 

Table 2-1- Projected Households Growth, 2016-2025 

2016 2020 2025 
Change from 
2016 to 2020 

Change from 
2020 to 2025 

Household Projections 454 457 460 3 3 

Source: Derived from Statistics Canada Census Program, and BC Stats Custom Hudson’s Hope Population Projections 

2016-2020 2020-2025 Cumulative Total 

Anticipated Household Growth 3 3 6 

Anticipated Housing Units 3 3 6 

No Bedroom / Studio 1 0 1 

1 Bedroom 0 1 1 

2 Bedroom 1 1 2 

3+ Bedroom 1 1 1 

Source: Derived from Statistics Canada Census Program and Hudson’s Hope Population Projections 

The number of households in Hudson’s Hope increased by 157 between 2016 and 2020 and is expected to 

increase again by 141 households by 2025. Only 6 new housing units are projected to be needed between 2016 

and 2025; these new households can likely be accommodated within the current housing supply given that there 

are currently unoccupied dwellings in the community. However, the temporary worker population associated with 

major projects in the area such as the Site C Clean Energy Project can reduce the availability of rental units and 

inflate the price of rentals throughout the duration of the project.  

2.8 SUMMARY 
Many of the large resource projects used to calculate population and job projections for the 2013 OCP have been 

put on hold, and there is only one mention of the Site C project and its potential impacts on the Hudson’s Hope 

community. Since the writing of the 2013 OCP, the unemployment rate in the District has increased while the 

labour force participation rate has decreased.  

More recent population projections show a projected decrease in population over the next five years, as well as 

an increase in the median age of community members. Once completed, the Housing Needs Report will contain 

more detailed housing inventory information, needs projections, and recommendations for the District to consider 

during the 2021 OCP update. 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 46 of 113



13 

Anecdotally, it has been noted that former residents are returning to the District with their families to establish 

roots in the community. Community engagement that will need to be undertaken as part of the 2021 OCP update 

will assist in determining the general composition of the community and how it has shifted since the 2016 Census. 

Findings regarding the number of young families, as well as the identified need for seniors’ transition housing will 

influence the District’s housing stock requirements as well as policies and land use designations regarding 

different forms of housing. 

The 2013 OCP has many policies relating to community growth and planning for increases in population and 

labour force. Given that more current statistics do not indicate that this will be occurring, policies in the 2021 OCP 

update could shift to focus more on retaining current community members and assets as opposed to planning for 

significant growth. 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 47 of 113



14 

3.0 OFFICIAL COMMUNITY PLAN REVIEW AND 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1 STRUCTURE 

3.1.1 ORGANIZATION AND NUMBERING 

It is recommended that all policies and goals be numbered for ease of reference by both District staff and 

community members or developers. While there are different methods of numbering, many OCPs use a system 

similar to the following: 

1.0 Overarching Section 

1.1 Subsection 

1.1.1 Goal, strategy, objective, or policy 

A particular item can thus be referred to according to its number to avoid confusion (e.g., Strategy 5.1.2 in the 

OCP). 

3.1.2 OCP SECTIONS/PARTS 

The current OCP is divided into four sections: 

Part 1: Introduction 

» Introduction to the OCP process and purpose

» Local community context – history, demographics, climate

Part 2: Land Use Plan 

» Objectives and policies for land use planning in the community

» Includes Development Permit Area Guidelines and the Town Centre Plan (Schedule B)

Part 3: Community Development 

» Description of how the community intends to grow in the future and how it will address key issues such as

economic development, housing, social needs, infrastructure, and other development

Part 4: Implementation 

» Outlines an action plan for implementing the OCP to ensure regular reviews and consistency of other

documents with the OCP direction

3.1.3 AMENDMENTS AND UPDATES 

There have been several amendments to the 2013 OCP since its adoption. All of these amendments must be 

incorporated into the new document to ensure that it reflects all changes. It has been noted that at time, the OCP 

does not appear to reflect all of the amendments that have been made through various bylaw amendments. 

Ideally, those amendments are summarized in an amendment table found at the front end of the OCP and/or filled 

out on the various schedules, depending on if a given amendments is a text amendment, mapping amendment, or 

both. Best practices include regularly updating or consolidating amendments and ensuring a consolidated bylaw is 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 48 of 113



15 

readily available for the public. In the District’s case, as OCP amendments appear few and far in between, it 

would be beneficial to ensure the OCP reflects any amendments as they occur. 

The following table lists the amendments that have been made subsequent to the adoption of Official Community 

Plan Bylaw 822, 2013, however, it does not appear that these amendments are reflected in the OCP found on the 

District’s website. 

Table 3-1: Amendments to Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 822, 2013 

Bylaw Name/Number Date Adopted Amendment (brief summary) 

OCP Bylaw No. 822, 2013 June 10, 2013 Primary Bylaw (not amended) 

OCP Amendment Bylaw No. 824, 
2013 

September 9, 2013 Schedule B: Figure 5 Replaced with figure identified in 
Schedule A 

Schedule H: Replaced with map identified in Schedule 
B 

OCP Amendment Bylaw No. 854, 
2015 

January 25, 2016 Schedule A:   Within Sections 19 & 30:  from Protected 
Parks & Natural Space to Industrial (Serviced) 

OCP Amendment Bylaw No. 872, 
2017 

July 10, 2017 Schedule C: 2 lots redesignated from Core Residential 
to General Residential  

*Appendix A (Atkinson Property)

Schedule A: Part 2, Section 1, Subsection 1:   strike out 
Paragraph 5 - Discourage the use of manufactured 
homes in any area designated "Core Residential"    

Schedule A: Part 2, Section 1, Subsection 2:   strike out 
Paragraph 5 - Discourage the use of manufactured 
homes in any area designated "General Residential" 

OCP Amendment Bylaw No. 888, 
2017 

August 28, 2017 Schedule C: 1 lots redesignated from Light Industrial to 
General Residential 

*Appendix B: shown in red

Source: District of Hudson’s Hope, 2020 

3.2 EXISTING GOALS 
The following table outlines the land use goals currently listed in the OCP. As noted above, these goals should be 
reviewed with the community during the 2021 OCP update to ensure that they still align with the District’s 
priorities. 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 49 of 113



16 

Table 3-2: Existing OCP Goals 

Land Use Designation/Description Existing Goals 

Residential 

» Plan to accommodate residential growth using a phased
approach

» Ensure diversity in the types of housing available in
Hudson’s Hope

» Ensure higher residential density is centrally located and
complements a vibrant town centre

» Ensure high quality residential development

Rural 

» Maintain rural lands for rural uses

» Ensure agricultural lands are protected

» Ensure that gravel extraction in areas identified in
Schedule J is accommodated and mitigates impact to
adjacent lands

» If and when natural resource extraction is accommodated,
we ensure mitigation of impacts to adjacent lands

Town Centre 

» Create an inviting and enjoyable town centre that is a
destination and a home

» Make town centre an easy place to get around, in all
seasons, for all pedestrians, cyclists, vehicles and seniors

» Create new and enhance existing formal and informal
public gathering places in the town centre area

» Encourage and support retail and commercial businesses
to locate in the town centre area

» Support and plan community events and programming
year-round in the town centre area

Service Commercial 
» Encourage a range of commercial opportunities

» Ensure service commercial is attractive and accessible

Industrial 

» Develop a diversified and stable industrial base

» Ensure land is designated to accommodate measured
industrial growth

» Ensure suitable land use transitions between industrial
uses and other uses

Civic and Institutional 

» Ensure civic and institutional uses are planned to
accommodate existing and future needs

» Ensure civic and institutional uses are located in such a
way as to reduce negative impact to surrounding uses

Protected Parks and Natural Spaces 

» Ensure that protected parks and natural spaces are
maintained for current and future generations

» Ensure that these areas can be enjoyed by residents and
tourists

Urban Service Boundary 

» Ensure that development within Hudson’s Hope is
compact and efficient

» Ensure that servicing extensions are effectively managed

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 50 of 113



17 

Hazardous and Environmentally Sensitive Areas 

» Ensure that development proposed in hazardous and/or
environmentally sensitive are reviewed for appropriateness
and safety

» Ensure interfaces between development and potentially
hazardous and/or environmentally sensitive areas are
treated with care

» Reduce risk for wildfire in the community

Agricultural Land Reserve 

» Protect high quality agricultural lands from development
that would detract from its ability to be used for agricultural
purposes

» Consider applications for exclusion from the ALR, where
the potential development would allow for contiguous
growth, and it is located within the Urban Service
Boundary

» Ensure the Agricultural Land Commission Act and the
Local Government Act are applied in regard to any land
use or building application submitted in the Agricultural
Land Reserve

The current OCP contains a large number of goals found in each section of the plan. Some considerations that 

would be beneficial for the District to consider with respect to the articulation of goals in the OCP are: 

» Given the progress that the District has made on initiatives in recent years, a review of the goals above

should be undertaken in conjunction with any potential land use designation changes, new legislative

direction, and the desires of the community looking forward 15+ years

» Ensuring that goals contained within specific sections of the OCP serve to implement an overall vision

and/or objectives for the plan

» Reviewing the goals currently contained within the plan to determine if they are best suited as goals, or

potential policies

» Development of an overarching vision and/or priorities (see Section 3.3.1 below) will enable the OCP to

refine and focus its many goals in order to implement this policy document and additional plans, policies

and bylaws. In addition, a vision and/or priorities that overarch specific goals within the OCP and clearly

articulate the desires of the community as a whole help increase the commitment of all to implementing

the OCP

3.3 CONSIDERATIONS FOR THE FUTURE OCP 

3.3.1 PRIORITIES FOR THE FUTURE 

Through conversations with the District, it is understood that there are several priorities to be considered during 

the 2021 OCP update. These priorities are listed below, followed by a summary of the goals in the existing OCP. 

When preparing the updated document, the existing goals should be reviewed to ensure that they are compatible 

with the overarching priorities that the District has for the future. Key priorities that were mentioned in 

conversation include: 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 51 of 113



18 

3.3.1.1 Increasing the Population 

The District would like to encourage population growth by facilitating development (such as in the new Light 

Industrial subdivision) as well as by providing high quality services and infrastructure. It is understood that one of 

the District’s long-term goals it to have families move to town and establish businesses in the Town Centre. Some 

of the development that the District envisions includes services such as a welding shop, car wash, or store. 

The District also wishes to ensure that the updated OCP – and any bylaws updated after its adoption – contain 

inclusive language that applies to both the rural and urban populations in the District. This may require relaxing or 

adjusting certain rules and regulations, as well as expanding the language in the OCP to be more comprehensive. 

3.3.1.2 Improving the Quality of Life of Community Members 

This priority is related to the District’s goal of increasing the population, as the provision of high-quality services 

and infrastructure, as well as other amenities can encourage people to move to the community. The District 

already offers many valuable amenities, including the outdoor pool, an excellent school, a medical clinic, as well 

as numerous outdoor activities. Key actions that the District desires to take to improve quality of life include the 

construction of more sidewalks and trails to improve walkability as well as the installation of more benches and 

rest areas to encourage trail and sidewalk use. Age-friendly design elements, including seniors housing, are also 

important elements that the District has mentioned as being important to quality of life. It is understood that 

amenities need to be available for people of all ages and backgrounds in order to encourage families to move to 

town with their children. 

3.3.1.3 Environmental Sustainability and Renewable Energy 

The District is currently a leader in solar energy production and is next door to several hydroelectric dams. The 

District desires to further expand its profile in environmental sustainability and renewable energy. An energy tour 

of the region was mentioned as a potential method of increasing this profile and encouraging visitors to come to 

the region. 

3.3.2 OCP SECTIONS 

The following section outlines several items that were observed in the current OCP and recommendations for the 

District to consider during the 2021 OCP update.  

3.3.2.1 Vision and Community Priorities 

The creation of a section that speaks specifically to an overarching, long-term vision and priorities of the 

community would benefit the OCP. Ideally, a vision and priorities are things that one continues to strive towards, 

as opposed to something that can be considered as attained. A good vision and priorities may require adjusting 

here and there to reflect the current needs and desires of a community, but isn’t generally often replaced. At 

times, redirection and adjustments are needed based on situations that were not anticipated at the time of 

developing a plan, but these kinds of major shifts are generally few and far in between. Finally, developing a 

section that speaks specifically to the overarching long-term vision and priorities of the community help set the 

tone of the OCP and provide guidance to the goals contained within the plan itself. 

3.3.2.2 Community Context 

The OCP would benefit from the separation of the current introduction into two separate sections: an introduction 

and a community context section. The purpose of this separation would be to craft an introduction that speaks to 

what an OCP is, the legislative framework it is developed under, why is an OCP needed, why is an update 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 52 of 113



19 

required, highlighting what is new in the OCP, and also providing the user with information on how to use the 

OCP. A new Community Context section would highlight the history of the community, how it fits within the 

regional context, and how Hudson’s Hope has changed since the adoption of the last OCP. Much of this data 

would incorporate the analysis undertaken as part of the District’s Housing Needs Assessment, that is being done 

in partnership with the PRRD. 

3.3.2.3 Growth Management 

Creating a section that specifically addresses growth management within the community could provide guidance 

on the District’s approach to managing future growth. This could be achieved by having a section that speaks to 

such elements as the Urban Service Boundary, the distinction between land uses in downtown Hudson’s Hope 

versus those in the rural areas, and temporary uses within the community. A growth management section could 

also provide context as to how the District anticipates addressing any significant future growth for the community 

as a result of potential industrial development that continues to exist in the area, but does not currently have a 

time frame associated with it. Finally, a Growth Management section could also speak to the District’s desire to 

increase its population by bringing families to town and to ensuring that the community grows and develops in an 

orderly, responsible manner that creates a sustainable community that people wish to reside in. 

3.3.2.4 Land Use Plan 

The OCP would benefit from increased clarity in its Land Use Plan. Currently, there are many sections within this 

section of the OCP that, while they impact the use of the land, may not specifically be a land use. Focusing the 

Land Use Plan on only those policies that pertain to specific land use designations helps improve clarity and 

usability of the OCP. For example, an Urban Service Boundary is not a land use designation specifically, but 

rather, identifies an area of focus for a more urban level of service. Policies related to an Urban Service Boundary 

could be separated from the land use plan designation policies.  

In addition to this, land use policies for each land use designation should be reviewed in order to ensure 

alignment with the priorities identified as important to the community. Some observations noted in reviewing the 

land use policies in the current OCP include the following: 

» Rural

o Consideration should be given to potentially changing “Rural” to “Agricultural” in order to ensure

better alignment with the Agricultural Land Commission

» Residential

o The core residential area is generally comprised of smaller parcels, and in order to meet the

needs of residents who want to have a larger home in the core residential area, lot consolidation

would need to occur

o There is currently a great demand placed on residential accommodation within Hudson’s Hope as

a result of industrial and construction activities in the region; this results in higher occupancy rates

as well as inflated residential prices, which makes it more difficult to recruit professionals and

their families

o The shadow population that exists within the community, while seeming to have a similar

population impact as in previous years, is having a much longer-term impact, as the duration of

stays is significantly greater than previously (years, as opposed to months)

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 53 of 113



20 

» Commercial

o The current OCP contains a policy regarding making new service commercial lands available only

when it can be demonstrated that fewer than 10% of the lots located in the Won Centre remain

vacant or underused. How is this policy being monitored, and has the presence of this policy

aided in advancing development in the Town Centre?

» Landscaping

o Within the OCP, policy language exists with respect to screening and buffering between different

land uses to minimize any potential conflicts, now or in the future. This buffer is also shown on the

mapping (Schedules C and D) – is the buffer on the mapping necessary? Has the District found it

helpful in minimizing land use conflicts between industrial and other development?

3.3.2.5 Agricultural Land Reserve 

The Agricultural Land Reserve, while impacting what a property owner can do on their land, is not a land use 

designation in the context of an OCP. Instead, the Agricultural Land Reserve is a provincial notation on land, 

which supersedes any land use designation. Generally, all lands that are within the Agricultural Land Reserve 

should be designated as Agriculture in an OCP, and the types of development and activities that can occur on 

such parcels is limited to those that preserve, protect and promote agricultural activities. The District of Hudson’s 

Hope does not have any lands designated as Agriculture, but rather Rural, and as the Agricultural Land 

Commission would have been involved and supported the previous OCP, this land use designation can likely 

remain, although confirming this with the Agricultural Land Commission and ensuring that legislative changes that 

have been implemented by the Agricultural Land Commission in recent years and appropriately reflected in the 

OCP is paramount. 

3.3.2.6 Development Permit Areas 

In reviewing any OCP, a review of Development Permit Areas should be undertaken to ensure that the needs of 

the community and of future developers are being met. Development Permit Areas balance the need to create an 

aesthetically pleasing community without impeding or limiting development opportunities. A high-level review to 

ensuring that the District’s Development Permit Areas still reflect the direction of the community and provide the 

guidelines needed by the District to create the type of community desired is beneficial. In conjunction with 

reviewing the guidelines, the creation of a map that visually shows where the Development Permit Areas may be 

desired. 

3.3.2.7 Community Development 

Funding sources –  

Review all community development policies to ensure alignment with the vision and priorities of the community 

While the OCP has the full suite of sections one would expect to see in this section, an overview of these policies 

feels that they can be further refined and enhanced to better reflect the needs of Hudson’s Hope today 

» Housing section should be updated to reflect the Housing Needs Assessment that the District is currently

undertaking in partnership with the Peace River Regional District, and to better reflect the needs of the

community, such as the need for more transition housing, as residents relocate from larger properties into

the Town Centre, but still wish to live independently in their own smaller homes

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 54 of 113



21 

» Age-Friendly policies could be incorporated into the OCP, in conjunction with the policies on accessibility

within the current plan

» The Infrastructure section could be enhanced to better reflect the District’s needs for current and future

infrastructure, including water, sanitary sewer, storm sewer and drainage, and waste management. In

addition, this section could be enhanced to better articulate the municipal facilities and services that the

District of Hudson’s Hope provides, and how the District will continue to maintain and enhance (where

appropriate) those services and facilities

» Fair Share funding is referenced in the current OCP; that agreement was replaced in 2015 by the Peace

River Agreement; this key Memorandum of Understanding should be articulated and expanded upon

within the OCP to better highlight and reflect its importance in Hudson’s Hope, and the broader Peace

region

3.3.2.8 Implementation 

In recent years, implementation sections associated with OCPs have become much more robust in 

communicating clear ways in which OCPs are implemented. It is suggested that the District’s updated OCP reflect 

these current best practices, as having a clearly articulated implementation section will help the District 

communicate how it plans to implement its OCP over the life of the plan. Implementation elements could include 

such elements as: 

» Identifying short, medium and long-term priorities

» Setting out a timeline for reviewing and/or updating (consolidating) the OCP

» Identifying key plans, policies and/or bylaws that will need to be updated following the adoption of the

OCP in order to ensure alignment and consistency

» Development approval information that may be requested by the District from a development standpoint

» Ensuring that the District’s processes and procedures are clear to facilitate the implementation of the

OCP

3.3.3 POLICY GAPS 

The current OCP contains policies regarding a number of topics, including land use, social needs, heritage, and 

culture, economic development, and housing. The following section describes some policy areas that are noted as 

appearing somewhat weak or lacking in the current OCP that the District could consider during the 2021 OCP 

update. These include: 

» Partnerships with other levels of government (local, provincial and federal) to address opportunities and

challenges that exist on a regional scale. Speaking to these partnerships will also enable opportunities for

increased collaboration among different jurisdictions to move initiatives forward or advocate for topics of

importance to a larger geographic area than one specific jurisdiction

» Indigenous communities and Treaty Land Entitlements is a topic that the current OCP is fairly silent on.

As these are both topics that have seen a lot of attention and movement since the current OCP was

adopted, it would be beneficial for the District to highlight these aspects and promote collaborative

working relationships with Indigenous communities and those First Nations that are seeking resolution to

their Treaty Land Entitlements

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 55 of 113



22 

» COVID-19 implications could also be incorporated, as the global pandemic will impact the speed at which

policies and goals can be put into action, particularly those around community involvement and social

development.

» Climate Change Adaptation policies that build off of the great work that the District has done with respect

to being more energy efficient through the installation of solar panels on key buildings and infrastructure

within the District

» Direction regarding leapfrog development (i.e; permitting development and servicing of a parcel at the

edge of the Urban Service Boundary before one closer to the Town Centre has been developed)?

» Expansion of policies related to age-friendly practices, and ensuring a welcoming, inclusive, and multi-

generational community

3.3.4 MAPPING 

The following section outlines several items that were observed in the current OCP mapping and 

recommendations for the District to consider during the 2021 OCP update.  

3.3.4.1 Site C Implications 

The construction of the Site C dam near Fort St. John and the resulting reservoir – which directly impacts the 

District of Hudson’s Hope and its land base – should be reflected in both the mapping and the text of the OCP 

itself. For example, the acquisition of Crown Land north of Highway 29 and the redesignation of those lands to 

Industrial (Serviced) – OCP Amendment Bylaw No. 854, 2015, is a direct result of the effects that the construction 

of Site C will have on the District of Hudson’s Hope. In addition, the lay of the land in the community will be 

changed as a result of Site C; the Transportation and Mobility Map (Schedule H) will require review as the berm 

being constructed as part of the Site C project will impact development of trails along the river’s edge. 

All maps should be reviewed to ensure that impacts from Site C are addressed and reflected in a policy document 

that guides the growth and development of a community over a 15+ year time frame. 

3.3.4.2 Land Use 

With respect to the District’s land use mapping in the current OCP, consideration should be given to if there are 

any areas where the District would like to move in a different direction than what is shown on the current OCP? If 

so, why? The District has noted that a clearer distinction needs to be articulated in its plans and bylaws with 

respect to what community members are seeking for residential development, and the distinction between the 

type of residential development and levels of servicing in the town centre as compared to that in areas outside of 

the town centre (rural areas). This distinction could be better enhanced, and while much of this is most likely 

related to policies within the OCP, it would also be beneficial to ensure that the mapping reflects this distinction as 

much as possible. 

As previously indicated, all land use amendments should be reflected in an updated OCP. 

3.3.4.3 Buffering 

On the 2013 OCP Land Use Maps (Schedules C and D), there is a blue gradient around the Urban Service 

Boundary labelled as “areas requiring buffering/screening to address future land use conflicts”. Prior to updating 

the mapping for the 2021 OCP it should be determined whether this map icon is working as the District intends it 

to. Language regarding buffering and screening can be incorporated into the actual text of the OCP in order to 

specify which land uses need to be buffered from adjacent development (e.g., buffering requirements between 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 56 of 113



23 

industrial and residential land uses). Direction regarding the type of buffering desired can also be included in the 

text. 

3.3.4.4 Development Direction and Phasing 

In general, the mapping in the current OCP should be reviewed to ensure that all areas still reflect the direction in 

which the District would like to move and how it would like to develop. For example, Schedule E outlines preferred 

phasing for future residential development. Does the preferred phasing identified in Schedule E of the current 

OCP still reflect the way in which the District wants residential land to be developed? Furthermore, given that 

more recent population projections do not show a drastic increase in population, a review of this map would be 

beneficial to ensure that it still reflects the District’s goals and priorities. 

3.3.4.5 Infrastructure 

The infrastructure mapping provided on Schedule F should reflect the existing infrastructure within the community 

and should also highlight any infrastructure improvements that the District is considering in the future, as this 

information – both on the mapping and in the text – is critical in any future grant applications that the District may 

wish to pursue. 

3.3.4.6 Development Constraints 

Schedule G – Development Constraints contains information regarding the location of Agricultural Land Reserve 

(ALR) lands, as well as areas with a slope greater than 20%. The information in this map may also need to be 

adjusted due to work associated with Site C and could potentially be amalgamated with additional environmental 

and contextual information to create an “Environmental Considerations” or “Environmental Assets” map. 

Watershed boundaries, floodplains, wetlands and other environmental considerations could all be included on 

such a map a  

3.3.4.7 Transportation and Mobility 

Schedule H presents the transportation and mobility plan for the District. This schedule presents the existing road 

classes within the community and identifies three phases of proposed improvements. This map would benefit from 

a review to address the following elements: 

» Impacts of Site C – these should be reflected on Schedule H

» A review of the proposed improvements in each phase – have any improvements been undertaken that

should now be shown as existing? Do the phases need to be revised? Are they still relevant?

3.3.4.8 Parks and Recreation 

The parks, protected areas, open spaces and areas of recreational significance are all shown on Schedule I. As a 

result of many conversations with BC Hydro, and in conjunction with the construction of Site C, this map will 

benefit from a review to ensure that the parks and recreational spaces presented still reflect those that are within 

the District, and highlights any new areas that will be developed in the future (i.e. as a result of Site C). 

3.3.4.9 Gravel Reserves 

Schedule J presents the gravel reserves present in the District. This schedule would benefit from a review to 

ensure that the gravel pits/quarry reserves identified are still present, or if they have been made unavailable due 

to the construction of Site C and other development in the region. In addition, a slight adjustment in terminology 

would be beneficial, to reflect aggregate resources, which is a more encompassing term. 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 57 of 113



24 

3.3.4.10 Urban Service Boundary 

The Urban Service Boundary (USB) – shown in Schedules C, D, and F – outlines the maximum extent to which 

the District will extend municipal water, sewer, and storm drainage infrastructure. The overarching goals of the 

USB are to encourage development in the Town Centre wherever possible so that development in Hudson’s Hope 

is compact and efficient and to ensure that servicing extensions are effectively managed. In order to encourage 

development, the District’s new Light Industrial development will be fully serviced. Current un-serviced industrial 

uses in the District include industrial lay down areas, which operate under Temporary Use Permits. 

As the District aims to concentrate development towards the Town Centre, consideration should also be given to 

how the District would like to approach leapfrog development (i.e., permitting development and servicing of a 

parcel at the edge of the USB before one closer to the Town Centre has been developed) and how servicing 

would be addressed in this type of situation. 

One service that the District intends to expand outside of the USB is high speed internet. The District understand 

that, especially in light of the COVID-19 pandemic, many community members need to work remotely, something 

that is not possible without sufficient internet speed. 

3.3.5 OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

In addition to the specific considerations noted with respect to sections of the current OCP and mapping, the 

following list identifies other considerations that may be worth contemplating in advance of the District embarking 

on an update to its OCP: 

» Consolidating the Integrated Community Sustainability Plan (ICSP) with the future OCP – The ICSP

process was an excellent forum for discussing the community’s desires and needs as they relate to the

sustainability of Hudson’s Hope. However, in reviewing the ICSP, many of the strategies contained

therein could be incorporated into the OCP, as many priorities within the ICSP are already addressed

under the framework of an OCP. Many aspects of the ICSP are normally found within an OCP and would

make the District’s OCP a more robust and comprehensive OCP. Finally, in conversations with the

District, it was indicated that having multiple, similar documents was redundant and less effective in

ensuring the implementation of both the ICSP and OCP.

» Integration of the Housing Needs Assessment Report and Policies, once complete – as a key component

of an OCP, as required be legislation – is for the OCP to reflect the housing needs of the community and

provide guidance as to what type of housing is needed for at least the next five years.

» All schedules contained within the OCP must be referenced to in the OCP, and any updates to the OCP

maps should be reflected in the text of the OCP, where additional policy direction can be provided.

3.4 SUMMARY 
Overall, the District’s current OCP covers many things contained within newer, more recent OCPs. It is well 

thought-out and comprehensive for a community the size of Hudson’s Hope. The OCP, while still relevant, would 

benefit from a re-fresh, reflecting current data and future trends, and incorporating the works that have been 

undertaken within the community over the past ~8 years. The addition of some key sections, review the mapping, 

reorganizing the structure and thereby the policies within the OCP, and ensuring that the OCP reflects the vision 

and priorities of the community, will aid in increasing its effectiveness for Hudson’s Hope over the long term. 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 58 of 113



25 

4.0 DOCUMENT AND LEGISLATION REVIEW 

4.1 LEGISLATIVE CHANGES AND IMPLICATIONS 

4.1.1 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT  

The following section outlines the sections of the Local Government Act (LGA) that relate to Official Community 

Plans and summarizes key changes to the LGA that were introduced by the Government of BC in 2019. 

4.1.1.1 Official Community Plan Content and Process Requirements 

Part 14, Division 4 of the LGA outlines the content and process requirements for an OCP (LGA Section 473). 

According to this section, OCP’s must include statements and map designations for the area covered by the plan 

that address the following: 

a) the approximate location, amount, type and density of residential development required to meet

anticipated housing needs over a period of at least 5 years

b) the approximate location, amount and type of present and proposed commercial, industrial, institutional,

agricultural, recreational and public utility land uses

c) the approximate location and area of sand and gravel deposits that are suitable for future sand and gravel

extraction

d) restrictions on the use of land that is subject to hazardous conditions or that is environmentally sensitive

to development

e) the approximate location and phasing of any major road, sewer and water systems

f) the approximate location and type of present and proposed public facilities, including schools, parks and

waste treatment and disposal sites

g) other matters that may, in respect of any plan, be required or authorized by the minister

An OCP must also include housing policies of the local government respecting affordable housing, rental housing, 

and special needs housing. The LGA also requires OCP’s to include targets for the reduction of greenhouse gas 

emissions, as well as policies and actions to help achieve these targets. Applicable guidelines under LGA Section 

582 (provincial policy guidelines) should also be considered during the preparation of an OCP. 

4.1.1.2 Optional Official Community Plan Content 

In addition to the policy statements and information required by the LGA, an OCP may also include the following 

(LGA Section 474): 

a) policies of the local government relating to social needs, social well-being and social development

b) a regional context statement, consistent with the rest of the plan, about how the content of the OCP

applies in a regional context

c) policies of the local government respecting the maintenance and enhancement of farming on land in a

farming area or in an area designated for agricultural use in the plan

d) policies of the local government relating to the preservation, protection, restoration and enhancement of

the natural environment, its ecosystems and biological diversity

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 59 of 113



26 

An OCP can only contain broad objectives related to topics that are outside of the local government’s jurisdiction. 

This typically includes matters under provincial or federal jurisdiction, the jurisdiction of another local government, 

or areas regulated by agencies such as health authorities, school districts, or post-secondary institutions. 

4.1.1.3 Effect of an Official Community Plan 

A local government is not committed to proceeding with any project specified in the OCP (LGA Section 478). 

However, all bylaws enacted or works undertaken after the adoption of an OCP must be consistent with the 

direction and policies set out in it unless the OCP is first amended. 

4.1.1.4 LGA Section 460 – Development Approval Procedures 

A local government that has adopted an Official Community Plan bylaw or a zoning bylaw must, by bylaw, define 

procedures under which an owner of land may apply for an amendment to the plan or bylaw or the issue of a 

permit (LGA 460). A local government must consider every application for an amendment referred to in 

subsection (1) (a), or the issue of a permit referred to in subsection (1) (b) that requires a resolution of the council 

or board. 

If a bylaw under subsection (1) establishes a time limit for reapplication, the time limit may be varied in relation to 

a specific reapplication by an affirmative vote of at least 2/3 of the local government members eligible to vote on 

the reapplication. 

4.1.1.5 Division 22 – Housing Needs Reports 

In 2019, the government of BC implemented changes to the Local Government Act (LGA), requiring municipalities 

and regional districts to complete housing needs reports to improve the understanding of current and future 

housing needs (LGA Division 22 – Housing Needs Reports). 

The District of Hudson’s Hope is currently undertaking a Housing Needs Report in partnership with the PRRD. 

The information gathered during this assessment will be incorporated into the OCP and published publicly as per 

LGA Section 585.4. It will also need to be updated in accordance with the requirements in LGA Section 585.31. 

The required information that is being collected through the assessment is as follows (LGA 585.21): 

» Statistical information about current and projected population

» Statistical information about household income

» Information about significant economic sectors

» Information about currently available housing units and housing units that are anticipated to be available,

including information about types of housing units

» Any other prescribed information

As soon as possible, the Housing Needs Report will need to be published on an internet site that is maintained by 

the local government and publicly and freely accessible (LGA 585.4), and subsequent housing needs reports 

must be received by a local government no later than 5 years after the date that the most recent housing needs 

report was received (LGA 585.31). 

4.1.2 AGRICULTURAL LAND COMMISSION  

On February 22, 2019, the government of BC approved Bill 52, which brought changes to the Agricultural Land 

Commission Act. One of the key changes is the new oversite role of the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) for 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 60 of 113



27 

residential use and structures on ALR land. Where a landowner seeks to exceed a new residential limit in the 

ALR, such as more than one residence on a parcel, or a principal residence larger than the maximum size 

permitted, they must apply to the ALC for approval.  

The Ministry of Agriculture has also extended the deadline to receive all required authorization to locate a 

manufactured home for family members in the ALR from December 31, 2020 to July 31, 2021. 

Bill 15 received Royal Assent on May 30, 2019. Many elements of the Bill will be phased in over time. The 

following portions came into effect on September 30, 2020:  

» Application fees will be split equally between the local government and the ALC.

» Non-Adhering Residential Use (NARU) application fee will be reduced to $900: $450 to local government

and $450 to the ALC.

» The annual allowable amount of fill to maintain an existing farm road is increased to 50 m3 per 100 m of

existing farm road.

» For the purpose of maintaining an existing farm road, the definition of prohibited fill will be amended to

permit the use of “recycled concrete aggregate” and “recycled asphalt pavement”

» The CEO of the ALC will have the ability to register a remediation notice on a property’s certificate of title

if such an order is issued through ALC compliance and enforcement

» Individual landowners may no longer submit exclusion applications to the ALC. Local Governments, First

Nation Governments, the Province of BC, and prescribed public bodies may make application to exclude

land from the ALR**

The following table outlines the applications from the Hudson’s Hope area that were made to the ALC between 

2013 and 2020.  

Table 4-1: ALR Applications 2013 - 2020 

Year Application Class Code Proposal Component Type 

2013 Land Owner Application Subdivision 

2013 Land Owner Application Subdivision 

2014 Land Owner Application Exclusion** 

2014 Land Owner Application Non Farm Use 

2014 Notice of Intent Extraction 

2015 Notice of Intent Extraction 

2016 Notice of Intent Extraction 

2016 Notice of Intent Extraction 

Source: Agricultural Land Reserve Online Mapping Database 

The District does not currently receive many referrals from the ALC as most people who acquire agricultural land 

in the area are purchasing existing farms from people willing to sell and relocate elsewhere. However, the 2021 

OCP must contain language pertaining to the ALR as the ALC must review and support the OCP prior to 

adoption. 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 61 of 113



28 

Recently adopted OCPs in other communities have integrated stronger language regarding the ALR, such as 

statements about when the community will support applications for exclusion and how the community will 

collaborate with the ALC to coordinate how development will proceed. 

It is suggested that the District consider expanding policies regarding lands within the ALR in the updated OCP. 

The following list outlines some of the items that the District should consider addressing: 

» Support for agricultural uses on ALR land within and adjacent to the District Boundary

» Evaluation of any Urban Service Boundary expansion proposal to ensure minimal impacts to agriculture

» Collaboration with the ALC to assess community demand and assess exclusions where necessary

4.2 RELEVANT PLANS AND DOCUMENTS 
Several community plans were reviewed to identify any information or priorities that pertain to the OCP and the 
2021 update. Key aspects from the documents are summarized in the following section. 

4.2.1 INTEGRATED COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY PLAN 

The Integrated Community Sustainability Plan (ICSP) was developed in 2013 as a guide to long term decision-

making and community development in Hudson’s Hope. The priorities outlined in the ICSP were determined 

through community consultation with the goal of focusing on what the community values most. The plan is 

organized into priorities, followed by specific strategies, definitions of success, actions, and indicators for each 

priority area. 

Table 4-2: Integrated Community Sustainability Plan Priorities and Strategies 

Priority Associated Strategies 

We value and encourage a 
small-town feel 

» Promote a welcoming and inclusive community atmosphere

» Honour our community’s history

» Ensure that all citizens feel safe

» Facilitate strong community connections for new and existing residents

» Ensure all new development promotes and considers small town character

We will strive to be an open and 
transparent community 

» Promote open communication throughout the community

» Provide opportunities for two-way discussions in important community matters

» Provide many ways in which all parties can participate in meaningful
communication

» Ensure the decision-making process is open and clearly understood by the
public

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 62 of 113



29 

We are able to accommodate 
and retain a wide range of 
people, including families, 
youth and seniors 

» Ensure enough land is available to accommodate measured population
growth

» Ensure there is a true mix of development to accommodate ALL
demographics and community needs, including single family housing,
secondary suites, semi-detached housing, town housing, apartments, and
supportive living

» Offer accessible, market attainable housing

» Ensure there is adequate medical and emergency services in the community

» Ensure children and youth receive high quality education at all levels

» Offer attractive sport and recreation opportunities for all ages

» Review how to best accommodate non-permanent workers to ensure they
benefit the community while they are there

» Ensure public infrastructure is designed to

» accommodate people with mobility challenges; ie. Seniors, disabled, etc.

We want industry to be a 
complement to our community 

» Ensure industry is encouraged to invest in the local economy to distribute its
economic benefit to other sectors

» Help industry to identify ways it can contribute to community services and
facilities to assist in employee retention and community opportunities

» Create appropriate physical interfaces between industry, agricultural, and
residential uses to ensure uses do not negatively impact one another

» Foster ongoing and meaningful communication between citizens, industry,
and the District to identify and address challenges

We are a community that 
provides opportunities for 
citizens and businesses 

» Encourage existing local businesses

» Ensure an adequate supply of available land for future commercial and
industrial development

» Ensure the downtown is vibrant and active

» Promote area tourism

» Foster an entrepreneurial environment through engaging partner
organizations and providing local incentives

» Attract new retail, professional, and service-oriented businesses to the
community to round out available goods

» Grow the visibility of the agricultural sector in Hudson’s Hope

» Support local food production

We are ensuring that our 
community is built to last 

» Ensure community infrastructure is built to a high standard

» Decision making on community infrastructure needs to consider full lifecycle
costs, including replacement, operations, and ongoing maintenance

» Ensure we know what infrastructure we are responsible for and its condition

» Ensure we have a plan, including timelines and budget, for maintenance and
replacement

» Ensure that all new growth is compact and efficient to maximize investment in
existing and new infrastructure

» Grow regional partnership and cooperation

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 63 of 113



30 

We will work towards 
environmental sustainability 

» Make it easy for residents and tourists to access and experience the natural
landscape that surrounds the community

» Define places that need protection, including natural areas and agricultural
land

» Showcase our river valley

In November 2013, a baseline assessment was completed as part of the ICSP and identified the current 

conditions and initiatives in the District in the categories listed below: 

» Demographics and population

» Community engagement

» Commerce

» Physical development and infrastructure

» Environment

» Climate change mitigation and adaptation

» Governance and accountability

There have been significant changes in the District since 2013 and the information gathered as part of an OCP 

update could potentially help update the baseline information from the original assessment. 

In conversations with the District, it was indicated that the priorities listed in the ICSP are still important to the 

community of Hudson’s Hope. In particular, it was indicated that the following three priorities still resonate: 

» We are a community that provides opportunities for citizens and businesses

» We are ensuring that our community is built to last

» We will work towards environmental sustainability

Hudson’s Hope has already made strides towards environmental sustainability with the installation of solar 

photovoltaics on community buildings, and in conversations with the District interest was expressed in further 

expanding environmental initiatives and the profile of Hudson’s Hope as a producer of green energy. 

4.2.2 TOWN CENTRE PLAN 

The Town Centre Plan (TCP) is a schedule in the District’s current OCP and outlines a long-term vision for the 

downtown core of the community. The vision outlined in the TCP is based on the priorities in the ICSP and 

separates the Town Centre into three areas – the Commercial Area, the Institutional Area, and the Gateway Area. 

Key challenges identified in the TCP include the predominance of vehicle-oriented development and lack of 

gathering or resting space for pedestrians. The District has implemented several recommendations in the TCP, 

including beautification of the town centre through planting and other methods.  

The TCP outlines general strategies for development of the Town Centre, including: 

» Encouraging mixed use development (commercial on the ground floor with residential above)

» Improving signage, lighting, and street furniture

» Encouraging the rehabilitation and retention of historically significant buildings and features

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 64 of 113



31 

» Investigating the feasibility of creating a position whose responsibilities would include event programming

in the town centre

In addition to the general strategies above, the TCP outlines more specific strategies for each of the three areas. 

Key strategies for each of the areas have been outlined below: 

Commercial Area 

» Consider incentives for commercial redevelopment and façade improvements

» Initiate/support the formation of a Town Centre Business Association or a corresponding Business

Improvement Area

» Support and facilitate creative pilot project (e.g; seasonal patios)

» Consider streetscape improvements to Gething Street and Beattie Drive to promote pedestrian access

Institutional Area: 

» Improve pedestrian accessibility and enhance pedestrian connections

» Reinforce and enhance the civic feel of the area by encouraging public amenities/institutions to locate in

this area and by encouraging landscape improvements

» Create a community focal point and gathering space by redeveloping the parking lot south of the

Municipal Hall

Gateway Area: 

» Encourage visitors to stop at the Visitor’s Centre with upgraded signage

» Slow traffic on Beattie Drive through measures such as roundabouts and medians, along with street trees

and furnishings to establish a sense of arrival and identity

» Engage local businesses and volunteer groups to promote and plan programming

» Consider rescheduling Farmer’s Market to weekend to accommodate tourists

» Promote local history by developing a Historical Walking Tour

The TCP also outlines redevelopment strategies for specific vacant lots in the Town Centre. Currently, the 

proposed roundabout at Beattie Drive and Canyon Drive has not been implemented, but a crosswalk was 

completed to improve pedestrian connections and safety. 

Based on conversations with the District, it is understood that the vision and goals of the TCP are still relevant and 

worth working towards. However, several implementation challenges were highlighted, including difficulties 

regulating private retail buildings and façades. While grants are often available for façade improvements, business 

owners may not be aware of them or understand how to navigate them.  

In order to ensure that the TCP remains relevant, there is a desire to shift the focus primarily towards walkability 

and the installation of site furnishings such as benches along key pedestrian thoroughfares. 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 65 of 113



32 

4.2.3 ZONING BYLAW NO. 823, 2013 

The District’s Zoning Bylaw was completed concurrently with the last OCP, and also adopted in 2013. One of the 

most important elements to review and update upon the completion of a new OCP is the Zoning Bylaw, in order to 

ensure its consistency with the District’s highest policy document. In the preparation of this OCP background 

report, a few elements have come to the forefront for consideration in a future Zoning Bylaw update: 

• Are all zones still relevant/required? For example, is a separate R1a Zone (Low Density Residential-Ellis

Crescent) still needed? Does it help accomplish the District’s development goals?

• Do all of the uses on rural agriculture/residential/resource align with ALC requirements, given the

significant changes that the Agricultural Land Commission Act has seen in recent years? These should be

reviewed in order to ensure consistency and compliance with higher-level provincial legislation

• All zones will need to be reviewed in order to ensure consistency with the direction set out in an updated

OCP

It should be kept in mind that that an OCP and a Zoning Bylaw serve different purposes: an OCP indicates the 

future desired use of the land, while a Zoning Bylaw indicates the existing or current use of a particular parcel of 

land. An OCP is a higher level document, while a Zoning Bylaw is a much more specific and detailed document. 

Finally, OCP and Zoning maps do not necessarily need to align, however any Zoning Bylaw amendments should 

bring parcels into closer alignment with the future direction set out in the OCP. 

4.2.3.1 Zoning Bylaw Amendments 

Several amendments have been made to the Zoning Bylaw since its adoption in 2013. 

Bylaw Name/Number Date Adopted Amendment (brief summary) 

Zoning Bylaw No. 823, 2013 July 15, 2013 Primary Bylaw (not amended) 

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 
825, 2013 

October 15, 2013 
Schedule A:   from RU3 (Rural Resource) to RU2 (Rural 
Agriculture) 

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 
828, 2013 

October 15, 2013 

Schedule A:  from C1 (Town Centre Commercial) to C2 
(Service Commercial) 

Schedule B:  From RU2 (Rural Agriculture) to M2 (Light 
Industrial (Unserviced)) 

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 
853, 2015 

September 14, 
2015 

Rezoning lot north of Canyon Drive from P2 (Parks & 
Open Space) to RU1 (Rural Residential) 

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 
855, 2015 

January 25, 2016 

Schedule A:  Rezoning 6.5 hectares, north of Highway 
29, from P2 (Parks & Open Space) to M1 (Light 
Industrial (Serviced)) 

Schedule A:  Rezoning 7.5 hectares, north side of 
Highway 29, from RU2 (Rural Agriculture) to M1 (Light 
Industrial (Serviced)) 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 66 of 113



33 

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 
873, 2017 

July 7, 2017 

R1(b) Zone: Low Density Residential (Atkinson) (to 
permit single-detached dwellings) 

Schedules D, E & F:  from R2 (Multi-Unit Residential) to 
R1b (Low Density Residential) *areas identified in 
Appendix A 

Schedule A: Section 4, Subsection 6, Paragraph 6: 
reference to all R1 zones inserted 

Schedule A: Section 3 - Definition of "Privacy Fence" 
amended 

Schedule B: Section 7, Paragraph 6:   amendment to 
off-street parking & loading in an R-Zone, C-Zone or 
Ru1 Zone 

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 
889, 2017 

August 28, 2017 
Schedules D, E & F: from M1 (Light Industrial) to R2 
(Multi-unit Residential) *areas identified in Appendix B 

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 
898, 2018 

August 13, 2018 

Section 4.6.6:  Landscaping Plans and Procedures – 
Replaced R1b Zone: from Low Density Residential 
(Atkinson) to Low Density Residential (Lucas) 

R1b Zone: from Low Density Residential Zone-Specific 
Regulation 

amended by adding "Exterior Cladding" 

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 
899, 2018 

August 13, 2018 

Section 3.0 Definitions: add Cannabis Related Business 

Section 4.0 General Regulations:  add Section 417 
"Prohibited Uses" 

In addition to the amendments above, the District may wish to consider how to best address the recent 

legalisation of cannabis and if any changes are required to its Zoning Bylaw to reflect that. Many communities 

initially took a conservative approach of prohibiting cannabis retail sales in their communities, while cannabis 

production facilities were permitted on agricultural land that was within the Agricultural Land Reserve. Finally, 

community engagement undertaken as part of the OCP update can assist with soliciting areas of concern related 

to zoning and also provide excellent opportunities for public education regarding the OCP and Zoning Bylaws and 

how they serve the community and property owners. 

4.2.4 SUBDIVISION AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICING BYLAW NO. 848, 2015 

The District’s Subdivision and Development Servicing Bylaw (SDSB) establishes different service levels for each 

of the District’s zones identified in the Zoning bylaw, as well as design parameters and other requirements for 

subdivision and development. Through conversations with the District, it is understood that there is currently a 

divide between the rural and more urban populations of Hudson’s Hope, and the updated OCP needs to speak to 

the differences between these two populations and why different requirements and standards apply to each.  

Community engagement undertaken as part of the OCP update can assist with public education regarding the 

different servicing and development standards that are applied to different areas. 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 67 of 113



34 

4.2.5 HUDSON’S HOPE COMMUNITY ENERGY PLAN 

In 2006, the District of Hudson’s Hope contracted the Pembina Institute and Demand Side Energy to develop 

Hudson’s Hope Community Energy Plan. The main focus of the plan was on energy consumption and 

greenhouse gas emissions from municipal recommendations. The final report provides several high-level 

recommendations for reducing emissions from municipal operations and are outlined below.  

» Implement cost-effective opportunities to improve building energy efficiency

» Conduct more detailed energy audits of municipal buildings as needed

» Commit to purchasing new vehicles that are efficient and ‘right-sized’

» Develop consistent and reliable emissions data collection and monitoring

» Commit to becoming carbon neutral by 2012

» Expand energy planning work to entire community

As energy efficiency and environmental sustainability remain important to the District and Hudson’s Hope 

community, the recommendations from the Community Energy Plan remain relevant, and tracking of the 

recommendations that have been implemented could help the District with tracking progress towards its 

sustainability goals. 

4.2.6 BC HYDRO PARTNERING RELATIONSHIP AGREEMENT 

In 2017, BC Hydro and the District of Hudson’s Hope reached a Partnering Relationship Agreement regarding the 

measures that BC Hydro would undertake to help offset the impacts of the Site C Dam on the community. BC 

Hydro’s commitments include: 

» Work together with the District and fund the revitalisation of a residential sub-division that will provide

additional serviced lots, supporting long term housing options for the community and BC Hydro's local

employee attraction and retention efforts.

» Build and maintain a demonstration home in the revitalized neighbourhood and make it available to a

local doctor or other essential community services professionals.

» Build and operate a permanent boat launch, including a seasonal dock and day use area, at the base of

DA Thomas Road.

» Provide approximately $1-million in funding to the District, including:

o A one-time donation of $268,000 to the District to establish a Community Trust Fund to support

community facilities and infrastructure.

o A one-time payment of $442,000 in recognition of District lands affected by the Site C project.

o $150,000 for enhancement of Alwin Holland Park or other community shoreline recreation areas.

o A contribution of $80,000 to support the District in making updates to its community plans to

reflect the construction and operation of the Site C project.

o Provide a one-time contribution of $20,000 to support District emergency rescue services

The commitments that BC Hydro made to the District have the potential to support and enhance community 

infrastructure and facility improvements, all of which could further encourage people to move to the community. 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 68 of 113



35 

During the 2021 OCP update the District could consider incorporating language and projects from the agreement 

into policy language to ensure that future projects are in alignment with the updated OCP. In addition, highlighting 

any measures already in progress and/or accomplished would be beneficial to demonstrate works occurring to 

implement the Community Measures Agreement. 

4.2.7 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORTS 

The District’s annual municipal reports lay out a summary of municipal objectives and progress measures, 

anticipated objectives and measures for the upcoming year, statements of tax exemptions, statements of 

disqualifications, and audited financial statements. The Annual Municipal Reports also serve as a way to monitor 

implementation of recommendations from the OCP and other District documents, such as the appointment of a 

recreation and special events coordinator in 2017, an action that was recommended in the Town Centre Plan. The 

summaries below outline key initiatives and undertakings that occurred in the District over the past few years and 

show how the community is progressing towards the goals outlined in several of its planning and visioning 

documents: 

4.2.7.1 2017 Annual Municipal Report 

» Construction of new Public Works Shop

» Two bathrooms in District parks

» Purchase of wildfire suppression equipment

» Retention of permanent doctor as well as continued operation of tele-pharmacy

» Appointment of Recreation and Special Events Coordinator

» Purchased land along Highway 29 to be designated as light industrial

4.2.7.2 2018 Annual Municipal Report 

» Completed work on 500 kilowatt solar generating project 0 received two awards at UBCM

» Completed work on Lucas Subdivision (developed in cooperation with BC Hydro)

» Hiring of new CAO and news Director of Public Works

» 21 permanent employees

4.2.7.3 2019 Annual Municipal Report 

» Marketing strategy for 27 lot subdivision

» Moving forward with infrastructure design of light industrial subdivision

» Started asset management program

» Planning for replacement of drinking water source

4.3 SUMMARY 
Since the adoption of the 2013 OCP, the Government of BC has made changes to the Local Government Act. 

Key among these changes is the requirement for each community to complete a Housing Needs Report before 

2022. The information and recommendations gathered as part of the District’s Housing Needs project with the 

PRRD will need to be incorporated into the 2021 OCP as per the LGA requirements. In addition to the Housing 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 69 of 113



36 

Needs Requirements, more robust language about the Agricultural Land Reserve and Agricultural Land 

Commission should be incorporated into the updated OCP.  

From conversations with the District, it is understood that many of the priorities found in the ICSP, Town Centre 

Plan, and Community Energy Plan still resonate and should be considered in the 2021 OCP update. However, it 

was also noted that these visionary documents need to be balanced with concrete, achievable measures to 

ensure that the District is continually moving towards its goals. The goals and priorities in these documents, as 

well as those identified in the current OCP, should also be evaluated against any response received from the 

community during engagement for the upcoming OCP update. 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 70 of 113



37 

5.0 CONCLUSION 
Many changes have occurred in and around the District of Hudson’s Hope since the adoption of Official 

Community Plan Bylaw No. 822 in 2013. Many of these changes, including construction of the Site C Clean 

energy project, are outside of the District’s control, which will require the District to remain flexible and adaptable 

in the coming years. Moving forward, acknowledging the cyclical nature of a resource-based economy while 

continuing to invest in other sectors – including clean energy – will help ensure that the District remains 

sustainable into the future. Ensuring that the District continues to plan and develop a community that both meets 

the needs of current residents while being attractive to future residents is of paramount importance. 

Sound land use planning that ensures that new development aligns with the District’s long term vision, as well as 

investments in infrastructure and quality of life enhancements such as improved walkability, will allow the District 

to continue to move towards its overarching goals while remaining grounded in the context of the present day. 

5.1 RECOMMENDATIONS 
During the upcoming OCP update process, the District may wish to consider the following recommendations: 

1. Remove job projections associated with major infrastructure projects as many of these projects are on

hold and/or not moving forward. Update population projections based on more recent census information.

2. Incorporate the findings from the Housing Needs Report into the OCP as per LGA Part 14 Division 22 –

Housing Needs Reports.

3. Integrate the priorities and strategies identified in the District’s ICSP, as many are already naturally found

in an OCP; this will reduce the redundancy of similar documents and ensure that the OCP is a robust and

comprehensive policy document that clearly articulates the future desires of the community.

4. Expand policies regarding lands within the ALR in the updated OCP. The following list outlines some of

the items that the District should consider addressing:

a. Support for agricultural uses on ALR land within and adjacent to the District Boundary;

b. Evaluation of any boundary extension proposal to ensure minimal impacts to agriculture; and

c. Collaboration with the ALC to assess community demand and assess exclusions where

necessary.

5. Review the current organization and numbering system of the OCP and update for ease of reference to

specific policies and strategies.

6. Incorporate a section into the OCP that articulates the overarching vision and priorities of the community

and review all goals and policies within the body of the OCP itself to ensure alignment with the community

vision and priorities.

7. Incorporate new sections into the OCP, including Vision and Community Priorities, Community Context,

and Growth Management.

8. Review and expand existing sections within the OCP to ensure continued alignment with current best

practices and the desires of the community.

9. Ensure that identified policy gaps are addressed in their relevant sections within the OCP.

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 71 of 113



38 

10. Update OCP mapping to ensure consistency with any policy direction changes, and that maps reflect

changes noted, including those due to the Site C Clean Energy project and support the District’s vision

and priorities.

11. Incorporate all amendments and legislative changes that have occurred since the adoption of the 2013

OCP.

12. Incorporate relevant information from supporting documents such as the ICSP and Community Energy

Plan into the OCP.

13. Review the OCP policies to ensure that they are inclusive of all District residents, both urban and rural.

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 72 of 113



Page 1 of 2 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 

BACKGROUND: 

The Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program – BC – COVID-19 Resilience Infrastructure Stream is 
accepting applications for grants to assist communities to complete retrofits, repairs and upgrades to 
local government facilities. If accepted, the grant will cover 100 % of eligible project costs.  

District Staff identified a number of potential upgrades that need to be completed at the District Arena. 
Specific upgrades include: 

• A building Envelop Assessment to identify potential energy saving upgrades,

• Replace existing ice making condenser,

• Replace existing water heaters with four (4) on demand water heaters,

• Replace existing doors between the lobby and arena floor.

• Replace the arena office door and window,

• Install new weather stripping and sweeps to exterior doors,

• Install a canopy over the west exit doors (which is Section B entrance for COVID),

• Replace existing concession cabinets, counters and flooring (which are not meeting Northern
Health Guidelines),

• Replace existing concession appliances.

All of the noted upgrades have been identified by staff to improve: 

• Health and safety, especially COVID safe operations;

• Improve energy efficiency,

• Provide a more dependable Ice making system, and

• Provide information to enable staff to budget for future works at the arena.

DISCUSSION: 

District staff identified the following portions of the work in 2019: 

• Replacement of the doors between the Arena lobby and arena floor,

• Replace the arena office door and window,

• Replace the arena water heaters with on demand water heaters.

District staff budgeted for upgrades to the arena in the last fiscal budget. The work was tendered, 
however the tendered amount for the work exceeded the budget.  

The proposed work that was not already discussed with Council have been considered to improve the 
facility for the community and enable staff to continue with upgrades to reduce operating costs in the 
future. Also, these improvements will facilitate timely opening of the Arena, and COVID safe operation. 

RFD#:  2021MR02 Date:   January 20, 2021 

Meeting#:  CM012521 Originator: Mokles Rahman, CAO 

RFD TITLE:    Council Resolution for CVRIS Grant Application 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 73 of 113

SR4



Page 2 of 2 

The estimated costs for the proposed works is $495,000, which should be covered by the grant. 

As per the grant conditions, the District is responsible for all ineligible costs and cost overruns. The 
amount of which is unknow at this moment.  

RECOMMENDATION / RESOLUTION: 

THAT staff submit an application for grant funding for Hudson’s Hope Arena through the Canada 
Infrastructure Program – COVID-19 Resilience Infrastructure Stream; and  

THAT Council supports the project and commits to any associated ineligible costs and cost overruns. 

Prepared by: 

_________________________________ 
Mokles Rahman, CAO 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 74 of 113



THE DISTRICT OF HUDSON’S HOPE 

REPORT TO: Mayor and Council 

SUBJECT: CAO Update 

DATE:  January 25, 2021 

FROM:  Mokles Rahman, CAO 

Below please find highlights of some of the major activities either done or underway in the Office of the 
CAO during the last two (2) months. 

• Managing operations in COVID situation:
a. Following the Provincial Health Officer’s Orders, running the District operations, especially

the operations of the Arena.
b. In the process of terminating the Arena concession contract.
c. As of the date of this report, there is no reported COVID positive case among the District

staff.

• Land Administration:
a. Light industrial subdivision grant utilization time extended up to February 28, 2021.

Consultant submitted the 90% designs which were reviewed with the Industrial Committee
members. Now the consultant will finalize the design. Consultant is the process of
submission of a subdivision application. A report will be submitted to the Council in March
2021 after completion of the detailed design of the project.

b. Working on two (2) subdivisions; one at the Adam Street and the other one at the Clarke
Ave.

c. Working on a Development Variance Permit (DVP) application. Applicant moved a house in
the Beryl Prairie community before approval of DVP and even before submission of an
application.

• Budget workshop: Council and concerned staff will attend a budget workshop on February 13, 2021
to review and discuss the draft operating and capital budgets.

• Pre-classification of Water Treatment Plant (WTP):
a. The Hudson’s Hope WTP has been pre-classified by EOCP (Environmental Operators

Certification Program). At present the old treatment plant has been found as Class II and is
just one point below Class III. After commissioning of the new WTP, we must submit the
classification questionnaire again to EOCP to see the level of classification. An up-to-date
operating permit from Northern Health (NH) is required.

b. NH preliminarily communicated some tough conditions on the water permits. We are
negotiating those at this moment. These conditions are the results of our unique water
distribution network and reservoir configuration.

• LED streetlights: The contractor of BC Hydro installed LED lights in all streetlights of the District
except six (6), which will be done soon.

• BC Hydro Pole: One of the Hydro poles along the Carter street fell off during the last year’s storm
water run-off. Negotiating the cost sharing options of the damaged pole and mitigating options of
the other poles. So far, we had two (2) conference calls with the BC Hydro claims department.

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 75 of 113

SR5



• Curling Club: Based on the request from the curling club we have shut down the ice making plant.
Curling club’s decision was based on the COVID situation and less interest by the community users.

• Asset Management: Consultant launched the District’s Asset Management program. In the process
of concerned staff orientation. A presentation will be organized for Council sometimes in future
once staff are trained to operate.

• Hiring of Director of Public Works: Re-advertised the position on January 11, 2021 with a deadline of
February 8, 2021. At present CAO is performing the jobs of Director of Public Works

• Director of protective Services: The new Director of protective services is on board effective January
11, 2021. He received basic orientation from the former Director of protective services and now
getting orientation from other colleagues and fire volunteers. Also, he is in the process of receiving
some online courses.

Upcoming Activities: 

• Commissioning of new Water Treatment Plant in February and submission of application for new

WTP classification to EOCP immediately after commissioning.

• Completion of Light industrial subdivision detailed design by February, claim grant money from

NDIT, and submission of report to Council in March 2021.

• Submission of Budget (Operating and Capital) to Council in the 2nd meeting of March and/or 1st

meeting of April 2021.

• Asset Management orientation to staff and possibly orientation to council in the future.

• Negotiation of BC Hydro Pole re-installation at Carter Street.

• Director of Public Works candidate short listing and interviews.

Prepared by: 

_________________________________ 
Mokles Rahman, CAO 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 76 of 113



THE DISTRICT OF HUDSON'S HOPE 

REPORT TO: Mayor and Council 

FROM: 

DATE: 

Jeanette McDougall, Corporate Officer 

January 25, 2021 

SUBJECT: CORPORATE DEPARTMENT-MONTHLY UPDATE 

PURPOSE 

To provide Council with an update for the Corporate Department. 

INFORMATION 

• Bylaws

► Zoning Consolidation (in progress)

► Officer Bylaw (in progress)

► Bylaw Index- conversion from Word to Excel (mostly complete, some adjustments and

proof-reading in progress)

• BC Hydro- LED Street Lighting

► Participated in conference calls; helped to coordinate BC Hydro communications to the

community, eg messaging for Bulletin, etc.

• Operations Budget Meetings re Administration

► Meeting regarding Office items

• Director, Protective Services

► Assisted with the on-boarding process, eg, email and telephone setup, provided fire

services-related policies, overview of Council meetings and related procedures, etc.

• Insurance Renewals - 2021

► General Liability, Property, Airport - Wills, Towers, Watson

► Cyber Security- Municipal Insurance Association

• Internet Service - Battery Backup

• IT/ Cell Phones/ Telephones

► Problem-solving for various issues

► Internet Backup Battery died several weeks ago and disrupted service for approximately 2

hours; new battery ordered and installed

► Liaising with IT Partners re computer/ laptop replacement schedule for 2021 budget

discussions

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 77 of 113

SR6



• LOVE Hudson's Hope Program

► 2020 Final report prepared by B. Mercereau and submitted to the Northern Development
Initiative Trust; annual funding is $1,200.

• Recycling

► Organized recycling for some "dead" electronics, eg battery backup, obsolete CPU, etc.

• UBCM 2021

► Scheduled for September 13-17, 2021, Vancouver
► Hotel block: not released as yet, dependent on whether the Conference is an in-person

event or a virtual event

• Conferences/ Education/ Training

► General & Records Management

❖ B. Mercereau & J. McDougall registered for full-day course being held March 30, 2021
on EDMS (Electronic Data Management Systems); course is free

❖ A. Martin & M. Heiberg registered for Records Management webinar being held
February 25, 2021 @ $125 per registrant

❖ M. Heiberg registered for Joint Occupational Health and Safety training on January 26th

& 27th
, 2021 (note: Union Staff who are members of the JOSH Committee are entitled

to a minimum of 8 hours training per year); course is free

❖ A. Martin & J. McDougall registered for BCIT Planning on line course @ $336 per
registrant

► ICBC

❖ General training ongoing for M. Heiberg; dates/ times of training being tracked

► LGMA Freedom of Information & Records Management Committee

❖ Conference call held January 12, 2021 to continue developing the 2021 Workplan, which
includes the continued review of both the Freedom of Information Manual and the
Records Management Manual; webinars planned include Freedom of Information -
Basic & Advanced; Records Management - Basic & Advanced.

❖ Note: a Freedom of information -Advanced webinar is being held September 2021 and
will include a session on FOi in relation to release of information pertaining to property
files, etc. with the focus being on small communities

co('f ;-C. � G � � ' I..

Jeanette McDougall, 
Corporate Officer 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 78 of 113



THE DISTRICT OF HUDSON’S HOPE 

REPORT TO: Mayor and Council 

SUBJECT: Public Works Department Update 

DATE:  January 25, 2021 

FROM:  Mokles Rahman, CAO 

Below please find highlights of some of the activities either done or underway in the Public Works 
Department during the last two (2) months. 

PROJECTS: 

A. Water Treatment Plant (WTP) Upgrades:

• The Water Treatment Plant (WTP) is running with a temporary water treatment system. The
tentative date of commissioning of the new Nanofiltration Treatment Plant is 1st week of
February 2021.  Full commissioning may take up to middle of February.

• Northern Health (NH) approval for running the new treatment systems is required. Application
submitted and we have to submit water quality reports during commissioning. Once all reports
are acceptable and permit conditions are met, NH will issue permit to operate.

• The WTP upgrade project, a BC Hydro funded project, is on budget.

B. Capital Projects:

1. Water valves and hydrants replacement: This project is completed including installation of a
hydrant at the dead-end water main at the Adam Street.

2. Residential Water Stand Upgrade:

• Replacement of the old pipes at the Beryl Prairie water well: Will be carried over to 2021.

• Keypad access for two (2) residential water stands: Will be carried over to 2021.

3. Beattie Lift station upgrade: Completed.

4. MacDougall Street Design: Design and tender preparation completed. This project will be
tendered in middle of February 2021 for construction.

5. Lynx Creek Re-pavement (Ph-1): Completed.

6. Osborne Street @ Canyon Dr barrier: Cancelled.

7. Storm culvert replacement (Matt Boe): Completed.

8. Arena door and water heater replacement: Could not find a contractor to replace the Arena
inside doors and water heater. This project will be carried forward to 2021.

9. Quonset Hut door installation: Door received and will be installed during next good weather.

10. Plow Truck Replacement: Vendor will supply the plough truck in March 2021.

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 79 of 113

SR7



11. Lawn Tractor replacement: Received the lawn tractor.

12. Pick-up trucks (2 units) replacement: Received ½ ton truck. Vendor will supply the ¾ ton pick up
truck (2021 model) in January 2021.

C. Capital Projects for 2021: Based on the staff report, Council pre-approved the following three
capital projects for 2021

a. MacDougall Street sanitary (associated infrastructures and road rehab).

b. Lynx Creek Re-pavement (Ph-2).

c. Water quality improvement for Water Reservoir.

D. Operating Projects:

1. Carter street ditch repair:

• Repaired 200 metres of ditch along the carter street as directed by council.

• Administration is working with the Claims Department of BC Hydro to mitigate the
problems.

2. Municipal Wastewater Regulation (MWR) registration:  We had 1st meeting with the Ministry
and Urban systems is working on the registration process.

OPERATIONS: 

a) Water Distribution systems: Operators are facing some challenges in maintaining chlorine residual in
some areas of the Town. Even though it is difficult to flush the water mains through hydrant during
wintertime, performing flushing activities in those areas.

b) Water Treatment Plant (WTP): Though we are running the Water Treatment Plant with the
temporary system, there are no quality issues and we did not hear any complaints from the
community on the water quality issues.

c) Arena:

• By following the Provincial Health Officer’s Orders, Arena operations are going on.

• Working towards fixing the deficiencies identified by the WorkSafe BC.

• Arena concession shut down as the vendor was facing difficulties in getting customers
because of COVID.

d) Refuse site: Disposing off more tires from the refuse site.

BUDGET:  

Working on Operating and Capital budgets preparation. 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 80 of 113



UPCOMING ACTIVITES: 

• Continue working on Operating and capital budgets.

• Commissioning of WTP.

• Oversee Arena operations.

• Tender three pre-approved capital projects.

Prepared by: 

_________________________________ 
Mokles Rahman, CAO 

Attachment: Recreation and Special Events update 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 81 of 113



Recreation and Special Events Coordinator – MONTHLY UPDATE 

INFORMATION- Special Events 

➢ Christmas “Light up” and “Tour the Town”- December 6, 2020

History – A community-wide parade concluding with a public gathering at Beattie Park for the 
Christmas Light up, bonfire, hotdog roast, coffee, and doughnuts. 

This year (2020) This event was scheduled for December 6, 2020. Due to Covid-19, and the 
restrictions of social gatherings and events set by BC Health authorities, significant 
changes to this event needed to be made. The RSEC collaborated with Director of 
Protection Services, Bob Norton, RCMP Corp. Rob Gardner and MOTI representative 
regarding how to best manage this event in consideration of the newly updated COVID-
19 restrictions (updated Nov 19, 2020).  The conclusions as to a safe alternatives and 
changes made to this event were: 

• No gathering of community residents at Beatie Park, this includes a gathering for the
light up and the parade.

• Public works employee Jonny Vandenberg plugged in the lights in Beattie park at 7pm
without an audience. (RSEC was to live stream light up)

• The Parade was cancelled due to COVID -19 PHO update November 19, 2020. (No
gatherings inside or outside, no social or seasonal gatherings) MOTI also required a
COVID-19 safety plan within a tight timeline.

• Town light up.  Residents will be encouraged to “plug in” their lights the evening of
December 6 and “light up” the town.

• Residents registered for a Christmas light competition.  Their addresses were added to a
list of contestants and the “Tour the Town” map.  Contestants were awarded first,
second, third prize or entered to win a draw.  Every contestant won and item.   Judges
were community volunteers and the RSEC.

• Santa’s workshop – Visitor info Centre in Beattie park was decorated in part by the
HHESS art class, and completed by youth volunteer, community volunteer, and the
RSEC.  This was prepared for the Dec 6 “Light up”. No additional cost.

• Residents will be encouraged to drive by Beattie park to see the lights that Public Works
will turn on the evening of December 6, 2020 and tour the rest of the lights in Hudson’s
Hope.

• Event was promoted on PSA, Facebook, posters and DOHH website.  Flyers of “Tour
the Town,” Contestants and Map were made available to the public.

Volunteer Groups:  Volunteer Judges from the community included members of the 
community, Lions Club, RCMP, IBEW and a local youth volunteer. 
COVID-19- 19 safety Measures – PPE worn by volunteers and staff.  No public gathering.  No 
parade. Judges stayed within their family bubble and in their personal vehicles. 
Tour the Town: 24 registered contestants, 3 sets of Judges.  First, second and third prize, and 
draw prizes for all contestants to encourage participation. 
Community Feedback: Very positive feedback was received with many requests made to 
continue this event for 2021 Christmas Light up.  
Facebook views: 2,470 with 52 responses  
TOTAL EVENT COST $550 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 82 of 113



➢ 12 Days of Christmas Giving– The DOHH has partnered with the RCMP, HH School and
Friends of Hudson’s Hope to help organize a charity toy drive in our community. – The
DOHH has partnered with the RCMP, HH School and Friends of Hudson’s Hope to help
organize a charity toy drive in our community. Distribution took place at the thrift store
December 16 and 17, 2020.

Community impact -36 Children registered, and an incredible number of toys were donated
including $500 in monetary donations ($3,000 was received for Christmas 2021).  This event
was very successful with excellent feed back from the community, and recommendation that
it continues next year.
Total Cost – none

➢ Santa Skate- Canceled (December 13, 2020) due to Covid-19 restrictions on community
events and gatherings.  Historically this free community event features Christmas craft
making, chili, skating, visit from Santa.

➢ Upcoming Events

• Winter Carnival – February 5 -17, 2021
History- Carnival bucks were collected throughout the month of January as a percentage of
money spent at local businesses. Many events are planned during the week including a
family dinner and dance, and adult comedy night. Carnival bucks collected were spent at the
Winter Carnival auction.

This year (2021) On December 14, 2020 RSEC submitted an RFD for council to discuss
2021 Winter Carnival and the changes that need to be made in consideration of provincial
health orders and COVID-19.  Council moved to have the expenses for Winter Carnival stay
under $5,000, not including monetary donations or the RSEC’s time and approved suggested
changes made by the RSEC in conjunction with supporting local and homebased
businesses. Planning is in progress.

• Fort St. John Trade Show - (April 2021) Postponed until the Fall.  Historically the District
of Hudson’s Hope has setup a booth at the trade show. 2019 Cost was $609.

➢ Projects

• Pool employment sustainability-In progress. Report submitted to council Nov. 9, 2020

• Arena Safety Plan, Staff and User group orientations and communication
▪ BC Health, BCPRA, ViaSport return to play, BC Hockey and move into Phase 2 these are the

changes the RSEC and Administration have recommended these approved changes:

➢ Initiatives

• Networking – Local, Regional, and Provincial

• Professional Development – Participaction Webinar January 21,2021

• Grants -Research and application

• Creating new community-based activities and safety plans in consideration restrictions

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 83 of 113



THE DISTRICT OF HUDSON’S HOPE 

DATE:  January 25, 2021 

REPORT TO: Mayor and Council 

FROM:  Brad Milton, Director of Protective Services 

SUBJECT: Protective Services Update 

Below please find highlights of some of the major activities either done or underway in the Protective 
Services during the last two (2) months. 

• January 11 Fire Chief Milton Began.
• In December there were 3 calls for service.  2 – Alarms Ringing, 1 Outside Fire.
• As of January 20, there were 0 calls for service.
• In December HHFR along with BC Ambulance and RCMP participated in the Districts parade of lights.
• The Fire Chief has had multiple meeting with EMBC, North Island 911, PRRD.
• Feb 2 Chief Milton will be attending the Regional Emergency program Coordinators meeting and

Regional Fire Chiefs meeting in Dawson Creek.
• HHFR is currently reviewing the dispatch and response plans with north Island 911 to ensure swift

and proper emergency response.
• On Feb 7 HHFR, BC Amb and RCMP will be conducting the winter carnival snowman building

competition, in conjunction with this we are raising awareness of the need for clear address number
marking.

• Feb 11 HHFR will be holding a COVID safe emergency services drive by to see and meet your local
emergency service providers and the new Chief from the safety of your personal vehicle.

We look forward to a busy and safe 2021-22 Season. Until then stay healthy and wear a mask. 
It’s a great day to be a Hudson’s Hope Firefighter. 

Prepared by: 

__________________________ 
Brad Milton, Director of Protective Services 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 84 of 113

SR8



Page 1 of 1 

THE DISTRICT OF HUDSON’S HOPE 

REPORT TO: Mayor Dave Heiberg and Council  

SUBJECT: Special Projects – Update Report 

DATE: January 2021 

FROM: Chris Cvik 

Some of the initiatives that I have been remotely working on or recently completed: 

• Weekly telephone discussions with the CAO.  Assist with on-boarding, providing
historical information, and general mentoring.

• Compiling Director of Public Works resumes – applicant tracking.
• Working on a draft 2021 Peace River Agreement – Annual Development Plan (ADP)

report to the Province.
• Working on the 2020 Peace River Agreement – Annual Progress Report (ARP) to the

Province.
• Preparation of Official Community Plan (OCP) Background Report to go as an

accompanying report to the Background Report completed by the consultant – Urban
Systems.

• Working on the renewal of the License of Occupation for the District of Hudson’s Hope
Gravel Pit.  Current lease is up as of December 31, 2021.

Upcoming 

• Follow-up with the Province on the status of the License of Occupation renewal for the
proposed Dinosaur Lake ATV Campground site.

• Submit DOHH Gravel Pit License of Occupation to the Province.

_______________________________ 
Chris Cvik 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 85 of 113

SR9



The City of North Vancouver  
OFFICE OF MAYOR LINDA BUCHANAN

141 West 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC  V7M 1H9  |  Tel: 604-998-3280  |  Fax: 604-990-4211  |  www.cnv.org  |  Doc#1908249

January 11, 2021

Hon. George Heyman, Minister of Environment and Climate Change Strategy and
Minister responsible for Translink

Sent VIA email ENV.Minister@gov.bc.ca

Dear Minister Heyman:

Re: Implementing a Province-wide Ban on Anticoagulant Rodenticides

As Mayor of the City of North Vancouver and on behalf of Council, I want to congratulate you on your
recent re-election and appointment to the Executive Council.

Despite the ongoing pandemic resulting from the novel coronavirus, we cannot slow down on our
response to the climate emergency. I’m encouraged by your background in solutions-oriented
negotiations and policy. Now more than ever we need bold, progressive action.

On the North Shore we have had several owls consume rat poison and become dangerously ill. The
use of anticoagulant rodenticides poses serious threats to B.C. wildlife and ecosystems through
primary and secondary poisoning of non-target species, and have the potential to harm children and
pets. To address this issue locally, Council passed a motion just prior to the 2020 Provincial election to
ban the use of anticoagulant rodenticides with in the City of North Vancouver.

The motion contained the following active clause:

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT the City of North Vancouver create a
formal ban on the use of anticoagulant rodenticides on all municipal property
and take advantage of opportunities to communicate alternative pest control
methods to residents and businesses;

AND THAT Council request that the Mayor write, on behalf of Council, to the
Province of BC requesting that the Province ban anticoagulant rodenticides,
and that letter be shared with all other local governments in BC.

I therefore humbly request that the Province consider a B.C.-wide ban and find new ways to address
the rodent population that does not threaten the wellbeing of other animals dwelling within urban
areas.

I appreciate your consideration. Please contact my staff at mayor@cnv.org if you require any
additional information.

Yours truly,

Mayor Linda Buchanan

c.c. Bowinn Ma, MLA North Vancouver-Lonsdale
All municipal Councils across B.C. via Clerks Departments

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 86 of 113

C1



Re:  Vaccination Priority for Essential Critical Infrastructure Municipal Employees 

Dear Minister Dix,  

In early December, the BC government announced they secured a minimal number of 
initial doses of the COVID-19 vaccine to distribute to those populations identified as the 
most vulnerable. In the following weeks, the government released a phased approach to 
administering the vaccine and listed the populations included in each phase. While the 
City of Nelson acknowledges the extraordinary amount of work the Province has put 
into developing the distribution process, we would like to request a review of the 
vaccine distribution priority lists to include essential critical infrastructure employees.  

The Province’s website outlines the specific groups that will be first and second priority 
for receiving the vaccine; the list does not include essential service providers such as 
water, IT, energy and utility workers. This does not appear to align with the 
recommendations from the National Advisory Committee on Immunization upon which 
the Province has developed its priorities for the first and second phase of vaccinations. 
The Committee has indicated municipal workers identified as ‘essential’ should be 
prioritized to maintain reliable operation of critical infrastructure services and functions.  

With COVID-19 cases circulating in rural communities, the risk of an outbreak causing 
the loss of key personnel trained to manage essential service delivery could exacerbate 
the current public health emergency. This would have a much larger impact in smaller 
communities, such as ours, as resources and appropriately trained personnel 
replacements are more challenging to access than in larger centers.   For example, the 
City of Nelson has five linemen that maintain our electrical distribution & transmission 
system that serves over 10,000 customers.  

…/2 

January 8, 2021 

Honourable Adrian Dix 
Minister of Health 
Government of British Columbia 

Delivered via email 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 87 of 113

C2



-2-

The City recognizes the number of vaccine doses and how they will be distributed 
throughout BC is a fragile and fluid process. We hope this request can be reviewed and 
addressed in time to include essential municipal critical infrastructure employees in the 
second priority group of the COVID-19 vaccine roll-out.  

We appreciate your timely consideration of this matter. 

John Dooley 
Mayor, City of Nelson 

Cc:  Premier John Horgan, Office of the Premier 
Hon. Josie Osborne, Minister of Municipal Affairs 
Brittny Anderson, MLA, Nelson-Creston 
Nelson City Council  
Union of BC Municipalities (UBCM)  
Association of Kootenay Boundary Local Governments (AKBLG) 
British Columbia Local Governments  

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 88 of 113



From: Heather Desarmia <heather desarmia@tcenergy.com> 

Sent: January 16, 2021 8:13 AM 

Subject: NGTL Notice of Application: Old Alaska No. 2 Receipt Meter Station 

Good morning, 

NOVA Gas Transmission Ltd. (NGTL), a wholly owned subsidiary of TransCanada Pipelines Limited 

(TCPL), an affiliate of TC Energy Corporation, notified you of its intent to construct, own and operate 

the Old Alaska No. 2 Receipt Meter Station (Project) in September 2020. The purpose of the Project is to 

meet the growing need for the transportation of natural gas. The proposed Project will be collocated 

with the existing Old Alaska Receipt on existing land within D-019-E/94-A-13, approximately 103 

kilometers north west of Fort St John, British Columbia. 

Meter stations are an important piece of infrastructure for a natural gas pipeline system. They are used 

to measure the volume and composition of natural gas transported through a pipeline. Construction of 

the proposed Project consists of the installation of a brownfield 662 Ultrasonic meter station. This will 

include the installation of a NPS 6 Ultrasonic meter run skid with meter building, instrument building, 

and 3 single length sour bottles. The station will consist of NPS 6 yard piping and will tie into the NPS 42 

North Montney Mainline Aitken Creek Section. Once constructed, the meter station will become a 

component of the NGTL System, a network of 24,012 km of pipeline that transports natural gas for use 

within Alberta and British Columbia and for delivery to other markets across North America. 

As required by the Canada Energy Regulator (CER) we are writing to advise you that the 

Project Application was filed on January 14, 2021. This application may be accessed on line in the CER's 

Regulatory Document Index at the following link: 

https://apps.cer-rec.gc.ca/REGDOCS/ltem/View/4034837 

The CER encourages stakeholders to submit any concerns about the Project as soon as possible and 

preferably within 14 days after the application has been filed. 

TC Energy is a leading North American energy infrastructure company with over 65 years of experience 

and has an industry leading safety record. We are committed to building and operating our natural gas 

system safely. From design and construction to operation and maintenance, safety is an integral part of 

everything we do. 

We strive to engage stakeholders early and often. We believe engagement is a two-way process and 

invite communities, landowners, and other interested stakeholders to share their questions and 

concerns with us so that we can provide information, follow up, and, where possible, incorporate input 

into our plans. Please do not hesitate to contact our Public Affairs department regarding the Project. 

Sincerely, 

Heather Desarmia 

Public Affairs Coordinator I British Columbia 

heather desarmia@tcenergy.com 

250 263 5299 

t:?) TC Energy

TCEnergy.com 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 89 of 113

C3



Natural gas 
meter stations. 

With more than 65 years' experience, TC Energy is a leader in the 

responsible development and reliable operation of North American 

energy infrastructure, including natural gas and liquids pipelines, 

power generation and gas storage facilities. 

Meter stations are an important piece of infrastructure for a 

natural gas pipeline system. They are used to measure the volume 

and composition of natural gas transported through a pipeline. 

About meter stations 

Meter stations perform the crucial function of measuring the 

amount of natural gas that enters and exits the pipeline so 

customers can reliably deliver and receive their scheduled 

volumes. Meter stations also ensure that the natural gas in the 

line meets pipeline specifications for quality. Meter stations 

are used at all locations where natural gas enters the pipeline 

(receipt meter station) or leaves the pipeline (delivery or sales 

meter station). 

In addition to receipt, delivery or sales meter stations, there 

are also many small delivery points called sales taps that 

provide natural gas to local distribution companies such as 

gas co-ops, which in turn provide natural gas to communities 

along the pipeline. 

A typical meter station site consists of a skid-mounted building 

that houses the meters and an instrument building. Associated 

piping connects the meter station to the underground natural 

gas pipeline. The size of the site varies based on the flow 

through the meter station. 

Meter station equipment communicates with TC Energy's 

Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) system. 

The SCADA system is connected to TC Energy's operations 

control centres located in Calgary, Houston and Mexico City, 

which monitor the pipeline system 24 hours a day. All natural 

gas received on the pipeline is monitored to ensure it meets 

TC Energy gas quality specifications. These are defined in the 

gas transportation tariff that is filed with the regulator. 

Meter stations are 11sed to meosure the 110/ume and composition of naturnlgas 
transported through a pipeline. 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 90 of 113



Safety factors 

Safety is the first consideration in planning and constructing 

a meter station. A number of safety systems are built into the 

stations to ensure the safety of the facility, the public, our 

employees and the environment. 

Safety is the first consideration in planning 
and constructing a meter station. 

Clean-up and reclamation 

Once construction has been completed, land required for 

ongoing operations, such as the surrounding site and access 

road, will be in most cases graveled, fenced and maintained 

throughout the life cycle of the facility. Land not required for 

operation will be reclaimed. 

I 

May 2019 (content October 2017) 

Operations 

Once the facilities have been constructed, there will be minimal 

impact to people and the environment throughout their 

operation. The facilities comply with federal and provincial 

regulations for operation of a meter station. For safety reasons, 

authorization from TC Energy is required prior to any ground 

disturbance within 30 metres of the area. 

Emergency preparedness and response 

TC Energy is a responsible company and is committed to 

the health and safety of the communities in which we operate. 

All facilities are designed, built and operated in a safe and 

environmentally responsible manner. In the unlikely event of an 

emergency, our comprehensive emergency response program 

would be activated. While we strive for zero safety incidents, 

we lrai11 our sL,lfl Lo k11ow exaclly wl1al Lo do ir1 Lhe eveI1l of aI1 

emergency - both during construction and ongoing operations. 

Our employees work with landowners and area emergency 

responders to protect the health, safety and welfare of people, 

property and the environment. 

TC Energy is a responsible company and is
committed to the health and safety of the 
communities in which we operate. 

Contact us 

TC Energy 7-800-661-3805 

TC Energy, Technology Management 

tech_ manage m ent@tcenergy.co m 

TCEnergy.com 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 91 of 113



Engaging 
with our 
stakeholders. 
With more tha11 65 years' exrierie1Ke, TC Energy is a leader in 

the responsible development and reliable operation of North 

American energy infrastructure including natural gas and liquids 

pipelines, power generation and gas storage facilities. We safely 

deliver the energy that millions of North Americans rely on every 

day to power their lives and fuel industry. 

Responsible stakeholder and 

rightsho!der engagement 

Guided by our values of safety, responsibility, collaboration 

and integrity, we are proud of the positive relationships 

we have built with our neighbours for the last 65 years. We 

recognize that ensuring Indigenous groups, as rightsholders, 

and our stakeholders are engaged and respected is critical to 

TC EI1ergy's success. 

We are committed to sharing information and seeking public 

input which results in better plans - for us, stakeholders, 

rights holders and communities as a whole. We document the 

entire stakeholder engagement process including the issues 

raised by stakeholders and rightsholders, along with the ways 

we address these issues. 

Commitment to engagement 
and addressing concerns 

Our approach to consultation and engagement with 

stakeholders, landowners, and Indigenous groups is focused 

on understanding concerns and addressing issues related to 

our projects and operations. We engage and consult early and 

often, invite feedback, provide updates and address concerns 

throughout the regulatory process and throughout operations. 

Our preference for addressing concerns is through direct and 

respectful discussion Issues received or identified duri11g these 

discussions are systematically tracked and followed to promote 

mutual resolution. If mutual resolution is not achievable, parties 

may consider use of the Canada Energy Regulator's (CER) 

collaborative Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) process. 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 92 of 113



Engaging Indigenous groups 

Building and maintaining relationships with Indigenous groups 

near our proposed projects and existing facilities has long 

been an integral part of our business. We recognize Indigenous 

groups as rightsholders who have a distinct relationship with the 

land. We know that our activities have the potential to affect 

the lives of Indigenous groups in a tangible way. 

We work closely with Indigenous groups to understand the 

potential effects of the project on the exercise of Indigenous 

rights and any other interests of Indigenous peoples in the 

project area. The information we work with Indigenous groups 

to collect is considered in the project planning process and 

evaluated by provincial and federal authorities, including the 

CER, as part of their regulatory review. 

We aim to conduct our activities in a way that fosters mutual 

understanding and benefit - this includes working with 

communities to identify and manage potential effects of 

our activities and provide enduring economic opportunities. 

TC Energy also provides business, employment, training 

opportunities, and supports community-led initiatives 

of Indigenous groups that focus on safety, community, 

environment and education. 

Community benefits 

Our projects offer long-term economic benefits and help 

strengthen the economy on a local, provincial and national level: 

• Employment and business opportunities - Construction

requires the services of equipment operators, welders,

mechanics, truck drivers, labourers, and more, as well

as creates demand for local goods and services. Vendors

interested in working with us can visit TCEnergy.com to
register as an interested local service provider. We award

contracts to qualified pipeline construction contractors and

work with them to provide local employment opportunities.

• Annual revenue to support local services - Project

construction results in tax payments to all levels of

government. When the project is operational, annual tax

payments help support schools, hospitals, emergency services

and other local programs vital to communities.

• Investment in local communities and Indigenous groups
- Giving back to the communities where we operate has

always been part of our culture. Whether it's partnering with

community groups, supporting local initiatives or encouraging

our employees to be involved in their neighbourhoods, the

goal of our Build Strong community investment program is to

build strong and vibrant communities across North America.

Visit TCEnergy.com/BuildStrong for more information.

Managing our environmental footprint 

Whether it's designing, building, or operating energy 

infrastructure, we are committed to being responsible 

environmental stewards on the land we share - and our 

environmental principles of stewardship, protection and 

performance help guide our decisions. As part of our 

commitment, and in support of the regulatory process, 

we assess potential effects that may be associated with 

construction and operation of a proposed project. Some 

examples of possible effects associated with meter station, 

compressor station or pipeline projects include potential effects 

to soil, water, fish, and wildlife, air quality, and noise. 

The Environmental and Socio-Economic Assessment 

prepared for a proposed project considers potential effects 

on communities and groups whose interests may inform 

our planning process, including the potential for a project 

to impact diverse groups of people. We propose mitigation 

and enhancement measures and evaluate the significance of 

residual effects once these measures are implemented An 

Environmental Protection Plan is also developed to identify 

the necessary measures to be used during construction, and 

the best practices we use to guide operations of the assets 

throughout their life cycle to manage effects and maintain 

equivalent land capability. 

Route selection 

TC Energy employs a systematic and thorough route selection 

process using a variety of considerations, such as: 

• desktop studies

• helicopter surveys

• ground verification and on-the-ground field survey

• engineering, geotechnical and environmental field studies
• co-location of the pipeline along existing disturbances and

corridors to minimize new footprint

Route selection takes into account the objectives of minimizing 

the total route length or land requirements, meeting applicable 

regulatory requirements and reducing the environmental 

footprint , while carefully assessing overall construction 

complexity and our ability to meet customer needs. 

Feedback received through stakeholder, landowner and 

Indigenous engagement informs the assessment of proposed 

routes and sites. 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 93 of 113



What to expect during and after construction 

The planning that goes into the construction and operation of 
our pipeline projects reflects commitments we've made and 

conditions we receive during the regulatory review process. 

We track and report our progress on regulatory conditions with 
the CER and follow up on the commitments we've made to 

honour the relationships we've built with Indigenous groups, 
communities and landowners. 

During pipeline construction there is an increase in traffic in and 

around the project area as well as heavy equipment onsite for 
earthworks, material handling/hauling, welding and testing. We 

adhere to construction plans and the Environmental Protection 

Plan to ensure that the impacts of construction activities on 
communities are minimized. 

Many of our projects include the use of temporary work space 
and, if required, workforce accommodations are built to support 

construction. If our plans include these features, we begin the 
conversation with potentially affected stakeholders early on to 
hear and understand community interests. 

Access to-and-from site is planned based on a number of factors 

including finding the safest and most efficient routes to our 

work site, existing infrastructure, new infrastructure required to 
support construction and municipal planning. Access planning 

is refined throughout project development and final plans are 

communicated to communities prior to starting work. 

Once construction is completed, the impacted land area 

- including our temporary work space and workforce
accommodation areas - is reclaimed to an equivalent land

capability so that it can support various uses such as wildlife

habitat or agricultural purposes, similar to the ability that existed
previously. Measures are taken to prevent topsoil/surface material

loss from wind and water erosion and to establish a vegetative
cover native to the surrounding vegetation and land use. After

the facilities are constructed, there will be minimal traffic
associated with ongoing operations and maintenance.

On freehold lands, landowners have the right to fully use 
and enjoy the right of way subject to the terms of the 

right-of-way agreement, and CER and Damage Prevention 
Regulations. To provide public safety and to protect property 

and the environment, written consent from TC Energy is 

required for certain activities 011 the pipeline right of way 
and within the 30-metre prescribed area. These activities 

include but are not limited to: operating motor vehicles or 

mobile equipment, reducing or adding soil cover and any 
excavation or ground disturbance. Stakeholders may contact 

TC Energy with at least 10 working days' notice to apply for 

written consent at writtenconsent.transcanada.com. After 
written consent has been received, request a locate by visiting 

ClickBeforeYouDig.com or calling the appropriate provincial 
One-Call Centre. 

At the end of a pipeline's lifecycle, the asset is taken out 

of service with as much thought and care as when it was 
proposed and constructed. We follow the Canada Energy 
Regulator's processes for end-of-life planning. More information 

about pipeline end-of-life is available on our website at 
TCEnergy.com/about/energy-101/lifecycle-of-a-pipeline. 

Ensuring our pipelines are safe 

Our safety program starts before construction. We use only 

high-quality materials, the latest proven technologies and 
industry-leading practices to ensure the integrity of our 
pipelines before they go in the ground. We are a leader in North 

America in the use of automatic welding and ultrasonic testing 
technologies to construct pipelines. These technologies ensure 
high quality welds are made and every weld is inspected by 

qualified independent inspectors during construction. Prior to 
placing a pipeline in service, it is hydrostatically tested with 
water at a higher pressure than it will see during operations. In 

addition, pipeline inspection tools with high resolution sensors 
are run through the pipeline to check for any other irregularities 
prior to flowi11g natural gas. 

Once operational, we use state-of-the-art leak detection 

systems, safety features such as shut-off valves and provide 
highly specialized training for people working on our assets. 
Our pipeline systems are monitored 24 hours a day, 365 days a 
year by trained operators in our Operations Control Centres who 
manage the most sophisticated pipeline monitoring equipment 

and technology available. Our industry-leading asset integrity 
programs manage our pipeline and facilities for their entire 
life cycle to ensure they provide safe and reliable energy to 

consumers throughout North America. 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 94 of 113



Emergency preparedness and response 

Our goal is to ensure that our pipeline and energy facilities 
operate safely every day and that the public, our employees, 
and the environment are protected during the unlikely event 
of incident involving our assets. All TC Energy safety initiatives 
are designed to advance one goal: Zero is Real. We are proud 
to have an industry leading safety record and continue to work 
towards our goal of zero safety incidents. Being prepared for 
the rare cases when something does go wrong is part of the 
commitment to ensuring the safety of the communities where 
we live and operate. 

At the first sign of any potential issue on our pipeline systems. 
our control centre operators can stop the flow of product 
through the pipeline in minutes and investigate. If an irregular 
condition is detected, pipeline operators immediately dispatch 
emergency personnel to the scene to investigate. The pipeline 
is not restarted until it has been confirmed on site by qualified 
personnel that it is safe to do so. 

In the unlikely event of an incident, all our assets have specific 
Emergency Response Plans that outlines the steps we'll take to 
respond. Our Emergency Preparedness and Response team is 
focused on quickly and effectively responding to emergencies 
and mitigating any impacts that may have occurred to public 
safety, property or the environment in a timely manner. 

If there is an incident, we work closely with authorities, 
emergency responders and the media to ensure local residents 
are safe and aware of the situation. 

In the event of an emergency, please contact TC Energy's 
24-hour emergency line at 1-888-982-7222.

Find out more by visiting TCEnergy.com. 
Contact us 

Contact us with any questions: 

Phone 1-855-895-8754 
Email public_affa irs_ca@tcenergy.com 

Web TCEnergy.com 

Or write to us: 

TC Energy 

450 -1 Street S.W. Calgary, Alberta 
Canada, T2P 5H1 

For further information regarding the CER's processes, 
please contact us or contact the regulator directly: 

Canada Energy Regulator 

Suite 210, 517 - 10 Avenue S.W. Calgary, Alberta 
Canada, T2R OAS 

Phone 1-800-899-1265 
Web www.cer-rec.gc.ca 

Email info@cer-rec.gc.ca 

Vendors 

Vendors interested in working with us can visit TCEnergy.com 
to register as an interested local service provider. 

TCEnergy.com /operations/ vendors/ 

TC Energy periodically provides information beginning at the early stages of project development including prospecting, continuing throughout the life of assets. 
The information provided is intended to give people the opportunity for meaningful input and inform stakeholders of our proposed activities. Please be aware that 
as planning progresses, new information becomes available and details may change from the time of this printing. Please contact TC Energy any questions. TC Energy 
follows the Official Languages Act and respects your choice to receive relevant information from us in English or in French. Please contact us if you prefer to receive 
French-language materials and updates. 

November 2019 
Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 95 of 113



Safety is everyone's 
responsibility 

Safety is everyone's responsibility. For us, it is our 

job. Protecting you and the environment is the CER's 

priority. Here are a few things you should know. 

Damage prevention: If you live or work near a pipeline, 

find out how to safely do your activities. Before you 

dig near a pipeline, get the company's consent. Visit 

clickbeforeyoudig.com to locate buried pipelines or 

utility lines. 

Compliance and enforcement CER inspection 

officers regularly go out into the field to verify and enforce 

requirements and standards in place to keep people and 

the environment protected. 

Emergency management: In an emergency, we 

make sure companies respond in a way that protects 

people, property, and the environment. We expect them 

to take the action needed to stop spills, manage the 

incident, and clean up and pay for any damage done. 

l♦I 
Canada Energy 
Regulalor 

RElgie de l'Elnergie 
du Canada 

Find out more 

••• 
Canada Energy 
Regulator 

Regie de l'E!nergie 
du Canada 

The CER, Energy 
Projects, and You 

Canada 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 96 of 113



The Canada Energy 

Regulator (GER) oversees 

federally regulated pipelines, 

power lines, and offshore 

renewable energy projects. 

When you hear from a 

company about a project 

being proposed on your 

land, you may have 

questions and concerns. 

We understand. 

Explore the topics from this 

brochure on our website, 

www.cer-rec.gc.ca. 

Simply search for the bolded 

words for more information and 

italicized words for forms and 

templates. 

• CER project review
- be heard

Before the company can build or abandon a 

federally regulated pipeline, power line, or offshore 

renewable energy project, it must apply to the CEA. 
We will review and assess the proposed project, 

including the company's engagement activities 

and potential effects on people, property, and 

the environment. 

Statement of concern: We rely on you to bring 

forward your concerns and views. If you have 

concerns about a project, you can send us a 

Statement of Concern within 30 days of being 

notified that the company has filed an application. 

Your concerns will guide the CER in planning 

its review. 

Projects and hearings: The GER may hold a 

public hearing for facilities applications. If you 

have questions about the hearing process, 

contact a process advisor. 

A CER processes in
V place to help you 

Land Matters Advisory Service: If you have 
questions about land matters with respect to 
GER-regulated energy projects and processes, 

email LMAS@cer-rec.gc.ca. 

Alternative dispute resolution: Any time 

during the life of a project, if you are unable to 

resolve concerns directly with the company, you 

can email ADR-RED@cer-rec.gc.ca to ask a 

specialist to work with you and the company to 

find solutions. 

Complaint resolution: If you are unable to 

resolve an issue with a GER-regulated company, 

facility, or activity on lands you use or own, you 

can send us a completed Complaint Form. 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 97 of 113



TC Energy 

450 - 1 Street S.W. Calgary, AB  

Canada, T2P 5H1 

Tel: 403-920-7370   Fax: 403-920-2334 

princerupertgas@transcanada.com 

January 15, 2021 

District of Hudson's Hope 
Box 330, 9904 Dudley Drive 
Hudson's Hope, BC V0C 1V0  
cao@hudsonshope.ca  

RE: NOTIFICATION LETTER 
Prince Rupert Gas Transmission Project (“the Project”) 
Permit Extension Application  
Location: Section 1 from c-27-I, 94-B-1 to b-89-C, 93-O-10 
File Number: 130316 
Disposition:  Municipality – District of Hudson’s Hope (ID 02019 / 03020 / 04034 / 

05023 / 06039 / 07022 / 08020 / 09015) 
Institutional Lease - Miscellaneous 0302366 (ID 04025) 

This letter is to advise you that in compliance with Section 32 (3) of the Oil and Gas Activities Act 
(OGAA) Prince Rupert Gas Transmission Project (PRGT) intends to submit a permit extension 
application to the BC Oil and Gas Commission (the Commission). This permit was previously 
applied for in 2014, approved in 2015 and there are no changes to the pipeline project and its 
relationship to your land interest.  This is only an application to extend the permit expiry date. 
Your interest in relation to the Project is shown on the enclosed map with the ID number noted 
above. 

PRGT has approval to construct and operate a sweet natural gas pipeline and associated 
facilities, approximately 900 km in length, starting from the area near the community of Hudson’s 
Hope, BC. to the proposed Pacific Northwest LNG liquefied natural gas export facility on Lelu 
Island, near Port Edward, BC. The current permit approval will expire on May 6, 2021, and will be 
renewed for a total of one year.  

Should you have any questions regarding this application, please do not hesitate to contact one 
of the following representatives. 

Company Contact 

Any questions or objections regarding this project can be directed to the following personnel: 

Tammy Dickson – Project Coordinator (Land) Roy Northern Land & Environmental 

Email: tammy.dickson@roynorthern.com Phone: 250-261-2300 

Sheri Wannamaker – Senior Land Rep  Prince Rupert Gas Transmission Limited 
Partnership 

Email: sheri_wannamaker@tcenergy.com Phone: 403-920-3767 

Sincerely, 

Sheri Wannamaker 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 98 of 113

C4

mailto:cao@hudsonshope.ca
mailto:tammy.dickson@roynorthern.com
mailto:sheri_wannamaker@tcenergy.com


XW

XW

XW

XW

XW XW

XW

S 1
/2 O

F
DL

 80
2

PE
AC

E R
IVE

R

PC
LA

(P1
961

)
OF

DL
123

9
PE

AC
ER

IVE
R

DL
 80

3
PE

AC
E

RIV
ER

DL
 17

84
PE

AC
E

RIV
ER

BK
AD

L8
02

PE
AC

ER
IVE

R

PC
LA

(R2
806

8)D
L

123
2P

EA
CE

RIV
ER

EX
CP

L1
839

8

NW
 1/4

 OF
DL

 12
27

PE
AC

E R
IVE

R

W 
1/2

 OF
DL

 12
44

PE
AC

E R
IVE

R

DL
 12

43
PE

AC
E

RIV
ER

0.2
50k

m

PR
OP

OS
ED

PIP
EL

IN
E 

RO
UT

E

0.4
50k

m

02
01

6

02
02

8
02

02
9

02
03

0
02

03
1

02
01

4

02
01

5

02
01

1

02
01

2

02
01

8

02
01

9

02
00

6

02
00

4

02
00

2

02
00

3

02
00

1

02
00

8

02
00

5

02
00

7

02
00

9

02
01

0

02
01

7

02
02

0

02
01

3

03
00

2
03

03
0

01
02

7
01

02
9

02
02

1
02

02
2

02
02

3

02
02

5

02
02

4

02
02

6

02
02

7

03
02

9

Haagsman St

Be
ry

l P
rai

rie
 R

d

5+
00

0.0
(90

03
) 6+

00
0.0

(90
03

)

7+
00

0.0
(90

03
)

8+
00

0.0
(90

03
)

9+
00

0.0
(90

03
)

Ma
tch

lin
e

Ma
tch

lin
e

>

! !

.2 3

>

! !

.1 2

55
8,0

00

55
8,0

00

56
0,0

00

56
0,0

00

56
2,0

00

56
2,0

00

56
4,0

00

56
4,0

00

6,220,000

6,220,000

6,222,000

6,222,000

S
C

A
L

E
 1

:2
0
,0

0
0

(N
A

D
 1

9
8

3
 U

T
M

 Z
O

N
E

 1
0

N
)

0
5
0

0
1
,0

0
0

1
,5

0
0

2
,0

0
0

2
5

0

m

PR
OP

OS
ED

 PI
PE

LIN
E R

OU
TE

 FR
OM

 c-
27

-I, 
94

-B
-1 

TO
 b-

89
-C

, 9
3-O

-10
(O

GC
 PE

RM
IT 

SE
CT

IO
N 

1 P
ER

MI
T #

 97
08

45
6)

KP
 0+

00
0.0

 TO
 K

P 1
24

+9
99

.6

1:2
0,0

00
 N

OT
IFI

CA
TIO

N 
MA

P

B.
C.

G.
S.:

 94
A.

00
1, 

94
B.

01
0/.

02
0, 

93
O.

05
6/.

05
7/.

06
7/.

06
8/.

07
8/.

07
9/.

08
0/.

09
0/.

10
0, 

93
P.0

91

N
a
s
s
 A

re
a

EN
VI

RO
NM

EN
TA

L

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n

 A
re

a

V
e
h

ic
le

 C
lo

s
u
re

 
A

re
a

P
ro

te
c
te

d
 A

re
a
/

E
c
o

lo
g
ic

a
l 
R

e
s
e

rv
e

M
u

s
k
w

a
-K

e
c
h

ik
a

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 
A

re
a

O
ld

 G
ro

w
th

  
M

a
n

a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
A

re
a

FO
RE

ST
RY

C
u
tb

lo
c
k

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 F

o
re

s
ts

W
o
o
d
lo

ts

F
o

re
s
t 
C

o
v
e

r
  
R

e
s
e
rv

e

T
re

e
 F

a
rm

 L
ic

e
n
c
e

N
is

g
a
'a

 L
a

n
d
s

MU
NI

CI
PA

L

F
ir
s
t 
N

a
ti
o

n
s
 R

e
s
e
rv

e

L
a
rg

e
 M

u
n
ic

ip
a
lit

y

P
a
rc

e
l

M
u

n
ic

ip
a
lit

y

V
ill

a
g
e

 L
a
n

d
s

PR
OJ

EC
T F

EA
TU

RE
S

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 P

ip
e
lin

e
  
C

e
n

tr
e
lin

e

N
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o

n
 Z

o
n
e

MI
SC

EL
LA

NE
OU

S

M
in

e
ra

l 
R

e
s
e

rv
e

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n

 
P

ro
te

c
te

d

S
it
e
 "

C
" 

H
C

A
P

e
rm

it

M
in

e
ra

l 
T
e
n
u
re

C
o
a
l 
T
e
n
u

re

G
u
id

e
/O

u
tf
it
te

r

T
ra

p
p

e
r

G
ra

z
in

g
 T

e
n

u
re

CR
OW

N 
TE

NU
RE

S
W

a
te

rp
o
w

e
r

W
in

d
p
o

w
e

r

A
g

ri
c
u
lt
u

re

E
n

v,
 C

o
n
s
e
rv

. 
&

 R
e
c
.

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l

C
o
m

m
u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n

W
a

te
rs

h
e
d

U
ti
lit

y

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

a
ti
o

n

E
le

c
tr

ic
 P

o
w

e
r 

L
in

e

Q
u
a
rr

y
in

g

OI
L A

ND
 G

AS

P
ip

e
lin

e

G
ro

u
n

d
 D

is
tu

rb
a

n
c
e

/
L
e
a

s
e
s

TR
AN

SP
OR

TA
TIO

N
H

ig
h

w
a
y

H
ig

h
g
ra

d
e
 G

ra
v
e
l 

L
o
w

g
ra

d
e
 G

ra
v
e

l 

W
a
te

r 
W

o
rk

s

F
o

re
s
tr

y
 R

o
a
d

C
u
tl
in

e
/T

ra
il

W
in

te
r 

R
o
a

d

P
a
v
e
d
 R

o
a
d

R
e
c
 T

ra
il

R
e
s
id

e
n
c
e

8
T
ra

p
p

e
r 

C
a
b

in
²³

T
e

m
p

o
ra

ry
 P

e
rm

it
#*

CR
OW

N 
GR

AN
TS

A
g

ri
c
u
lt
u

re

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
lq

D
IS

C
L

A
IM

E
R

: 
T

h
e

 d
a

ta
 c

o
n

ta
in

e
d

 h
e

re
in

 w
a

s
 c

o
m

p
ile

d
 f

ro
m

 t
h

ir
d

 p
a

rt
y
 s

o
u

rc
e

s
 a

n
d
 G

e
o
V

e
rr

a
 S

u
rv

e
y
s
 (

B
C

) 
L

im
it
e

d
 P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 a

n
d

 i
ts

 e
m

p
lo

y
e

e
s
 t

a
k
e

 n
o

re
s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it
y
 f

o
r 

th
e

 a
c
c
u

ra
c
y
 o

r 
c
o

m
p
le

te
n

e
s
s
 o

f 
th

is
 i
n
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
.

S
H

E
E

T
: 

 2
 o

f 
2

0

C
H

E
C

K
E

D
: 

 T
B

IM
A

G
E

:

201
3

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
: 
L
L
W

A
F

E
:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

R
e
v
is

io
n

 D
e
s
c
ri
p

ti
o

n
D

a
te

R
e
v

G
E

O
V

E
R

R
A

 F
IL

E
 N

O
.:

 1
3
0
2

7
5
C

M
0
1
R

1
4

_
2
o
f2

0
.m

x
d

JO
B 

NO
.: 0

1
0
0
4

2
3
4
9

$14

D
A

T
E

: 
  
 J

a
n
. 
0
7

, 
2
0
2

1

R
O

U
T

E
 R

E
F

 N
O

.:
  
9
0
0

6

R
E

F
 D

W
G

 N
O

.:
 1

3
0

2
7
5
C

O
N

0
1

-R
E

V
0
0
.d

w
g

C
L
IE

N
T

 F
IL

E
 N

O
.:
 

1
3

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

0
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
2

0

1
1

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
9

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

8

1
2

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
5

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

9

1
4

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

0
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
2

1

1
0

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

8

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 99 of 113



XW XW

XW XW

XW

XW

XW

NW
 1/4

 OF
DL

 12
15

PE
AC

E R
IVE

R

SW
 1/4

 OF
DL

 12
27

PE
AC

E R
IVE

R

PC
LA

(R3
203

2)
OF

DL
122

0
PE

AC
ER

IVE
R

DL
 94

9
PE

AC
E

RIV
ER

DL
 17

86 
PE

AC
E R

IVE
R

EX
C T

HE
 MO

ST
 W

LY
 80

FT
 & 

TH
E M

OS
T S

LY
 80

FT
 IN

 PA
RL

 W
IDT

HS

N 1
/2 O

F
DL

 12
08

PE
AC

E R
IVE

R

DL
178

4
PE

AC
E

RIV
ER DL

 17
85

PE
AC

E
RIV

ER

S 1
/2 O

F D
L

121
5 P

EA
CE

 RI
VE

R
EX

C P
L 1

722
2

DL
 96

2 P
EA

CE
 RI

VE
R

0.2
50k

m PR
OP

OS
ED

PIP
EL

IN
E 

RO
UT

E

0.4
50k

m

04
01

5

03
02

9

03
01

8

03
02

2

03
02

3

03
01

9

03
01

3

03
00

8

03
00

4

03
00

6

03
00

3

03
00

7

03
01

0

03
00

1

03
00

5

03
00

9

03
00

2

03
01

1

03
01

2

03
02

0

03
02

1

03
01

7

03
01

5

03
01

4

03
01

6

04
00

1

03
02

7

03
02

802
02

9

03
02

403
02

5

03
02

6

Boring Rd

St
ow

e R
d

We
ge

n R
d

Beryl Prairie Rd

9+
00

0.0
(90

03
)

10
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

11
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

12
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

13
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

14
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

Ma
tch

lin
e

Ma
tch

lin
e

>

! !

.3 4

>

! !

.2 3

55
8,0

00

55
8,0

00

56
0,0

00

56
0,0

00

56
2,0

00

56
2,0

00

56
4,0

00

56
4,0

00

6,214,000

6,214,000

6,216,000

6,216,000

6,218,000

6,218,000

S
C

A
L

E
 1

:2
0
,0

0
0

(N
A

D
 1

9
8

3
 U

T
M

 Z
O

N
E

 1
0

N
)

0
5
0

0
1
,0

0
0

1
,5

0
0

2
,0

0
0

2
5

0

m

D
IS

C
L

A
IM

E
R

: 
T

h
e

 d
a

ta
 c

o
n

ta
in

e
d

 
h

e
re

in
 
w

a
s
 
c
o

m
p

il
e

d
 f

ro
m

 
th

ir
d

 
p

a
rt

y
 s

o
u

rc
e

s
 
a
n

d
 
G

e
o

V
e

rr
a

 
S

u
rv

e
y
s
 
(B

C
) 

L
im

it
e

d
 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h
ip

 
a

n
d

 
it
s
 
e

m
p

lo
y
e

e
s
 
ta

k
e

 
n

o
re

s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it
y
 f

o
r 

th
e

 a
c
c
u

ra
c
y
 o

r 
c
o

m
p
le

te
n

e
s
s
 o

f 
th

is
 i
n
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
.

PR
OP

OS
ED

 PI
PE

LIN
E R

OU
TE

 FR
OM

 c-
27

-I, 
94

-B
-1 

TO
 b-

89
-C

, 9
3-O

-10
(O

GC
 PE

RM
IT 

SE
CT

IO
N 

1 P
ER

MI
T #

 97
08

45
6)

KP
 0+

00
0.0

 TO
 K

P 1
24

+9
99

.6

1:2
0,0

00
 N

OT
IFI

CA
TIO

N 
MA

P

B.
C.

G.
S.:

 94
A.

00
1, 

94
B.

01
0/.

02
0, 

93
O.

05
6/.

05
7/.

06
7/.

06
8/.

07
8/.

07
9/.

08
0/.

09
0/.

10
0, 

93
P.0

91

N
a
s
s
 A

re
a

EN
VI

RO
NM

EN
TA

L

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n

 A
re

a

V
e
h

ic
le

 C
lo

s
u
re

 
A

re
a

P
ro

te
c
te

d
 A

re
a
/

E
c
o

lo
g
ic

a
l 
R

e
s
e

rv
e

M
u

s
k
w

a
-K

e
c
h

ik
a

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 
A

re
a

O
ld

 G
ro

w
th

  
M

a
n

a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
A

re
a

FO
RE

ST
RY

C
u
tb

lo
c
k

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 F

o
re

s
ts

W
o
o
d
lo

ts

F
o

re
s
t 
C

o
v
e

r
  
R

e
s
e
rv

e

T
re

e
 F

a
rm

 L
ic

e
n
c
e

N
is

g
a
'a

 L
a

n
d
s

MU
NI

CI
PA

L

F
ir
s
t 
N

a
ti
o

n
s
 R

e
s
e
rv

e

L
a
rg

e
 M

u
n
ic

ip
a
lit

y

P
a
rc

e
l

M
u

n
ic

ip
a
lit

y

V
ill

a
g
e

 L
a
n

d
s

PR
OJ

EC
T F

EA
TU

RE
S

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 P

ip
e
lin

e
  
C

e
n

tr
e
lin

e

N
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o

n
 Z

o
n
e

MI
SC

EL
LA

NE
OU

S

M
in

e
ra

l 
R

e
s
e

rv
e

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n

 
P

ro
te

c
te

d

S
it
e
 "

C
" 

H
C

A
P

e
rm

it

M
in

e
ra

l 
T
e
n
u
re

C
o
a
l 
T
e
n
u

re

G
u
id

e
/O

u
tf
it
te

r

T
ra

p
p

e
r

G
ra

z
in

g
 T

e
n

u
re

CR
OW

N 
TE

NU
RE

S
W

a
te

rp
o
w

e
r

W
in

d
p
o

w
e

r

A
g

ri
c
u
lt
u

re

E
n

v,
 C

o
n
s
e
rv

. 
&

 R
e
c
.

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l

C
o
m

m
u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n

W
a

te
rs

h
e
d

U
ti
lit

y

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

a
ti
o

n

E
le

c
tr

ic
 P

o
w

e
r 

L
in

e

Q
u
a
rr

y
in

g

OI
L A

ND
 G

AS

P
ip

e
lin

e

G
ro

u
n

d
 D

is
tu

rb
a

n
c
e

/
L
e
a

s
e
s

TR
AN

SP
OR

TA
TIO

N
H

ig
h

w
a
y

H
ig

h
g
ra

d
e
 G

ra
v
e
l 

L
o
w

g
ra

d
e
 G

ra
v
e

l 

W
a
te

r 
W

o
rk

s

F
o

re
s
tr

y
 R

o
a
d

C
u
tl
in

e
/T

ra
il

W
in

te
r 

R
o
a

d

P
a
v
e
d
 R

o
a
d

R
e
c
 T

ra
il

R
e
s
id

e
n
c
e

8
T
ra

p
p

e
r 

C
a
b

in
²³

T
e

m
p

o
ra

ry
 P

e
rm

it
#*

CR
OW

N 
GR

AN
TS

A
g

ri
c
u
lt
u

re

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
lq

S
H

E
E

T
: 

 3
 o

f 
2

0

C
H

E
C

K
E

D
: 

 T
B

IM
A

G
E

:

201
3

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
: 
L
L
W

A
F

E
:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

R
e
v
is

io
n

 D
e
s
c
ri
p

ti
o

n
D

a
te

R
e
v

G
E

O
V

E
R

R
A

 F
IL

E
 N

O
.:

 1
3
0
2

7
5
C

M
0
1
R

1
4

_
3
o
f2

0
.m

x
d

JO
B 

NO
.: 0

1
0
0
4

2
3
4
9

$14

D
A

T
E

: 
  
 J

a
n
. 
0
7

, 
2
0
2

1

R
O

U
T

E
 R

E
F

 N
O

.:
  
9
0
0

6

R
E

F
 D

W
G

 N
O

.:
 1

3
0

2
7
5
C

O
N

0
1

-R
E

V
0
0
.d

w
g

C
L
IE

N
T

 F
IL

E
 N

O
.:
 

1
3

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

0
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
2

0

1
1

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
9

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

8

1
2

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
5

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

9

1
4

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

0
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
2

1

1
0

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

8

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 100 of 113



XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

RE
M D

L
109

0

NE
 1/4

 OF
DL

 10
94

PE
AC

E R
IVE

R

BK
 B 

DL
109

1 P
EA

CE
RIV

ER
SW

 1/4
 OF

 DL
 10

91
PE

AC
E R

IVE
R E

XC
FIR

ST
LY

 TH
E M

OS
T

W 
80 

FT
 SE

CO
ND

LY
PT

 SU
BD

IVI
DE

D
BY

 PL
 BC

P3
485

2

E1
/2 O

F
NE

1/4
DL

 10
90

N 1
/2 O

F
DL

 12
08

PE
AC

E R
IVE

R

W1
/2 O

F
NW

1/4
DL

 10
91

NW
1/4

DL
 12

03

L 2
3 D

L 1
203

PE
AC

E R
IVE

R
PL

 19
875

SE
1/4

DL
 12

03

BK
AD

L
109

1P
EA

CE
RIV

ER

SW
 1/4

 OF
 DL

 10
91

PE
AC

E R
IVE

R E
XC

FIR
ST

LY
 TH

E M
OS

T
W 

80 
FT

 SE
CO

ND
LY

PT
 SU

BD
IVI

DE
D

BY
 PL

 BC
P3

485
2

L 1
 DL

 10
91

PE
AC

E R
IVE

R
PL

 BC
P3

485
2

SW
 1/4

 DL
120

8 P
EA

CE
RIV

ER

BK
 3 D

L 1
202

 PE
AC

E
RIV

ER
 PL

 14
839

 EX
C

PL
S 1

682
0 &

 PG
P3

675
2

SW
1/4

DL
 12

03

L 1
 DL

 12
02

PE
AC

E R
IVE

R
PL

 16
820

RE
M D

L
109

0

DL
 96

2
PE

AC
E

RIV
ER DL

 12
04

W 
1/2

 OF
 TH

E S
E

1/4
 OF

 DL
 12

08
PE

AC
E R

IVE
R

BK
 C 

DL
 10

90
 PE

AC
E R

IVE
R

PR
OP

OS
ED

PIP
EL

IN
E

RO
UT

E

0.4
50k

m

0.250km

PR
OP

OS
ED

PIP
EL

IN
E 

RO
UT

E

0.450km

0.2
50k

m

04
02

6

SE
E 

IN
SE

T A

04
01

5

04
01

6

04
04

4 04
04

5
04

04
6

04
02

0

05
02

8

05
02

9

04
04

1

04
07

0

04
07

1

04
07

2

04
07

3
04

02
2

04
03

0

04
03

6

04
03

7

04
03

1

04
03

3

03
02

3

04
03

4

04
02

4

04
02

3

04
02

1

04
02

7

04
02

9

04
01

8

04
01

9

04
02

8

04
01

3

04
00

9
04

01
0

04
00

1

04
01

1

04
01

4

04
00

3

04
00

4

04
00

6

04
01

2

04
01

4
04

01
3

04
00

2

04
00

7
04

00
5

04
00

8

04
01

7

04
03

2
04

03
5

04
02

5

05
01

9

05
01

4

05
01

0

05
02

0

05
00

1

05
00

5

05
00

3

05
00

2

05
00

7

05
01

8
05

02
5

05
01

7

05
02

6

04
06

8
04

06
9

04
04

3

04
03

8 04
03

9

04
04

2

04
04

0

04
06

4

04
06

1

05
03

8

05
03

1
05

03
0

05
03

5

Co
uls

on
 R

d

Dr
ew

Rd
(13

7th
Av

e)

Ca
ny

on
 D

r

Summer Rd

Beryl Prairie Rd

BerylPrairieRd

14
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

15
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

16
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

17
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

18
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

19
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

20
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

21
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

>

! !

.3 4

>

! !

.4 5

Ma
tch

lin
e

Ma
tch

lin
e

55
6,0

00

55
6,0

00

55
8,0

00

55
8,0

00

56
0,0

00

56
0,0

00

56
2,0

00

56
2,0

00

6,210,000

6,210,000

6,212,000

6,212,000

S
C

A
L

E
 1

:2
0
,0

0
0

(N
A

D
 1

9
8

3
 U

T
M

 Z
O

N
E

 1
0

N
)

0
5
0

0
1
,0

0
0

1
,5

0
0

2
,0

0
0

2
5

0

m

D
IS

C
L

A
IM

E
R

: 
T

h
e

 d
a

ta
 c

o
n

ta
in

e
d

 h
e

re
in

 w
a

s
 c

o
m

p
ile

d
 f

ro
m

 t
h

ir
d

 p
a

rt
y
 s

o
u

rc
e

s
 a

n
d
 G

e
o
V

e
rr

a
 S

u
rv

e
y
s
 (

B
C

) 
L

im
it
e

d
 P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 a

n
d

 i
ts

 e
m

p
lo

y
e

e
s
 t

a
k
e

 n
o

re
s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it
y
 f

o
r 

th
e

 a
c
c
u

ra
c
y
 o

r 
c
o

m
p
le

te
n

e
s
s
 o

f 
th

is
 i
n
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
.

1:2
0,0

00
 N

OT
IFI

CA
TIO

N 
MA

P

B.
C.

G.
S.:

 94
A.

00
1, 

94
B.

01
0/.

02
0, 

93
O.

05
6/.

05
7/.

06
7/.

06
8/.

07
8/.

07
9/.

08
0/.

09
0/.

10
0, 

93
P.0

91

N
a
s
s
 A

re
a

EN
VI

RO
NM

EN
TA

L

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n

 A
re

a

V
e
h

ic
le

 C
lo

s
u
re

 
A

re
a

P
ro

te
c
te

d
 A

re
a
/

E
c
o

lo
g
ic

a
l 
R

e
s
e

rv
e

M
u

s
k
w

a
-K

e
c
h

ik
a

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 
A

re
a

O
ld

 G
ro

w
th

  
M

a
n

a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
A

re
a

FO
RE

ST
RY

C
u
tb

lo
c
k

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 F

o
re

s
ts

W
o
o
d
lo

ts

F
o

re
s
t 
C

o
v
e

r
  
R

e
s
e
rv

e

T
re

e
 F

a
rm

 L
ic

e
n
c
e

N
is

g
a
'a

 L
a

n
d
s

MU
NI

CI
PA

L

F
ir
s
t 
N

a
ti
o

n
s
 R

e
s
e
rv

e

L
a
rg

e
 M

u
n
ic

ip
a
lit

y

P
a
rc

e
l

M
u

n
ic

ip
a
lit

y

V
ill

a
g
e

 L
a
n

d
s

PR
OJ

EC
T F

EA
TU

RE
S

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 P

ip
e
lin

e
  
C

e
n

tr
e
lin

e

N
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o

n
 Z

o
n
e

MI
SC

EL
LA

NE
OU

S

M
in

e
ra

l 
R

e
s
e

rv
e

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n

 
P

ro
te

c
te

d

S
it
e
 "

C
" 

H
C

A
P

e
rm

it

M
in

e
ra

l 
T
e
n
u
re

C
o
a
l 
T
e
n
u

re

G
u
id

e
/O

u
tf
it
te

r

T
ra

p
p

e
r

G
ra

z
in

g
 T

e
n

u
re

CR
OW

N 
TE

NU
RE

S
W

a
te

rp
o
w

e
r

W
in

d
p
o

w
e

r

A
g

ri
c
u
lt
u

re

E
n

v,
 C

o
n
s
e
rv

. 
&

 R
e
c
.

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l

C
o
m

m
u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n

W
a

te
rs

h
e
d

U
ti
lit

y

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

a
ti
o

n

E
le

c
tr

ic
 P

o
w

e
r 

L
in

e

Q
u
a
rr

y
in

g

OI
L A

ND
 G

AS

P
ip

e
lin

e

G
ro

u
n

d
 D

is
tu

rb
a

n
c
e

/
L
e
a

s
e
s

TR
AN

SP
OR

TA
TIO

N
H

ig
h

w
a
y

H
ig

h
g
ra

d
e
 G

ra
v
e
l 

L
o
w

g
ra

d
e
 G

ra
v
e

l 

W
a
te

r 
W

o
rk

s

F
o

re
s
tr

y
 R

o
a
d

C
u
tl
in

e
/T

ra
il

W
in

te
r 

R
o
a

d

P
a
v
e
d
 R

o
a
d

R
e
c
 T

ra
il

R
e
s
id

e
n
c
e

8
T
ra

p
p

e
r 

C
a
b

in
²³

T
e

m
p

o
ra

ry
 P

e
rm

it
#*

CR
OW

N 
GR

AN
TS

A
g

ri
c
u
lt
u

re

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
lq

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW
XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW
XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XWXW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW
XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW XW XW XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

0.450km

0.250km

04
05

9
04

06
3

04
06

2
04

06
6

04
06

5

04
04

9

04
05

2

04
05

5

04
04

8

04
05

7

04
04

7 04
05

1

04
05

3

04
05

0

04
05

8

04
05

4

04
05

6

04
06

0

04
06

7

L 6
 DL

 12
02

PE
AC

E R
IVE

R P
L 1

68
20

L 3
 DI

ST
RIS

CT
L 1

202
 PE

AC
E

RIV
ER

 PL
 16

82
0

L 3
 BK

 1
DL

 12
02

 PE
AC

E
RIV

ER
 PL

 14
83

9

L 7
 DL

 12
02

PE
AC

E R
IVE

R P
L1

68
20

L 1
 BK

1 D
L 1

202
 PE

AC
E

RIV
ER

 PL
 14

83
9

L 8
 DL

 12
02

 PE
AC

E
RIV

ER
 PL

 16
82

0
EX

C P
L P

GP
36

752

L 4
 DL

 12
02

 PE
AC

E
RIV

ER
 PL

168
20

L 2
 DL

 12
02

 PE
AC

E
RIV

ER
 PL

 16
82

0

L 5
 DL

 12
02

 PE
AC

E
RIV

ER
 PL

168
20

L 3
 DL

 12
02

PE
AC

E R
IVE

R
PL

 24
938

PC
LA

(PJ
405

91)
BK

1D
L1

202
PE

AC
E

RIV
ER

PL
148

39

L 2
 BK

 1 
DL

120
2 P

EA
CE

RIV
ER

 PL
 14

83
9

Fr
ee

rR
d

Beryl Prairie Rd

Sc
ale

1:6
,00

0
0

1
0

0
2
0

0
3
0

0
5
0

m
IN

SE
T A

q

PR
OP

OS
ED

 PI
PE

LIN
E R

OU
TE

 FR
OM

 c-
27

-I, 
94

-B
-1 

TO
 b-

89
-C

, 9
3-O

-10
(O

GC
 PE

RM
IT 

SE
CT

IO
N 

1 P
ER

MI
T #

 97
08

45
6)

KP
 0+

00
0.0

 TO
 K

P 1
24

+9
99

.6

S
H

E
E

T
: 

 4
 o

f 
2

0

C
H

E
C

K
E

D
: 
T

B
IM

A
G

E
:

201
3

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
: 
L
L
W

A
F

E
:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

R
e
v
is

io
n

 D
e
s
c
ri
p

ti
o

n
D

a
te

R
e
v

G
E

O
V

E
R

R
A

 F
IL

E
 N

O
.:

 1
3
0
2

7
5
C

M
0
1
R

1
4

_
4
o
f2

0
.m

x
d

JO
B 

NO
.: 0

1
0
0
4

2
3
4
9

$14

D
A

T
E

: 
  
 J

a
n
. 
0
7

, 
2
0
2

1

R
O

U
T

E
 R

E
F

 N
O

.:
  
9
0
0

6

R
E

F
 D

W
G

 N
O

.:
 1

3
0

2
7
5
C

O
N

0
1

-R
E

V
0
0
.d

w
g

C
L
IE

N
T

 F
IL

E
 N

O
.:
 

1
3

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

0
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
2

0

1
1

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
9

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

8

1
2

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
5

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

9

1
4

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
0

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

8

0
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
2

1

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 101 of 113



XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW XW

XW

XW

DL
 14

8 P
EA

CE
 RI

VE
R

EX
C P

L 1
078

0 P
CL

 A
(PL

 16
838

) P
CL

 B 
(PL

233
86)

 & 
PL

 H8
87

BK
 D

DL
 14

9

NE
 1/4

 OF
DL

 10
94

PE
AC

E R
IVE

R

BK
 B 

DL
109

1 P
EA

CE
RIV

ER

SE
1/4

DL
149

EX
C

SE
1/4

OF
SE

1/4
&B

K
AB

KB
BK

CB
KD

DL
 10

97

SW
 1/4

 OF
 DL

 10
91

PE
AC

E R
IVE

R E
XC

FIR
ST

LY
 TH

E M
OS

T
W 

80 
FT

 SE
CO

ND
LY

PT
 SU

BD
IVI

DE
D

BY
 PL

 BC
P3

485
2

RE
M D

L
109

4

RE
M D

L
149SW

1/4
OF

DL
109

1
PE

AC
ER

IVE
RE

XC
FIR

ST
LY

 TH
E M

OS
T

W 
80 

FT
 SE

CO
ND

LY
PT

 SU
BD

IVI
DE

D
BY

 PL
 BC

P3
485

2
L 1

 DL
 10

91
PE

AC
E R

IVE
R

PL
 BC

P3
485

2

RE
M D

L
109

0

DL
 10

97

RE
M D

L
109

3

NW
1/4

DL
 14

9

RE
M D

L
109

8

NW
 1/4

 OF
 DL

 10
98 

PE
AC

E R
IVE

R

BK
 C 

DL
 10

90
 PE

AC
E R

IVE
R

PC
L B

 (P
L 2

238
6) 

DL
 14

8
 PE

AC
E R

IVE
R E

XC
 PL

 33
360

PR
OP

OS
ED

PIP
EL

IN
E 

RO
UT

E

0.4
50k

m

06
02

0

0.2
50k

m

04
07

9

06
05

1

05
02

5

05
02

0

06
04

4

05
01

8

05
01

7

05
02

7

05
01

9

06
02

5

06
01

8
06

01
7

06
03

8

06
01

3
06

01
5

06
03

3

06
00

9

06
00

1

06
00

3

06
00

8

06
00

2

06
01

1

06
04

0

06
04

1

06
00

5
06

00
7

06
00

4

06
00

6

06
03

4
06

02
2

06
02

4

06
02

3

04
02

4

04
01

3

04
01

4 04
01

4
04

01
3

05
01

3

05
01

1

05
01

5 05
01

4
05

01
2

05
00

9

05
01

0

05
01

9

05
00

1

05
00

5

05
00

3

05
00

6

05
00

2 05
00

4

05
00

7

05
00

8

05
02

3

05
01

6

05
02

2

05
02

1

05
02

4

05
02

6

04
06

9
04

07
0

05
03

4

05
03

3

05
02

9

05
03

0

05
03

1

05
02

8
05

02
7

05
03

2

06
04

9

06
05

0

06
04

5

06
04

7

06
04

6

Summer
Rd

Bobeker St

Do
n P

hil
lip

s W
ay 

Hw
y 2

9

Ca
ny

on
Dr

Barkley St

Don Phillips Way Hwy 29

20
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

21
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

22
+0

00
.0

(90
03

) 23
+0

00
.0

(90
03

) 24
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

Ma
tch

lin
e

Ma
tch

lin
e

>

! !

.5 6

>

! !

.4 5

55
8,0

00

55
8,0

00

56
0,0

00

56
0,0

00

56
2,0

00

56
2,0

00

56
4,0

00

56
4,0

00

6,206,000

6,206,000

6,208,000

6,208,000

6,210,000

6,210,000

S
C

A
L

E
 1

:2
0
,0

0
0

(N
A

D
 1

9
8

3
 U

T
M

 Z
O

N
E

 1
0

N
)

0
5
0

0
1
,0

0
0

1
,5

0
0

2
,0

0
0

2
5

0

m

PR
OP

OS
ED

 PI
PE

LIN
E R

OU
TE

 FR
OM

 c-
27

-I, 
94

-B
-1 

TO
 b-

89
-C

, 9
3-O

-10
(O

GC
 PE

RM
IT 

SE
CT

IO
N 

1 P
ER

MI
T #

 97
08

45
6)

KP
 0+

00
0.0

 TO
 K

P 1
24

+9
99

.6

1:2
0,0

00
 N

OT
IFI

CA
TIO

N 
MA

P

B.
C.

G.
S.:

 94
A.

00
1, 

94
B.

01
0/.

02
0, 

93
O.

05
6/.

05
7/.

06
7/.

06
8/.

07
8/.

07
9/.

08
0/.

09
0/.

10
0, 

93
P.0

91

N
a
s
s
 A

re
a

EN
VI

RO
NM

EN
TA

L

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n

 A
re

a

V
e
h

ic
le

 C
lo

s
u
re

 
A

re
a

P
ro

te
c
te

d
 A

re
a
/

E
c
o

lo
g
ic

a
l 
R

e
s
e

rv
e

M
u

s
k
w

a
-K

e
c
h

ik
a

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 
A

re
a

O
ld

 G
ro

w
th

  
M

a
n

a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
A

re
a

FO
RE

ST
RY

C
u
tb

lo
c
k

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 F

o
re

s
ts

W
o
o
d
lo

ts

F
o

re
s
t 
C

o
v
e

r
  
R

e
s
e
rv

e

T
re

e
 F

a
rm

 L
ic

e
n
c
e

N
is

g
a
'a

 L
a

n
d
s

MU
NI

CI
PA

L

F
ir
s
t 
N

a
ti
o

n
s
 R

e
s
e
rv

e

L
a
rg

e
 M

u
n
ic

ip
a
lit

y

P
a
rc

e
l

M
u

n
ic

ip
a
lit

y

V
ill

a
g
e

 L
a
n

d
s

PR
OJ

EC
T F

EA
TU

RE
S

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 P

ip
e
lin

e
  
C

e
n

tr
e
lin

e

N
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o

n
 Z

o
n
e

MI
SC

EL
LA

NE
OU

S

M
in

e
ra

l 
R

e
s
e

rv
e

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n

 
P

ro
te

c
te

d

S
it
e
 "

C
" 

H
C

A
P

e
rm

it

M
in

e
ra

l 
T
e
n
u
re

C
o
a
l 
T
e
n
u

re

G
u
id

e
/O

u
tf
it
te

r

T
ra

p
p

e
r

G
ra

z
in

g
 T

e
n

u
re

CR
OW

N 
TE

NU
RE

S
W

a
te

rp
o
w

e
r

W
in

d
p
o

w
e

r

A
g

ri
c
u
lt
u

re

E
n

v,
 C

o
n
s
e
rv

. 
&

 R
e
c
.

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l

C
o
m

m
u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n

W
a

te
rs

h
e
d

U
ti
lit

y

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

a
ti
o

n

E
le

c
tr

ic
 P

o
w

e
r 

L
in

e

Q
u
a
rr

y
in

g

OI
L A

ND
 G

AS

P
ip

e
lin

e

G
ro

u
n

d
 D

is
tu

rb
a

n
c
e

/
L
e
a

s
e
s

TR
AN

SP
OR

TA
TIO

N
H

ig
h

w
a
y

H
ig

h
g
ra

d
e
 G

ra
v
e
l 

L
o
w

g
ra

d
e
 G

ra
v
e

l 

W
a
te

r 
W

o
rk

s

F
o

re
s
tr

y
 R

o
a
d

C
u
tl
in

e
/T

ra
il

W
in

te
r 

R
o
a

d

P
a
v
e
d
 R

o
a
d

R
e
c
 T

ra
il

R
e
s
id

e
n
c
e

8
T
ra

p
p

e
r 

C
a
b

in
²³

T
e

m
p

o
ra

ry
 P

e
rm

it
#*

CR
OW

N 
GR

AN
TS

A
g

ri
c
u
lt
u

re

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
lq

D
IS

C
L

A
IM

E
R

: 
T

h
e

 d
a

ta
 c

o
n

ta
in

e
d

 h
e

re
in

 w
a

s
 c

o
m

p
ile

d
 f

ro
m

 t
h

ir
d

 p
a

rt
y
 s

o
u

rc
e

s
 a

n
d
 G

e
o
V

e
rr

a
 S

u
rv

e
y
s
 (

B
C

) 
L

im
it
e

d
 P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 a

n
d

 i
ts

 e
m

p
lo

y
e

e
s
 t

a
k
e

 n
o

re
s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it
y
 f

o
r 

th
e

 a
c
c
u

ra
c
y
 o

r 
c
o

m
p
le

te
n

e
s
s
 o

f 
th

is
 i
n
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
.

S
H

E
E

T
: 

 5
 o

f 
2

0

C
H

E
C

K
E

D
: 

 T
B

IM
A

G
E

:

201
3

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
: 
L
L
W

A
F

E
:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

R
e
v
is

io
n

 D
e
s
c
ri
p

ti
o

n
D

a
te

R
e
v

G
E

O
V

E
R

R
A

 F
IL

E
 N

O
.:

 1
3
0
2

7
5
C

M
0
1
R

1
4

_
5
o
f2

0
.m

x
d

JO
B 

NO
.: 0

1
0
0
4

2
3
4
9

$14

D
A

T
E

: 
  
 J

a
n
. 
0
7

, 
2
0
2

1

R
O

U
T

E
 R

E
F

 N
O

.:
  
9
0
0

6

R
E

F
 D

W
G

 N
O

.:
 1

3
0

2
7
5
C

O
N

0
1

-R
E

V
0
0
.d

w
g

C
L
IE

N
T

 F
IL

E
 N

O
.:
 

1
3

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

0
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
2

0

1
1

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
9

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

8

1
2

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
5

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

9

1
4

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

0
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
2

1

1
0

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

8

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 102 of 113



XW XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

DL
 14

8 P
EA

CE
 RI

VE
R

EX
C P

L 1
078

0 P
CL

 A
(PL

 16
838

) P
CL

 B 
(PL

233
86)

 & 
PL

 H8
87

BK
 D

DL
 14

9

BK
 B 

OF
 DL

 14
9

PE
AC

E R
IVE

R E
XC

PL
 PG

P3
595

2

SE
1/4

DL
149

EX
C

SE
1/4

OF
SE

1/4
&B

K
AB

KB
BK

CB
KD

PC
LA

(PL
168

38)
OF

DL
148

PE
AC

ER
IVE

R

DL
 39

37
PE

AC
E

RIV
ER

BK
 C 

DL
149

RE
M D

L
149

DL
 10

97

NW
1/4

DL
 14

9

RE
M D

L
109

8

FR
AC

 SE
 1/4

 OF
 TH

E
FR

AC
 SE

 1/4
 OF

DL
 14

9 P
EA

CE
 RI

VE
R

PC
L B

 (P
L 2

238
6) 

DL
 14

8
 PE

AC
E R

IVE
R E

XC
 PL

 33
360

PR
OP

OS
ED

PIP
EL

IN
E 

RO
UT

E

0.25
0km

0.45
0km

06
05

4

06
02

306
03

5

06
03

1

06
04

0
06

04
1

06
04

2

06
02

2

06
02

0 06
05

5

06
05

5

06
01

3

06
04

4
06

04
6

06
05

6

06
04

7

06
02

4
06

03
0

06
02

6

06
02

7

06
02

5

06
02

9
06

02
8

06
01

7

06
01

6

06
01

7

06
01

8

06
01

9

06
01

7

06
02

1

06
03

3

06
03

4

06
03

8

06
01

4

06
01

5

06
03

2

06
00

8

06
00

1

06
00

3

06
01

0

06
00

2

06
01

1

06
01

2

06
03

9

06
03

6

06
03

7

06
00

5
06

00
7

06
00

3

06
00

4

06
00

6
06

00
9

PT
 OF

 DL
 14

8
PE

AC
E R

IVE
R

SH
OW

N O
N P

L H
887

06
04

3

07
01

5

06
05

2

06
05

3

06
04

8

06
05

0

06
04

9

06
05

1

R142
42 FF 0

R1
42

42
I.7

13
1

R142
42 

BB 0

R1
42

42
I0

R142
10 E 0

R1
424

2 K 0

268

03.100

Peac
e H

ill F
SR

PeaceCanyonAccessRd

Don Phillip
s W

ay 
Hwy 2

9

Do
nPhillip

sWayHwy29

24
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

26
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

27
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

28
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

29
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

30
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)
Ma

tch
lin

e

Ma
tch

lin
e

>

! !

.6 7

>

! !

.5 6

56
2,0

00

56
2,0

00

56
4,0

00

56
4,0

00

56
6,0

00

56
6,0

00

56
8,0

00

56
8,0

00

6,202,000

6,202,000

6,204,000

6,204,000

6,206,000

6,206,000

S
C

A
L

E
 1

:2
0
,0

0
0

(N
A

D
 1

9
8

3
 U

T
M

 Z
O

N
E

 1
0

N
)

0
5
0

0
1
,0

0
0

1
,5

0
0

2
,0

0
0

2
5

0

m

PR
OP

OS
ED

 PI
PE

LIN
E R

OU
TE

 FR
OM

 c-
27

-I, 
94

-B
-1 

TO
 b-

89
-C

, 9
3-O

-10
(O

GC
 PE

RM
IT 

SE
CT

IO
N 

1 P
ER

MI
T #

 97
08

45
6)

KP
 0+

00
0.0

 TO
 K

P 1
24

+9
99

.6

1:2
0,0

00
 N

OT
IFI

CA
TIO

N 
MA

P

B.
C.

G.
S.:

 94
A.

00
1, 

94
B.

01
0/.

02
0, 

93
O.

05
6/.

05
7/.

06
7/.

06
8/.

07
8/.

07
9/.

08
0/.

09
0/.

10
0, 

93
P.0

91

N
a
s
s
 A

re
a

EN
VI

RO
NM

EN
TA

L

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n

 A
re

a

V
e
h

ic
le

 C
lo

s
u
re

 
A

re
a

P
ro

te
c
te

d
 A

re
a
/

E
c
o

lo
g
ic

a
l 
R

e
s
e

rv
e

M
u

s
k
w

a
-K

e
c
h

ik
a

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 
A

re
a

O
ld

 G
ro

w
th

  
M

a
n

a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
A

re
a

FO
RE

ST
RY

C
u
tb

lo
c
k

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 F

o
re

s
ts

W
o
o
d
lo

ts

F
o

re
s
t 
C

o
v
e

r
  
R

e
s
e
rv

e

T
re

e
 F

a
rm

 L
ic

e
n
c
e

N
is

g
a
'a

 L
a

n
d
s

MU
NI

CI
PA

L

F
ir
s
t 
N

a
ti
o

n
s
 R

e
s
e
rv

e

L
a
rg

e
 M

u
n
ic

ip
a
lit

y

P
a
rc

e
l

M
u

n
ic

ip
a
lit

y

V
ill

a
g
e

 L
a
n

d
s

PR
OJ

EC
T F

EA
TU

RE
S

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 P

ip
e
lin

e
  
C

e
n

tr
e
lin

e

N
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o

n
 Z

o
n
e

MI
SC

EL
LA

NE
OU

S

M
in

e
ra

l 
R

e
s
e

rv
e

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n

 
P

ro
te

c
te

d

S
it
e
 "

C
" 

H
C

A
P

e
rm

it

M
in

e
ra

l 
T
e
n
u
re

C
o
a
l 
T
e
n
u

re

G
u
id

e
/O

u
tf
it
te

r

T
ra

p
p

e
r

G
ra

z
in

g
 T

e
n

u
re

CR
OW

N 
TE

NU
RE

S
W

a
te

rp
o
w

e
r

W
in

d
p
o

w
e

r

A
g

ri
c
u
lt
u

re

E
n

v,
 C

o
n
s
e
rv

. 
&

 R
e
c
.

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l

C
o
m

m
u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n

W
a

te
rs

h
e
d

U
ti
lit

y

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

a
ti
o

n

E
le

c
tr

ic
 P

o
w

e
r 

L
in

e

Q
u
a
rr

y
in

g

OI
L A

ND
 G

AS

P
ip

e
lin

e

G
ro

u
n

d
 D

is
tu

rb
a

n
c
e

/
L
e
a

s
e
s

TR
AN

SP
OR

TA
TIO

N
H

ig
h

w
a
y

H
ig

h
g
ra

d
e
 G

ra
v
e
l 

L
o
w

g
ra

d
e
 G

ra
v
e

l 

W
a
te

r 
W

o
rk

s

F
o

re
s
tr

y
 R

o
a
d

C
u
tl
in

e
/T

ra
il

W
in

te
r 

R
o
a

d

P
a
v
e
d
 R

o
a
d

R
e
c
 T

ra
il

R
e
s
id

e
n
c
e

8
T
ra

p
p

e
r 

C
a
b

in
²³

T
e

m
p

o
ra

ry
 P

e
rm

it
#*

CR
OW

N 
GR

AN
TS

A
g

ri
c
u
lt
u

re

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
lq

D
IS

C
L

A
IM

E
R

: 
T

h
e

 d
a

ta
 c

o
n

ta
in

e
d

 h
e

re
in

 w
a

s
 c

o
m

p
ile

d
 f

ro
m

 t
h

ir
d

 p
a

rt
y
 s

o
u

rc
e

s
 a

n
d
 G

e
o
V

e
rr

a
 S

u
rv

e
y
s
 (

B
C

) 
L

im
it
e

d
 P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 a

n
d

 i
ts

 e
m

p
lo

y
e

e
s
 t

a
k
e

 n
o

re
s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it
y
 f

o
r 

th
e

 a
c
c
u

ra
c
y
 o

r 
c
o

m
p
le

te
n

e
s
s
 o

f 
th

is
 i
n
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
.

S
H

E
E

T
: 

 6
 o

f 
2

0

C
H

E
C

K
E

D
: 
T

B
IM

A
G

E
:

201
3

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
: 
L
L
W

A
F

E
:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

R
e
v
is

io
n

 D
e
s
c
ri
p

ti
o

n
D

a
te

R
e
v

G
E

O
V

E
R

R
A

 F
IL

E
 N

O
.:

 1
3
0
2

7
5
C

M
0
1
R

1
4

_
6
o
f2

0
.m

x
d

JO
B 

NO
.: 0

1
0
0
4

2
3
4
9

$14

D
A

T
E

: 
  
 J

a
n
. 
0
7

, 
2
0
2

1

R
O

U
T

E
 R

E
F

 N
O

.:
  
9
0
0

6

R
E

F
 D

W
G

 N
O

.:
 1

3
0

2
7
5
C

O
N

0
1

-R
E

V
0
0
.d

w
g

C
L
IE

N
T

 F
IL

E
 N

O
.:
 

1
3

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

0
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
2

0

1
1

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
9

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

8

1
2

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
5

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

9

1
4

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
0

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

8

0
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
2

1

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 103 of 113



XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

DL
 12

82
PE

AC
E

RIV
ER

PR
OP

OS
ED

PIP
EL

IN
E 

RO
UT

E

0.2
50k

m
0.4

50k
m

07
02

3

07
00

8

07
01

0

07
00

9

07
01

8

08
01

0

07
01

9

07
02

0

08
01

1

07
01

2

07
01

3

07
01

4
07

01
1

07
00

5

07
00

7

07
00

6

07
01

6

07
01

7

07
01

5 07
02

1
07

00
4

07
00

1

07
00

2

07
00

3

07
02

2

07
02

4

07
02

5

07
02

6

07
02

7

77
36

01
0

R116
87

D 0

410
03

.100
26

801
. 2

00

26803.100

JCF07100.100

Jo
hn

so
nCre

ek
FS

R

41003.300

26801.100

41003.200

Don Phill
ips Way Hwy 29

30
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

31
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

32
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

33
+0

00
.0

(90
03

 R
R)

35
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

36
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)
Ma

tch
lin

e

Ma
tch

lin
e

>
! !

.6 7

>

! !

.7 8

55
8,0

00

55
8,0

00

56
0,0

00

56
0,0

00

56
2,0

00

56
2,0

00

56
4,0

00

56
4,0

00

6,198,000

6,198,000

6,200,000

6,200,000

S
C

A
L

E
 1

:2
0
,0

0
0

(N
A

D
 1

9
8

3
 U

T
M

 Z
O

N
E

 1
0

N
)

0
5
0

0
1
,0

0
0

1
,5

0
0

2
,0

0
0

2
5

0

m

PR
OP

OS
ED

 PI
PE

LIN
E R

OU
TE

 FR
OM

 c-
27

-I, 
94

-B
-1 

TO
 b-

89
-C

, 9
3-O

-10
(O

GC
 PE

RM
IT 

SE
CT

IO
N 

1 P
ER

MI
T #

 97
08

45
6)

KP
 0+

00
0.0

 TO
 K

P 1
24

+9
99

.6

1:2
0,0

00
 N

OT
IFI

CA
TIO

N 
MA

P

B.
C.

G.
S.:

 94
A.

00
1, 

94
B.

01
0/.

02
0, 

93
O.

05
6/.

05
7/.

06
7/.

06
8/.

07
8/.

07
9/.

08
0/.

09
0/.

10
0, 

93
P.0

91

N
a
s
s
 A

re
a

EN
VI

RO
NM

EN
TA

L

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n

 A
re

a

V
e
h

ic
le

 C
lo

s
u
re

 
A

re
a

P
ro

te
c
te

d
 A

re
a
/

E
c
o

lo
g
ic

a
l 
R

e
s
e

rv
e

M
u

s
k
w

a
-K

e
c
h

ik
a

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 
A

re
a

O
ld

 G
ro

w
th

  
M

a
n

a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
A

re
a

FO
RE

ST
RY

C
u
tb

lo
c
k

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 F

o
re

s
ts

W
o
o
d
lo

ts

F
o

re
s
t 
C

o
v
e

r
  
R

e
s
e
rv

e

T
re

e
 F

a
rm

 L
ic

e
n
c
e

N
is

g
a
'a

 L
a

n
d
s

MU
NI

CI
PA

L

F
ir
s
t 
N

a
ti
o

n
s
 R

e
s
e
rv

e

L
a
rg

e
 M

u
n
ic

ip
a
lit

y

P
a
rc

e
l

M
u

n
ic

ip
a
lit

y

V
ill

a
g
e

 L
a
n

d
s

PR
OJ

EC
T F

EA
TU

RE
S

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 P

ip
e
lin

e
  
C

e
n

tr
e
lin

e

N
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o

n
 Z

o
n
e

MI
SC

EL
LA

NE
OU

S

M
in

e
ra

l 
R

e
s
e

rv
e

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n

 
P

ro
te

c
te

d

S
it
e
 "

C
" 

H
C

A
P

e
rm

it

M
in

e
ra

l 
T
e
n
u
re

C
o
a
l 
T
e
n
u

re

G
u
id

e
/O

u
tf
it
te

r

T
ra

p
p

e
r

G
ra

z
in

g
 T

e
n

u
re

CR
OW

N 
TE

NU
RE

S
W

a
te

rp
o
w

e
r

W
in

d
p
o

w
e

r

A
g

ri
c
u
lt
u

re

E
n

v,
 C

o
n
s
e
rv

. 
&

 R
e
c
.

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l

C
o
m

m
u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n

W
a

te
rs

h
e
d

U
ti
lit

y

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

a
ti
o

n

E
le

c
tr

ic
 P

o
w

e
r 

L
in

e

Q
u
a
rr

y
in

g

OI
L A

ND
 G

AS

P
ip

e
lin

e

G
ro

u
n

d
 D

is
tu

rb
a

n
c
e

/
L
e
a

s
e
s

TR
AN

SP
OR

TA
TIO

N
H

ig
h

w
a
y

H
ig

h
g
ra

d
e
 G

ra
v
e
l 

L
o
w

g
ra

d
e
 G

ra
v
e

l 

W
a
te

r 
W

o
rk

s

F
o

re
s
tr

y
 R

o
a
d

C
u
tl
in

e
/T

ra
il

W
in

te
r 

R
o
a

d

P
a
v
e
d
 R

o
a
d

R
e
c
 T

ra
il

R
e
s
id

e
n
c
e

8
T
ra

p
p

e
r 

C
a
b

in
²³

T
e

m
p

o
ra

ry
 P

e
rm

it
#*

CR
OW

N 
GR

AN
TS

A
g

ri
c
u
lt
u

re

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
lq

D
IS

C
L

A
IM

E
R

: 
T

h
e

 d
a

ta
 c

o
n

ta
in

e
d

 h
e

re
in

 w
a

s
 c

o
m

p
ile

d
 f

ro
m

 t
h

ir
d

 p
a

rt
y
 s

o
u

rc
e

s
 a

n
d
 G

e
o
V

e
rr

a
 S

u
rv

e
y
s
 (

B
C

) 
L

im
it
e

d
 P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 a

n
d

 i
ts

 e
m

p
lo

y
e

e
s
 t

a
k
e

 n
o

re
s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it
y
 f

o
r 

th
e

 a
c
c
u

ra
c
y
 o

r 
c
o

m
p
le

te
n

e
s
s
 o

f 
th

is
 i
n
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
.

S
H

E
E

T
: 

 7
 o

f 
2

0

C
H

E
C

K
E

D
: 
T

B
IM

A
G

E
:

201
3

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
: 
L
L
W

A
F

E
:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

R
e
v
is

io
n

 D
e
s
c
ri
p

ti
o

n
D

a
te

R
e
v

G
E

O
V

E
R

R
A

 F
IL

E
 N

O
.:

 1
3
0
2

7
5
C

M
0
1
R

1
4

_
7
o
f2

0
.m

x
d

JO
B 

NO
.: 0

1
0
0
4

2
3
4
9

$14

D
A

T
E

: 
  
 J

a
n
. 
0
7

, 
2
0
2

1

R
O

U
T

E
 R

E
F

 N
O

.:
  
9
0
0

6

R
E

F
 D

W
G

 N
O

.:
 1

3
0

2
7
5
C

O
N

0
1

-R
E

V
0
0
.d

w
g

C
L
IE

N
T

 F
IL

E
 N

O
.:
 

1
3

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

0
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
2

0

1
1

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
9

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

8

1
2

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
5

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

9

1
4

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
0

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

8

0
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
2

1

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 104 of 113



XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

PR
OP

OS
ED

PIP
EL

IN
E 

RO
UT

E

0.250km

0.450km

07
00

8

08
01

0

08
00

9

08
01

6

08
01

7

08
01

8

08
00

8

09
01

0

09
01

5

08
00

5

08
00

7
08

00
6

08
00

3

08
00

4

08
01

3

08
01

2

08
01

1

08
01

4
08

01
9

08
00

2
08

00
1

08
02

0

08
01

5

08
02

1

07
01

7

07
02

6

07
02

7

08
02

2

77
36

01
0

JohnsonCreekRd

Johnson Creek FSR

JohnsonCreekFSR
36

+0
00

.0
(90

03
)

38
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

39
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

40
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

42
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)Ma
tch

lin
e

Ma
tch

lin
e

>

! !

.8 9

>

! !

.7 8

55
4,0

00

55
4,0

00

55
6,0

00

55
6,0

00

55
8,0

00

55
8,0

00

56
0,0

00

56
0,0

00

6,194,000

6,194,000

6,196,000

6,196,000

S
C

A
L

E
 1

:2
0
,0

0
0

(N
A

D
 1

9
8

3
 U

T
M

 Z
O

N
E

 1
0

N
)

0
5
0

0
1
,0

0
0

1
,5

0
0

2
,0

0
0

2
5

0

m

PR
OP

OS
ED

 PI
PE

LIN
E R

OU
TE

 FR
OM

 c-
27

-I, 
94

-B
-1 

TO
 b-

89
-C

, 9
3-O

-10
(O

GC
 PE

RM
IT 

SE
CT

IO
N 

1 P
ER

MI
T #

 97
08

45
6)

KP
 0+

00
0.0

 TO
 K

P 1
24

+9
99

.6

1:2
0,0

00
 N

OT
IFI

CA
TIO

N 
MA

P

B.
C.

G.
S.:

 94
A.

00
1, 

94
B.

01
0/.

02
0, 

93
O.

05
6/.

05
7/.

06
7/.

06
8/.

07
8/.

07
9/.

08
0/.

09
0/.

10
0, 

93
P.0

91

N
a
s
s
 A

re
a

EN
VI

RO
NM

EN
TA

L

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n

 A
re

a

V
e
h

ic
le

 C
lo

s
u
re

 
A

re
a

P
ro

te
c
te

d
 A

re
a
/

E
c
o

lo
g
ic

a
l 
R

e
s
e

rv
e

M
u

s
k
w

a
-K

e
c
h

ik
a

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 
A

re
a

O
ld

 G
ro

w
th

  
M

a
n

a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
A

re
a

FO
RE

ST
RY

C
u
tb

lo
c
k

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 F

o
re

s
ts

W
o
o
d
lo

ts

F
o

re
s
t 
C

o
v
e

r
  
R

e
s
e
rv

e

T
re

e
 F

a
rm

 L
ic

e
n
c
e

N
is

g
a
'a

 L
a

n
d
s

MU
NI

CI
PA

L

F
ir
s
t 
N

a
ti
o

n
s
 R

e
s
e
rv

e

L
a
rg

e
 M

u
n
ic

ip
a
lit

y

P
a
rc

e
l

M
u

n
ic

ip
a
lit

y

V
ill

a
g
e

 L
a
n

d
s

PR
OJ

EC
T F

EA
TU

RE
S

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 P

ip
e
lin

e
  
C

e
n

tr
e
lin

e

N
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o

n
 Z

o
n
e

MI
SC

EL
LA

NE
OU

S

M
in

e
ra

l 
R

e
s
e

rv
e

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n

 
P

ro
te

c
te

d

S
it
e
 "

C
" 

H
C

A
P

e
rm

it

M
in

e
ra

l 
T
e
n
u
re

C
o
a
l 
T
e
n
u

re

G
u
id

e
/O

u
tf
it
te

r

T
ra

p
p

e
r

G
ra

z
in

g
 T

e
n

u
re

CR
OW

N 
TE

NU
RE

S
W

a
te

rp
o
w

e
r

W
in

d
p
o

w
e

r

A
g

ri
c
u
lt
u

re

E
n

v,
 C

o
n
s
e
rv

. 
&

 R
e
c
.

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l

C
o
m

m
u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n

W
a

te
rs

h
e
d

U
ti
lit

y

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

a
ti
o

n

E
le

c
tr

ic
 P

o
w

e
r 

L
in

e

Q
u
a
rr

y
in

g

OI
L A

ND
 G

AS

P
ip

e
lin

e

G
ro

u
n

d
 D

is
tu

rb
a

n
c
e

/
L
e
a

s
e
s

TR
AN

SP
OR

TA
TIO

N
H

ig
h

w
a
y

H
ig

h
g
ra

d
e
 G

ra
v
e
l 

L
o
w

g
ra

d
e
 G

ra
v
e

l 

W
a
te

r 
W

o
rk

s

F
o

re
s
tr

y
 R

o
a
d

C
u
tl
in

e
/T

ra
il

W
in

te
r 

R
o
a

d

P
a
v
e
d
 R

o
a
d

R
e
c
 T

ra
il

R
e
s
id

e
n
c
e

8
T
ra

p
p

e
r 

C
a
b

in
²³

T
e

m
p

o
ra

ry
 P

e
rm

it
#*

CR
OW

N 
GR

AN
TS

A
g

ri
c
u
lt
u

re

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
lq

D
IS

C
L

A
IM

E
R

: 
T

h
e

 d
a

ta
 c

o
n

ta
in

e
d

 h
e

re
in

 w
a

s
 c

o
m

p
ile

d
 f

ro
m

 t
h

ir
d

 p
a

rt
y
 s

o
u

rc
e

s
 a

n
d
 G

e
o
V

e
rr

a
 S

u
rv

e
y
s
 (

B
C

) 
L

im
it
e

d
 P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 a

n
d

 i
ts

 e
m

p
lo

y
e

e
s
 t

a
k
e

 n
o

re
s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it
y
 f

o
r 

th
e

 a
c
c
u

ra
c
y
 o

r 
c
o

m
p
le

te
n

e
s
s
 o

f 
th

is
 i
n
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
.

S
H

E
E

T
: 

 8
 o

f 
2

0

C
H

E
C

K
E

D
: 
T

B
IM

A
G

E
:

201
3

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
: 
L
L
W

A
F

E
:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

R
e
v
is

io
n

 D
e
s
c
ri
p

ti
o

n
D

a
te

R
e
v

G
E

O
V

E
R

R
A

 F
IL

E
 N

O
.:

 1
3
0
2

7
5
C

M
0
1
R

1
4

_
8
o
f2

0
.m

x
d

JO
B 

NO
.: 0

1
0
0
4

2
3
4
9

$14

D
A

T
E

: 
  
 J

a
n
. 
0
7

, 
2
0
2

1

R
O

U
T

E
 R

E
F

 N
O

.:
  
9
0
0

6

R
E

F
 D

W
G

 N
O

.:
 1

3
0

2
7
5
C

O
N

0
1

-R
E

V
0
0
.d

w
g

C
L
IE

N
T

 F
IL

E
 N

O
.:
 

1
3

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

0
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
2

0

1
1

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
9

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

8

1
2

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
5

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

9

1
4

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
0

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

8

0
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
2

1

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 105 of 113



XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

XW

PR
OP

OS
ED

PIP
EL

IN
E 

RO
UT

E0.45
0km

0.25
0km

09
00

7

09
00

8

09
01

4

09
00

6

09
00

9

09
00

3

09
00

4

09
00

5

09
01

3

09
00

2

09
01

2

09
01

0

09
00

1

09
01

5

09
01

1

09
01

6

09
01

7

09
01

8

Pete Lake Road
Pete Lake Ro ad

42
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

43
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

44
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

45
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

46
+0

00
.0

(90
03

)

>

! !

.9 10

>

! !

.8 9

Ma
tch

lin
e

Ma
tch

lin
e

55
4,0

00

55
4,0

00

55
6,0

00

55
6,0

00

55
8,0

00

55
8,0

00

56
0,0

00

56
0,0

00

6,190,000

6,190,000

6,192,000

6,192,000

S
C

A
L

E
 1

:2
0
,0

0
0

(N
A

D
 1

9
8

3
 U

T
M

 Z
O

N
E

 1
0

N
)

0
5
0

0
1
,0

0
0

1
,5

0
0

2
,0

0
0

2
5

0

m

PR
OP

OS
ED

 PI
PE

LIN
E R

OU
TE

 FR
OM

 c-
27

-I, 
94

-B
-1 

TO
 b-

89
-C

, 9
3-O

-10
(O

GC
 PE

RM
IT 

SE
CT

IO
N 

1 P
ER

MI
T #

 97
08

45
6)

KP
 0+

00
0.0

 TO
 K

P 1
24

+9
99

.6

1:2
0,0

00
 N

OT
IFI

CA
TIO

N 
MA

P

B.
C.

G.
S.:

 94
A.

00
1, 

94
B.

01
0/.

02
0, 

93
O.

05
6/.

05
7/.

06
7/.

06
8/.

07
8/.

07
9/.

08
0/.

09
0/.

10
0, 

93
P.0

91

N
a
s
s
 A

re
a

EN
VI

RO
NM

EN
TA

L

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n

 A
re

a

V
e
h

ic
le

 C
lo

s
u
re

 
A

re
a

P
ro

te
c
te

d
 A

re
a
/

E
c
o

lo
g
ic

a
l 
R

e
s
e

rv
e

M
u

s
k
w

a
-K

e
c
h

ik
a

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 
A

re
a

O
ld

 G
ro

w
th

  
M

a
n

a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
A

re
a

FO
RE

ST
RY

C
u
tb

lo
c
k

C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 F

o
re

s
ts

W
o
o
d
lo

ts

F
o

re
s
t 
C

o
v
e

r
  
R

e
s
e
rv

e

T
re

e
 F

a
rm

 L
ic

e
n
c
e

N
is

g
a
'a

 L
a

n
d
s

MU
NI

CI
PA

L

F
ir
s
t 
N

a
ti
o

n
s
 R

e
s
e
rv

e

L
a
rg

e
 M

u
n
ic

ip
a
lit

y

P
a
rc

e
l

M
u

n
ic

ip
a
lit

y

V
ill

a
g
e

 L
a
n

d
s

PR
OJ

EC
T F

EA
TU

RE
S

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 P

ip
e
lin

e
  
C

e
n

tr
e
lin

e

N
o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o

n
 Z

o
n
e

MI
SC

EL
LA

NE
OU

S

M
in

e
ra

l 
R

e
s
e

rv
e

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n

 
P

ro
te

c
te

d

S
it
e
 "

C
" 

H
C

A
P

e
rm

it

M
in

e
ra

l 
T
e
n
u
re

C
o
a
l 
T
e
n
u

re

G
u
id

e
/O

u
tf
it
te

r

T
ra

p
p

e
r

G
ra

z
in

g
 T

e
n

u
re

CR
OW

N 
TE

NU
RE

S
W

a
te

rp
o
w

e
r

W
in

d
p
o

w
e

r

A
g

ri
c
u
lt
u

re

E
n

v,
 C

o
n
s
e
rv

. 
&

 R
e
c
.

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l

C
o
m

m
u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n

W
a

te
rs

h
e
d

U
ti
lit

y

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

a
ti
o

n

E
le

c
tr

ic
 P

o
w

e
r 

L
in

e

Q
u
a
rr

y
in

g

OI
L A

ND
 G

AS

P
ip

e
lin

e

G
ro

u
n

d
 D

is
tu

rb
a

n
c
e

/
L
e
a

s
e
s

TR
AN

SP
OR

TA
TIO

N
H

ig
h

w
a
y

H
ig

h
g
ra

d
e
 G

ra
v
e
l 

L
o
w

g
ra

d
e
 G

ra
v
e

l 

W
a
te

r 
W

o
rk

s

F
o

re
s
tr

y
 R

o
a
d

C
u
tl
in

e
/T

ra
il

W
in

te
r 

R
o
a

d

P
a
v
e
d
 R

o
a
d

R
e
c
 T

ra
il

R
e
s
id

e
n
c
e

8
T
ra

p
p

e
r 

C
a
b

in
²³

T
e

m
p

o
ra

ry
 P

e
rm

it
#*

CR
OW

N 
GR

AN
TS

A
g

ri
c
u
lt
u

re

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
lq

D
IS

C
L

A
IM

E
R

: 
T

h
e

 d
a

ta
 c

o
n

ta
in

e
d

 h
e

re
in

 w
a

s
 c

o
m

p
ile

d
 f

ro
m

 t
h

ir
d

 p
a

rt
y
 s

o
u

rc
e

s
 a

n
d
 G

e
o
V

e
rr

a
 S

u
rv

e
y
s
 (

B
C

) 
L

im
it
e

d
 P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 a

n
d

 i
ts

 e
m

p
lo

y
e

e
s
 t

a
k
e

 n
o

re
s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it
y
 f

o
r 

th
e

 a
c
c
u

ra
c
y
 o

r 
c
o

m
p
le

te
n

e
s
s
 o

f 
th

is
 i
n
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
.

S
H

E
E

T
: 

 9
 o

f 
2

0

C
H

E
C

K
E

D
: 
T

B
IM

A
G

E
:

201
3

D
R

A
W

N
 B

Y
: 
L
L
W

A
F

E
:

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

R
e
v
is

io
n

 D
e
s
c
ri
p

ti
o

n
D

a
te

R
e
v

G
E

O
V

E
R

R
A

 F
IL

E
 N

O
.:

 1
3
0
2

7
5
C

M
0
1
R

1
4

_
9
o
f2

0
.m

x
d

JO
B 

NO
.: 0

1
0
0
4

2
3
4
9

$14

D
A

T
E

: 
  
 J

a
n
. 
0
7

, 
2
0
2

1

R
O

U
T

E
 R

E
F

 N
O

.:
  
9
0
0

6

R
E

F
 D

W
G

 N
O

.:
 1

3
0

2
7
5
C

O
N

0
1

-R
E

V
0
0
.d

w
g

C
L
IE

N
T

 F
IL

E
 N

O
.:
 

1
3

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

0
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
2

0

1
1

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
9

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

8

1
2

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
5

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

9

1
4

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
0

U
p
d

a
te

 C
/N

 M
a

p
p

in
g

1
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
1

8

0
7

-J
a

n
-2

0
2

1

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 106 of 113



PUBLIC HEALTH ALERT 

For Immediate Release 
January 18, 2021  

Overdose Alert: Illicit Benzodiazepines or “Benzos” 
Contaminating Street Drugs  

Illicit Benzodiazepines or “Benzos” contaminating street drugs continue to circulate 
in the NH region. Northern Health and the First Nations Health Authority urge 
residents using or considering using drugs to reconsider or take steps to prevent 
overdose. 

Benzodiazepines, or benzos, are a type of medication that "depresses" or slows 
down your brain activity. When benzos are mixed with opioids (down) there is a 
higher risk of overdose. People who have overdosed using drugs contaminated with 
benzos may be difficult to rouse, may remain unconscious and slow to respond to 
naloxone. Giving naloxone is recommended in case an opioid is also present.  

If you suspect someone is experiencing a benzos-related overdose, it is very 
important to: 

 Call 9-1-1 for help.
 Open airway and give rescue breaths, continue giving breaths if needed
 Give naloxone if you have it, multiple doses might be needed but only give

more doses if the person is NOT breathing at least 10 times a minute.

For more information on how to respond to an opioid overdose with benzos, see the 
Toward the Heart resource: Benzos with Opioids.   

More information on this Overdose Alert can be found on the NH website: Overdose 
Emergency Information. 

Remember: 

 Illegal drugs have become increasingly toxic and highly unpredictable during
the COVID-19 pandemic.

 Do not use alone, use with a buddy and stagger use so someone is able to
respond.

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 107 of 113
C5

tel:9-1-1
https://towardtheheart.com/assets/uploads/1608602574NnIMS8I0b6b4jlfb2zGamRglDVrRxM7DQz7y4Wq.pdf
https://www.northernhealth.ca/health-topics/overdose-prevention
https://www.northernhealth.ca/health-topics/overdose-prevention


Page 2 

 If you feel you must use while alone, consider using the Lifeguard app , which
will connect you with 911 emergency responders in the event of an overdose.
Download at the App Store or Google Play.

 Keep more than one naloxone kit with you. Some overdoses require more
than three doses of naloxone.

 Talk to your doctor or nurse practitioner about how to access prescription
medications to reduce overdose risk and prevent withdrawal.

For more harm reduction information in the context of COVID-19, call the Northern 
Health COVID-19 Virtual Clinic and Information Line at 1-844-645-7811 and visit the 
BCCDC.  

Media Contact: NH media line: 1-877-961-7724 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 108 of 113

https://lifeguarddh.com/
https://apps.apple.com/ca/app/lifeguard-app/id1359022089
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=com.dev.lifeguard
tel:1-844-645-7811
http://www.bccdc.ca/health-info/diseases-conditions/covid-19/priority-populations/people-who-use-substances
tel:1-877-961-7724


From: NCLGA Admin <admin@nclga.ca> 
Date: January 18, 2021 at 4:33:39 PM MST 
To: admin@nclga.ca 
Subject: NCLGA Letter Regarding Current NAV Canada Aeronautical Studies 

Dear Mayors, Board Chairs and CAOs of NCLGA Member Communities, 

As you may be aware, Nav Canada is currently conducting aeronautical studies, which involve reviewing 
air traffic service requirements at several regional airports, including airports in Prince George, Dawson 
Creek, Fort St. John, and Fort Nelson. Nav Canada expects to make a final decision regarding any 
possible service adjustments by March 2021. 

Due to the potential impact on our member communities, NCLGA emailed a letter to Nav Canada earlier 
today and copied several politicians on the correspondence. Please refer to the first attached letter. 

NCLGA invites members to submit similar letters to Nav Canada in support of fellow members. Please 
refer to the second attached document - NCLGA Member Letter Template NAV CAN. NCLGA encourages 
you to include these letters as correspondence in meeting packages for upcoming council and board 
meetings to potentially discuss submitting a letter to Nav Canada. 

If you have any questions about this information, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Kind Regards, 

Susan Chalmers 
Executive Coordinator 
North Central Local Government Association 
T: 250-564-6585 
E: admin@nclga.ca 
NCLGA Website | Facebook | Twitter 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 109 of 113

C6

mailto:admin@nclga.ca
mailto:admin@nclga.ca
mailto:admin@nclga.ca
http://www.nclga.ca/
https://www.facebook.com/northcentrallocalgovernmentassociation/
https://twitter.com/nclga?lang=en


206-155 George Street, Prince George, BC V2L 1P8
Phone: 250-564-6585, Email: admin@nclga.ca, Website: www.NCLGA.ca

January 18, 2021 

NAV CANADA   By Email 
P.O. Box 3411 Station T 
Ottawa, ON K1P 5L6 

Attn:  Heather McGonigal, Assistant Vice President, Stakeholder Relations and Communications 
Jonathan Bagg, Senior Manager, Stakeholder and Industry Relations 
Brian Stockall, Manager, Level of Service 
Tod Davidson, Manager, IFR Level of Service and Aeronautical Studies 

Dear Ms. McGonigal, Mr. Bagg, Mr. Stockall and Mr. Davidson: 

The North Central Local Government Association would like to express our shared concern and 
provide support to our members, including the City of Dawson Creek, City of Fort St. John, City of 
Prince George and Northern Rockies Regional Municipality, regarding the recent Aeronautical Study 
process at the: 

 Dawson Creek Regional Airport (YDQ),
 Northern Rockies Regional Airport (YYE),

 North Peace Regional Airport (YXJ), and
 Prince George Airport (YXS).

Any reductions in NAV Canada air traffic control services or workforce adjustments at some airports 
would negatively impact the safety, social, health, environmental and economic well-being of our 
member communities throughout the region.  

Established in 1955, the NCLGA is the advocacy body for local government elected officials in north- 
central British Columbia. As a non-partisan, non-profit association, the NCLGA aspires to provide a 
voice for communities whose voices are often left unheard because of their size or location. 

Thank you for your attention on this matter. Please do not hesitate to reach out for further discussion. 

Sincerely, 

Sarrah Storey 
President, NCLGA 

cc: The Honourable Omar Alghabra, M.P., Minister of Transport 
The Honourable John Horgan, M.L.A., Premier of British Columbia 
The Honourable Rob Fleming, M.L.A., Minister of Transportation and Infrastructure 
Mr. Bob Zimmer, M.P. 
Mr. Todd Doherty, M.P. 
Mr. Mike Morris, M.L.A. 
Ms. Shirley Bond, M.L.A. 
Mr. Dan Davies, M.L.A. 
Mr. Mike Bernier, M.L.A. 
Mr. Dale Bumstead, Mayor, City of Dawson Creek 
Mr. Gary Foster, Mayor, Northern Rockies Regional Municipality 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 110 of 113



206-155 George Street, Prince George, BC V2L 1P8
Phone: 250-564-6585, Email: admin@nclga.ca, Website: www.NCLGA.ca

Ms. Lori Ackerman, Mayor, City of Fort St. John 
Mr. Lyn Hall, Mayor, City of Prince George 
Mr. Art Kaehn, Chair, Regional District of Fraser-Fort George 
Mr. Brad Sperling, Chair, Peace River Regional District 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 111 of 113



January X, 2021 

NAV CANADA   By Email 
P.O. Box 3411 Station T 
Ottawa, ON K1P 5L6 

Attn:  Heather McGonigal, Assistant Vice President, Stakeholder Relations and Communications 
Jonathan Bagg, Senior Manager, Stakeholder and Industry Relations 
Brian Stockall, Manager, Level of Service 
Tod Davidson, Manager, IFR Level of Service and Aeronautical Studies 

Dear Ms. McGonigal, Mr. Bagg, Mr. Stockall and Mr. Davidson: 

The [Insert Member Name] would like to express our shared concern and provide support to our 
associated members, including the City of Dawson Creek, City of Fort St. John, City of Prince George 
and Northern Rockies Regional Municipality, regarding the recent Aeronautical Study process at the: 

 Dawson Creek Regional Airport (YDQ),
 Northern Rockies Regional Airport (YYE),

 North Peace Regional Airport (YXJ), and
 Prince George Airport (YXS).

Any reductions in NAV Canada air traffic control services or workforce adjustments at some airports 
would negatively impact the safety, social, health, environmental and economic well-being of 
member communities throughout the region.    

Thank you for your attention on this matter. Please do not hesitate to reach out for further discussion. 

Sincerely, 

[Insert Signature] 
[Insert Name] 
[Insert Title, Insert Member Name] 

cc: The Honourable Omar Alghabra, M.P., Minister of Transport 
The Honourable John Horgan, M.L.A., Premier of British Columbia 
The Honourable Rob Fleming, M.L.A., Minister of Transportation and Infrastructure 
Mr. Bob Zimmer, M.P. 
Mr. Todd Doherty, M.P. 
Mr. Mike Morris, M.L.A. 
Ms. Shirley Bond, M.L.A. 
Mr. Dan Davies, M.L.A. 
Mr. Mike Bernier, M.L.A. 
Ms. Sarrah Storey, President, North Central Local Government Association 
Mr. Dale Bumstead, Mayor, City of Dawson Creek 
Mr. Gary Foster, Mayor, Northern Rockies Regional Municipality 
Ms. Lori Ackerman, Mayor, City of Fort St. John 
Mr. Lyn Hall, Mayor, City of Prince George 
Mr. Art Kaehn, Chair, Regional District of Fraser-Fort George 
Mr. Brad Sperling, Chair, Peace River Regional District 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 112 of 113



C7



















Peace Energy Renewable Energy Cooperative
Box 2567, Dawson Creek, British Columbia, Canada V1G 5A1

Office: 1204-103rd Ave., Dawson Creek, BC  V1G 2G9
admin@peaceenergy.ca     www.peaceenergy.ca

ph: 250-782-3882

Pe a c e  E n e r g y  C o o p e r a t i v e  –  L o c a l  P e o p l e ,  L o c a l  R e s o u r c e s ,  L o c a l  B e n e f i t s

RATIONALE: 

Because PV power plants have all solid-state components with no moving parts, operation and main-
tenance costs are low. However, solar power systems are not 100% maintenance free; they require a 
planned regime of on-going monitoring, periodic inspection, scheduled preventive maintenance and 
occasional service calls. Without this consistent attention, PV array investments can be jeopardized 
and return on investment will not be maximized. 

 The following O&M plan will insure that your solar plant runs at peak efficiency over it’s 25-year-
plus lifetime, reducing the risk of early equipment failure and unscheduled downtime to maximize 
power output and money saved on electrical bills.

 Solar O&M costs do not comprise a capital expenditure because they are drawn from the mon-
ey already saved on District electrical bills by self-generating electrical energy with the solar arrays.

It is proposed that the PV O&M Agreement between Peace Energy Cooperative and the District of 
Hudson’s Hope will include the following services:

Item #1) POWER OUTPUT & ARRAY MONITORING

All of the Hudson’s Hope solar arrays (except the Museum) have built-in cloud-based power monitor-
ing for remote evaluation. During the highest energy production season (March through September) 
we will remotely check all nine solar arrays once every two weeks; in low energy production season 
(October through February) we will check once every two months.

Due to the Museum not now having cloud-based monitoring, we will install the necessary compo-
nents to enable it to be remotely monitored. We will absorb this cost into the first year of this O&M 
Agreement at no cost to the District.

This remote systems check will show the status of every solar panel in every array to insure all arrays are 
working as expected. Using this system, problems are quickly identified so that action can be taken in 
a timely manner to minimize power loss (and to maximize your savings).

We will review energy production from individual inverters, strings and PV modules for similar periods 
of time in the past to identify possible issues for further investigation.

PV Operation and Maintenance Agreement
District of Hudson’s Hope 

page 1



Peace Energy Renewable Energy Cooperative
Box 2567, Dawson Creek, British Columbia, Canada V1G 5A1

Office: 1204-103rd Ave., Dawson Creek, BC  V1G 2G9
admin@peaceenergy.ca     www.peaceenergy.ca

ph: 250-782-3882

Pe a c e  E n e r g y  C o o p e r a t i v e  –  L o c a l  P e o p l e ,  L o c a l  R e s o u r c e s ,  L o c a l  B e n e f i t s

PV Operation and Maintenance Agreement
District of Hudson’s Hope 

Continued...page 2

Item #2) YEARLY PHYSICAL REVIEW OF ALL SOLAR ARRAYS

Once per year a certified electrician will come on-site and physically inspect each of the nine arrays. 
Work performed while on-site will include:
 - check solar panels, (remove major debris, check for damage, re-align out of place or shifted   
  panels, spot check clamp torque)
 - check bolts and mounting brackets, wiring, grounding, SLD labels still in place
 - check cable insulation not cracked, worn or frayed, clamps and zip ties OK
 - check transition boxes tight and weather sealed, labels still in place
 - check inverters:  - cooling fan vents clear and free of dust
    - wire connections tight
    - current firmware installed and operational

Item #3) YEARLY REPORTING

At the end of each yearly grid-tie billing cycle a written report will be submitted to Hudson’s Hope 
Mayor, Council and administration detailing:

1) Electrical audit, including: power output compared to previous years and theoretical output. This 
will show the real, measured energy output of each array in kilowatt hours (kWh) and the total value of 
that energy in dollars. This number represents the money saved on District electrical bills, yearly and 
in total to date. 

2) Problems identified and dealt with this year: - what was the issue?
       - how was it identified?
       - how was it fixed?
       - what did it cost?

3) Conclusions and recommendations: an overview of system performance and recommendations 
for improvements, suggestions for preventive maintenance, etc.



Peace Energy Renewable Energy Cooperative
Box 2567, Dawson Creek, British Columbia, Canada V1G 5A1

Office: 1204-103rd Ave., Dawson Creek, BC  V1G 2G9
admin@peaceenergy.ca     www.peaceenergy.ca

ph: 250-782-3882

Pe a c e  E n e r g y  C o o p e r a t i v e  –  L o c a l  P e o p l e ,  L o c a l  R e s o u r c e s ,  L o c a l  B e n e f i t s

PV Operation and Maintenance Agreement
District of Hudson’s Hope 

Continued...page 3
COST:

a) PV Operation and Maintenance Agreement (includes all of the above Items #1-3): 
     
  $3,900 plus tax per year ($325 plus tax per month) 
        TERM of O & M Agreement: three years

b) Maintenance Services as required and pre-approved by District of Hudson’s Hope. Regular sys-
tem remote monitoring under this O&M Agreement (above Items #1-3) will from time to time reveal 
problems, such as a solar panel or group of solar panels under performing due to equipment failure, 
damage, loose connections, debris, etc.) 
 
Failed equipment will be replaced by the manufacturer under the following warranties (Warranty docu-
ments are included in the O&M Manuals supplied to your office as per our supply/install contract):
    
Hanwha solar panels: 12 year product warranty, 25 year power output guarantee (expires approx. 2042)  
Hansol and HES solar panels:  10 year product warranty, 25 year power output guarantee (expires ap-
prox. 2042)
SolarEdge Inverters: 12 years (expires approx. 2029)
SolarEdge Optimizers: 25 years (expires approx. 2042)

Our remote monitoring and yearly site inspection may from time to time reveal problems needing atten-
tion above and beyond this O&M agreement that will require our staff to visit the site and make repairs 
or replace equipment. PEC will order, replace, install any failed or damaged equipment and take care of 
the warranty process between the District and the manufacturer. We will perform identified and agreed 
upon services and maintenance of the solar power systems at the following contract service rates, billed 
monthly:
  
  Mileage (from Dawson Creek)  $1.00 per kilometer
  Certified Electrician:    $85.00 per hour
  Assistant (labourer if needed)  $60.00 per hour
  Office (ordering, research, etc)  $60.00 per hour
  Parts not under warranty:   Cost plus 30%
  Equipment rental (if needed):  Cost plus 20%
  Meals and misc. expenses   billed at cost with receipts
  LOA:      $160 per person / day

c) Consultation (when requested) regarding such things as: technology research, system expansion 
options, efficiency improvements, new funding and grant opportunities, etc. : $85.00 per hour



Peace Energy Renewable Energy Cooperative
Box 2567, Dawson Creek, British Columbia, Canada V1G 5A1

Office: 1204-103rd Ave., Dawson Creek, BC  V1G 2G9
admin@peaceenergy.ca     www.peaceenergy.ca

ph: 250-782-3882

PV Operation and Maintenance Agreement
District of Hudson’s Hope 

Continued...page 4

The District of Hudson’s Hope and Peace Energy Renewable Energy Cooperative (PEC) herein enter 
into a contractual agreement under which PEC will provide Operations and Maintenance services as 
detailed above pages 1 to 3. The term of this agreement will be for three years from the start date 
of July 1, 2020. Either party may terminate this agreement at any time with one month prior written 
notice. 

for the District of Hudson’s Hope:  

 (print and sign): ______________________________________ Date: ___________________
 
 (position or title): _____________________________________

for Peace Energy Renewable Energy Cooperative:

 (print and sign):     Donald Pettit             Date:  August 6, 2020
              
 
 (position or title):  Executive Director Peace Energy Renewable Energy Cooperative



Tuesday Jan.26, 2021
7:00 to 8:30 pm MST

in BC and Alberta

YOU MUST PRE-REGISTER
TO ATTEND!

Pre-register by 
visiting our website peaceenergy.ca 

or our Facebook page
or send an email to 

sales@peaceenergy.ca  or call/txt: 250-219-5607

•	 How	can	grid-tied	solar	save	$$	for	my	home	or	business?
•	 How	much	does	solar	power	cost?
•	 Do	I	have	a	good	solar	location?
•	 How	does	grid-tie	solar	work?
•	 What	is	Peace	Energy	Co-op?

•	 How	can	they	help	me	go	solar?

ALL YOUR SOLAR QUESTIONS ANSWERED!

Presented by Your Peace Country 
Solar Experts

Webinar (it’s free!)



THE DISTRICT OF HUDSON'S HOPE 

REPORT TO: Mayor and Council 

FROM: 

DATE: 

Jeanette McDougall, Corporate Officer 

January 25, 2021 

SUBJECT: NOTICE OF CLOSED SESSION 

RECOMMENDATION: 

"THA T Council move to a Closed Meeting for the purpose of discussing the following items: 

• Community Charter Section 97 (1) (b):

(b) all minutes of Council meetings, other than a meeting or part of a meeting that is
closed to the public

► Closed Meeting Minutes - January 11, 2021

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS: 

The Council may recess to a Closed Meeting to discuss whether the proposed agenda items 
properly belong in a Closed Meeting (Community Charter Section 90(1) (n). 

� ;� � o �A J- "'-.,.
¥ar,ette McDougall, 
Corporate Officer 

Council Meeting January 25, 2021 Page 113 of 113

ICS1


	17 - C6 - NCLGA - NAV Aeronautical Studies - Jan 25, 2021.pdf
	From: NCLGA Admin <admin@nclga.ca> Date: January 18, 2021 at 4:33:39 PM MST To: admin@nclga.ca Subject: NCLGA Letter Regarding Current NAV Canada Aeronautical Studies




